HIV and Cardiovascular Disease: The Unmeasured Risk

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the

degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Thomas David Fry Heseltine

March 2023

Declaration of authorship

I declare that this work is my own except where indicated by references. Work done in collaboration with, or assistance of others is specified and acknowledged. I conceived the studies and obtained all the necessary institutional, ethical, and regulatory approvals. I carried out data collection (in collaboration with Jean Matthew in chapters 6 and 7). All the statistical analyses within this work were conceived and implemented by myself. In chapter 3 the publication was prepared with the help of Sandra Ortega-Martorell and Ivan Olier who provided statistical oversight and input into the machine learning sensitivity analysis. They also provided statistical oversight for chapter 4 and chapter 5. The image analysis for chapter 4 was performed jointly by Elen Hughes and myself.

Acknowledgement

The completion of this thesis marks the conclusion of a long and significant journey. The origins of this work lie in the now defunct Royal Liverpool cardiology office, in which my interests in preventative cardiology and cardiovascular imaging were born. I am grateful for the guidance, humour and academic upbringing of my friend and colleague Dr Scott Murray. I am certain that without his influence this PhD would not be possible. I am also grateful to my primary supervisor Professor Saye Khoo. The opportunities, direction and support were integral to this thesis and has inspired me to make academic work part of my long-term career plans. I would also like to thank clinical staff at Liverpool University Hospital Trust, in particular Dr Jonathan Hasleton and Professor Michael Fisher. Without their steadfast support and guidance, it would have made completion of this work extremely difficult.

Finally, underpinning all the successes seen in this programme has been the support of my dear wife, Stella. Her encouragement, through the highs and lows, allowed this work to continue through the birth of our son, the COVID-19 pandemic and starting life as a consultant.

Conflict of interest statement

The initial HART CT study which was planned as part of this work was funded by an investigator sponsored research grant from Gilead Sciences (£475,000). Most of the funds were not realised due to the early termination of the study due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Published work associated with this thesis.

- <u>Heseltine TD</u>, Murray SW, Ruzsics B, Fisher M. Latest Advances in Cardiac CT. European Cardiology Review. 2020;15.
- <u>Heseltine TD</u>, Murray SW, Khoo S, Ruzsics B. Cardiovascular computed tomography and HIV: The evolving role of imaging biomarkers in enhanced risk prediction. Imaging. 2021;13(2):106–18.
- Murray SW, Mckelvey S, <u>Heseltine TD</u>, Henderson G, Singh J, Unwin D, Brady AJB. The "discordant doppelganger dilemma": SGLT2i mimics therapeutic carbohydrate restriction - food choice first over pharma?. Journal of Human Hypertension. 2021;35(8):649–56.
- Carter J, <u>Heseltine TD</u>, Meah MN, *et al*. Hepatosteatosis and Atherosclerotic Plaque at Coronary CT Angiography. Radiol Cardiothorac Imaging. 2022;4(2):e210260.
 Published 2022 Apr 28.
- Heseltine TD, Murray S, Ortega-Martorell S, Olier I, Lip GYH, Khoo S. Associations of Hepatosteatosis With Cardiovascular Disease in HIV-Positive and HIVnegativePatients: The Liverpool HIV–Heart Project. JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2021;87(5):1221–7.

- <u>Heseltine TD</u>, Hughes E, Mathew J, Murray S, Khoo S. The effect of changing to Bictegravir on lipids using real world data: A brief report. Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics. 2022;47(12):2182–7.
- Heseltine TD, Hughes E, Mattew J, et al. The association of epicardial adipose tissue volume and density with coronary calcium in HIV-positive and HIV-negative patients. J Infect. 2023;S0163-4453(23)00089-0.

Abstract

CVD is an emerging health economic emergency. Following the successful introduction of ART, PLWHIV have a close to normal life expectancy and are succumbing to traditional diseases of ageing. CVD is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in individuals established on ART and they have roughly double the risk of a CVD event compared to age and risk matched general population individuals.

Historically specific ART drugs were known to induce changes in body morphology, promote dyslipidaemia, insulin resistance and diabetes. However, modern preparations have a more nuanced impact on traditional risk factors but are known to impact on adipocyte function and energy metabolism. HIV and specific ART agents have also been implicated in development of fatty liver with a significantly higher prevalence of "lean NAFLD" seen in PLWHIV. In addition, traditional CVD risk calculators, and HIV-specific risk calculators, are known to be inaccurate in PLWHIV. This work sought to investigate the unmeasured risk seen in HIV. Specifically, this focused on measurement of ectopic fat, including HS and EAT volume, with incident CVD. We also investigated the effect of switching ART on lipid panels.

The data demonstrated that HS was independently associated with incident CVD in PLWHIV but not so in general population controls (OR: 3.13, p=0.005 versus OR: 1.08, p=0.60). These findings were backed up in a sensitivity analysis using Random Forest ML algorithms (age, male sex and HS were the top three variables of importance in the Gini index). In addition, EAT volume was lower in PLWHIV compared to general population people (68mm3 versus 118.3mm3, p<0.005). Again, after adjustment for traditional risk factors EAT volume was significantly associated with coronary calcification in PLWHIV but not in general population individuals (OR 1.14, p<0.005 versus OR 1.04, p=0.104).

When assessing changes in lipid profiles in real world settings TAF/FTC/BIC was found to have no significant effect on TC, TG or HDL (all p>0.05). However, when comparing the highest quartile for TC and TG and the lowest quartile for HDL we found significant

improvements in lipid profiles. Furthermore, in a wide-ranging assessment of switching ART in 329 individuals TC and TG were higher after 6 months (p<0.005 and p=0.031) whilst there was no significant differences in HDL (p=0.520). When investigating associations with these changes D/C/FTC/TAF was associated with the highest quartile of TC (OR2.85, p<0.005) whilst RPV/FTC/TDF was negatively associated with this (OR 0.09, p=0.021).

A risk calculator model was developed and compared against FRS. Using multiple variable selection techniques including an MFP model. The MFP model contained age, HS, male sex, and LDL. The MFP model demonstrated superior discriminatory ability during internal validation compared to the FRS model (AUC: 0.886 versus 0.712, p<0.001 Wilcoxon test).

These finding suggest that HS and EAT are associated with coronary artery disease in PLWHIV but not in general population groups. This hints at different mechanistic drivers of excess atherosclerotic risk seen in HIV disease, of which adipocyte and energy metabolism plays a key role.

Table of Contents

Declaration of authorship	2
Acknowledgement	2
Conflict of interest statement	3
Published work associated with this thesis	3
Abstract	5
List of abbreviations	13
Chapter 1: Introduction	17
1.1 AIDS pandemic	17
1.1.1 Advent of ART	
1.2 Cardiac disease and HIV	19
1.2.1 Epidemiology	20
1.2.2 Protease Inhibitors and CVD	21
1.2.3 NRTI	23
1.2.4 Abacavir Therapy	25
1.2.5 Integrase strand inhibitors	29
1.2.6 Risk calculators	
1.2.7 Current paradigm of CVD and ART	
1.3 Mechanisms of drug effects on CVD development	32
1.3.1 Protease Inhibitors	32
1.3.2 NRTI	
1.3.3 INSTI	35
1.4 HIV – Viral Related effects on adipocyte function	
1.5 The origin of insulin resistance: dysfunctional adipose tissue and fatty liver	

1.6 The role of Cardiovascular CT as an imaging biomarker	
1.6.1 Introduction	
1.6.2 Coronary Artery Calcium Score	
1.6.3 CTCA and functional assessment	
1.6.4 Plaque Quantification and Morphology	50
1.6.5 Cardiovascular CT in HIV	
1.6.6 Coronary Artery Calcium and HIV	
1.6.7 CTCA and HIV	55
1.7 The role of ectopic fat in CVD risk	
1.7.1 Hepatosteatosis	
1.7.2 Epicardial Adipose Tissue	
1.8 The rationale for this thesis	63
2. Chapter 2: Thesis overview	65
2.1 Aims and objectives	65
3. Chapter 3: Associations of Hepatosteatosis with cardiovascular disease in HIV	-positive and general
population Patients: The Liverpool HIV-Heart Project	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Methods	
3.2.1 Statistical Analysis	
3.3 Results	
3.3.1 Multivariate analysis	
3.3.2 Sensitivity analysis	
3.3 Discussion	
3.3.1 Limitations and strengths	74
3.4 Conclusion	

3.5 Tables and Figures	77
3.5.1 Table 1: Summary statistics of the cohort and stratified by HIV serostatus.	77
3.5.2 Table 2: Multivariate analysis in HIV-positive patients for the association of coronary calcification	78
3.5.3 Table 3: Multivariate Analysis in HIV Negative Patients for the association of coronary calcification	n
	79
3.5.4 Figure 1: Comparison of HIV-positive and general population models including and excluding HS.	80
3.5.5 Figure 2: Random Forest analysis of the variables of importance in HIV-positive and general	
population patients	82
3.5.6 Supplementary Figure 1: Receiver operator characteristic curves demonstrating the predictive	
ability of regression and random forest models in HIV-positive and general population groups	84
3.5.7 Supplementary Figure 2: Box plots to show the performance of models in HIV-positive and genera	al
population groups	86
4. Chapter 4: The Association of epicardial adipose tissue volume and density with coronary calcium in HIV	1-
positive and general population patients	87
	0,
4.1 Introduction	87
4.2 Methods	88
4.2.1 Statistical Analysis	90
4.2.2 Sensitivity Analysis	91
4.3 Results	92
4.3.1 EAT volume and Coronary Calcification	92
4.3.2 EAT volume and clinical covariates	92
4.3.3 EAT Density	93
4.3.4 Sensitivity Analysis	94
4.4 Discussion	94
4.4.1 Limitations and strengths	97
4.F. Conclusions	00
4.5 CUILIUSIONS	98
4.6 Tables and Figures	99

	4.6.1 Table 1: Patient characteristics stratified by HIV-serostatus.	99
	4.6.2 Table 2: Univariate and multivariate predictors of coronary calcification	100
	4.6.3 Figure 1: An example of QFAT quantification of epicardial adipose tissue volume and density.	102
	4.6.4 Figure 2: Logit odds of coronary calcification and continuous covariates	104
	4.6.5 Figure 3: The association of EAT density with coronary calcification in HIV-positive and Gener	al
	population groups	107
	4.6.6 Supplementary Figure 1: Correlation between EAT volume and EAT density in HIV positive an	d HIV
	negative groups	109
	4.6.7 Supplementary figure 2: Distribution of Propensity Scores	111
	4.6.8 Supplementary figure 3: Balance of Covariate in Propensity Score Matching	112
	4.6.9 Supplementary Table 1: Multiple linear regression for the association of clinical covariates an	d EAT
	volume	113
	4.6.10 Supplementary Table 2: Univariate and multivariate predictors of EAT volume	115
	4.6.11 Supplementary Table 3: HIV-specific covariates	116
Chap	oter 5: Development of a calcium risk prediction tool in people living with HIV: The Liverpool HIV-	Heart
Proj	ect	117
5.	.1 Introduction	117
5.	.2 Methods	118
	5.2.1 Statistical Analysis	119
	5.2.2 Multivariate Modelling	120
	5.2.3 Model Selection	120
	5.2.4 Internal Validation	120
	5.2.5 Sample Size	121
5	3 Results	171
5.	5.3.1 Model Development: Discrimination and Calibration	101
		122
	J.J.Z IIILEIIIdI Vallualion	122
5.	.4 Discussion	122

5.4.1 Limitations and Strengths	124
5.5 Conclusions	125
5.6 Tables and Figures	126
5.6.1 Table 1: Summary statistics of the cohort stratified by coronary artery calcification	126
5.6.2 Table 2: Comparison of accuracy statistics in training dataset	127
5.6.3 Table 3: Intercept, coefficients, and significance of the variables in the MFP model	127
5.6.4 Figure 1: Comparison of the receiver operator characteristics curves for the development mode	els
	128
5.6.5 Figure 2: Comparison of the receiver operator characteristic curves for the final model and FRS	
model	129
5.6.6 Figure 3: Calibration plot of the final model and FRS model	130
Chapter 6: Changes in lipid profiles after switching to TAF/FTC/BIC	131
6.1 Introduction	131
6.2 Methods	132
6.2.1 Statistical Analysis	132
6.3 Results	133
6.4 Discussion	134
6.5 Conclusion	137
6.6 Tables and Figures	138
6.6.1 Table 1: Description of baseline demographics and clinical covariates in patients switched to	
TAF/FTC/BIC	138
6.6.2 Table 2: Comparison of mean lipid profiles pre and post antiretroviral therapy change	139
6.6.3 Table 3: Regression coefficients and statistical significance of the multiple regression models	
assessing associations with change in lipid markers.	139
6.6.4 Figure 1: ANCOVA for quartiles of baseline lipid parameter	140
7 The effect of switching antiretroviral therapy on lipid profiles in a real-world setting	141

7.1 Introduction	141
7.2 Methods	142
7.2.1 Study Outcomes	142
7.2.2 Statistical Analysis	143
7.3 Results	143
7.4 Discussion	145
7.5 Conclusions	148
7.6 Figures and Tables	149
7.6.1 Table 1: Demographic and clinical covariates for the whole cohort	149
7.6.2 Table 2: Clinical variable stratified by ART regime	150
7.6.3 Table 3: Mean lipid change for the whole cohort	151
7.6.4 Table 4: Mean lipid panel change stratified by ART regime	152
7.6.5 Table 5: Logistic Regression models for the highest quartile of lipid change	153
7.6.6 Figure 1: Lipid change per ART clustered by baseline preparation of tenofovir	154
7.6.7 Figure 2: Variable of importance plots for each constituent of the lipid panel	157
8. General Discussion	159
9. References	162

List of abbreviations

- 3TC Lamivudine
- ACS Acute coronary syndrome
- ACTG AIDS clinical trial group
- AHA American Heart Association
- AIC Akaike information criterion
- AIDS Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
- ANCOVA Analysis of covariance
- ANOVA Analysis of variance
- ART Antiretroviral therapy
- ARV Antiretroviral
- ASCVD Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease
- AT Adipose tissue
- ATZ Atazanavir
- AZT Zidovudine
- AUC Area under the curve
- BHIVA British HIV Association
- BIC Bictegravir
- BMI Body mass index
- BSCI British Society of Cardiovascular Imaging
- CAC Coronary artery calcium
- CACS Coronary artery calcium score
- CAD Coronary artery disease
- ChREBP Carbohydrate response element binding protein
- CI Confidence interval
- CKD Chronic kidney disease
- CT Computed tomography
- CTCA Computed tomography coronary angiography
- CVD Cardiovascular disease
- D4T Stavudine

- D:A:D Data Collection on Adverse Events of Anti-HIV Drugs
- DEXA Dual X-ray absobtiometry
- DMII Diabetes mellitus II
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid
- DNL de novo lipogenesis
- DRV Darunavir
- DTG Dolutegravir
- EAT Epicardial adipose tissue
- EFV Efavirenz
- ETG Elvitegravir
- FDA Food and Drug Administration
- FFR Fractional flow reserve
- FFRCT Fractional flow reserve computed tomography
- FRS Framingham risk score
- FTC Emtricitabine
- GLP-1 Glucagon-like peptide
- GLUT Glucose transporter
- HAART Highly active antiretroviral therapy
- HDL High density lipoprotein
- HFrEF Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction
- HIV Human immunodeficiency syndrome
- HS Hepatosteatosis
- HSCRP High sensitivity C-reactive protein
- HTN Hypertension
- HU Hounsfield unit
- ICD Implantable cardiac defibrillator
- IDL Intermediate-dense lipoprotein
- IDV Indanavir
- IL6 Interleukin-6
- INSTI Integrase strand inhibitor
- IR Insulin resistance

- IVUS Intravascular ultrasound
- LPV Lopinavir
- LXR Liver X-receptor
- MACE Major adverse cardiac event
- MACS Multicentre AIDS Cohort Study
- MAFLD Metabolic associated fatty liver disease
- MESA Multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis
- MFP Multivariate fractional polynomial
- MI Myocardial infarction
- ML Machine learning
- MRI Magnetic resonance imaging
- NAFLD Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
- NASH Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis
- NEF Negative-regulating factor
- NEFA Non-esterified fatty acid
- NHS National Health Service
- NICE National institute for clinical excellence
- NNRTI Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
- NPV Negative predictive value
- NRI Net reclassification index
- NRTI Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
- OCT Optical coherence tomography
- PI Protease inhibitor
- PLWHIV People living with HIV
- PPAR Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors
- PPV Positive predictive value
- PVAT Perivascular adipose tissue
- RAL Raltegravir
- RLP Rilpivirine
- ROC Receiver operator curve
- ROI Region of interest

- RR Relative risk
- RTG Raltegravir
- RTV Ritonovir
- SAT Subcutaneous adipose tissue
- SGLT-2 Sodium-glucose transporter
- SIS Segmental involvement score
- SIV Simian immunodeficiency virus
- SPECT Single photo emission computed tomography
- SREBP Sterol receptor binding product
- SSS Segmental stenosis score
- TAF Tenofovir alafenamide
- TAG Triacyclglycerol
- TAT Trans-activator of transcription
- TC Total cholesterol
- TCFA Thin-capped fibroatheroma
- TNF Tumour necrosis factor
- USA United States of America
- VACS Veterans Aging Cohort Study
- VAT Visceral adipose tissue
- VLDL Very-low density lipoprotein
- VPR Viral protein-R
- VP Vulnerable plaque
- WAT White adipose tissue

Chapter 1: Introduction

The aim of this introduction is to explore the increased risk of CVD seen in HIV-positive individuals. It focuses on the timeline of the AIDS-pandemic with reference to increasing observations of adverse CVD outcomes through pre and early-generation ART. The introduction will analyse the performance of risk prediction tools in HIV-positive individuals before reviewing the paradigm of adipocyte dysfunction, visceral adiposity, and insulin resistance. It will review contemporary ART and its associations with CVD. It also focuses on the use of imaging modalities, particularly cardiovascular CT, assessing imaging biomarkers as surrogates of CVD risk. The overall objective is to appraise the current literature whilst highlighting the gaps in knowledge that this work aims to fill.

1.1 AIDS pandemic

The onset of HIV in human populations is thought to have begun in the 1920's in Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of Congo. The oldest evidence of human involvement in the HIV/AIDS pandemic is from a blood sample obtained from West Africa in 1959 (1). The origins of the virus have been traced back to two different subspecies of Chimpanzee in equatorial West Africa (2). Most HIV infection relates to HIV-1 infection which is genetically distinct from HIV-2. Both viruses can cause AIDS: the HIV-1 virus is responsible for the worldwide infection whilst HIV-2 is limited to West Africa. HIV-2 is gradually being replaced by HIV-1 as the dominant strain.

The overall annual incidence of HIV peaked in 1999 (3.16 million) and has subsequently decreased (1.94 million) but has contributed to an increased prevalence of the disease (36. 8 million). HIV is the underlying cause of death for >1 million people a year with the greatest concentration in Sub-Saharan Africa. The UK had an annualised rate of change for new infections of 1.1% between 2007 and 2017 with reduction of 3.9% in death rate (3). In cohort data collected by Public Health England, CVD and stroke accounted for most of the non-AIDS related death alongside non-HIV associated malignancy (4).

Traditional diseases of aging, including CVD and stroke, are becoming increasingly important sources of morbidity and mortality as access to ART improves. CVD will represent a significant health economic burden as patients with HIV disease age. Finding mechanisms to reduce the impact of this burden are therefore paramount. Strategies to improve prediction, evaluate the mechanisms and potentially offer novel therapeutic targets for CVD are highly desirable.

1.1.1 Advent of ART

Zidovudine was the first antiretroviral developed to treat HIV / AIDS. It is an NRTI and works by competitively inhibiting HIV-1 DNA polymerase, thus reducing HIV replication (5). Zidovudine was approved for treatment of HIV-1 in 1987. The pre-ARV era (1986-1996) had a 10-year survival of 50% and rate of AIDS-defining illness 30.7/100 patient years (6). By the end of the 1990's the risk of death reduced by 64% and the rate of AIDS-defining illness reduced to 2.5/100 patient years (7).

Although the introduction of zidovudine was a significant success, there was an emergence of drug resistance. Much in the same way as cancer treatments, there was an early understanding that multi-drug combinations would be required to treat HIV. Further developments led to new classes of ART including saquinavir (first PI) in 1995 and nevirapine (NNRTI) in 1996. The first combination ART – 3TC/AZT was approved by the FDA in 1997 (5). These early preparations laid the groundwork for sequential generation of ART agents through to the modern era. This has had a transformative effect on HIV life expectancy.



Figure 1: Timeline of milestones and introduction of ART (8).

1.2 Cardiac disease and HIV

In the pre-ART era cardiac involvement in HIV disease was increasingly recognised. Cardiac manifestations of AIDS included myocarditis, dilated cardiomyopathy, pericardial disease, and endocarditis (9). The association of coronary artery disease and AIDS was not established although early autopsy results demonstrated significant atherosclerotic disease in patients with no overt CVD risk factors (10–12). In addition, an autopsy series of six HIV-infected children demonstrated evidence of coronary artery disease (13).

During the early stages of the AIDS-pandemic the interplay between HIV and the endothelium with a resulting pro-thrombotic environment was thought to be causative. It was increasingly recognised that HIV-infected patients were prone to dyslipidaemia. Hypertriglyceridemia with reduced HDL and small-dense LDL was typically recognised in patients with AIDS (14). As early generation ART was introduced concerns emerged regarding cardiovascular risk due to increasingly adverse lipid profiles. In addition, body composition changes including lipodystrophy and peripheral lipoatrophy were increasingly common and was usually associated with the incidence of DMII and adverse lipid profiles. HIV-positive individuals have an increased risk of development of DMII with a pooled incidence rate of 19/1000 patient years in the United States and 8/1000 patient years in Europeans (15). The effects of HIV and ART on CVD risk have changed over time. The heavy inflammationdriven atherosclerosis seen in pre-ART era's is increasingly rare. Similarly, the overt dyslipidaemia and DMII associated with early generation ART has diminished over time as modern preparations of ART have less of an impact on these traditional CVD risk factors. Despite advances in ART, the modern preparations have challenges related to specific CVD risk factors which will be explored extensively later. Given the success of ART, PLWHIV are now living longer and succumbing to traditional diseases of ageing. CVD is currently a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in PLWHIV and increasing burden on healthcare systems. One model has suggested that the median age of PLWHIV will increase from 43.9 years in 2010 to 56.6 years in 2030 with 78% being diagnosed with CVD (16).

1.2.1 Epidemiology

The overall relative risk of CVD in HIV-positive patients, independent of traditional risk factors, based on data from >790,000 participants in a recent meta-analysis, is 2.6 (95% CI, 1.68-2.77) (17). This has also been confirmed in other cohort studies (18,19). There are also sex-specific and regional differences in the prevalence of CVD. In a registry study from the US, HIV-positive women had a higher relative risk of acute myocardial infarction (compared to general population individuals) than men (RR 2.98, p<0.0001 versus 1.40, p=0.0003) (20). In a French nested cohort study HIV-positive women had nearly double the standardized morbidity ratio for events than men. The majority of this was seen in women under the age of 45 (21). Using the same cohort women were also found to present with an event at a younger age compared to general populations (-6.2 years, p<0.01, men: -2.1 years, p=0.02) (22). These findings have been replicated from cohorts in Italy (23). Analysis of the US-based VACS cohort found that HIV-positive women had an increased hazard ratio for a CVD event compared to general population women (HR: 2.8, 95% CI 1.7-4.6, p<0.001) (24).

CVD is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in Western nations however, data from poorer countries including Sub-Saharan Africa is lacking (25). In their large systematic review and meta-analysis, Shah *et al* demonstrated that poorer regions, Sub-Saharan Africa, and

Asia-Pacific, had the highest disability-adjusted life years lost to CVD from HIV. The highest impacted nations were Swaziland, Botswana and Lesotho (17).

1.2.2 Protease Inhibitors and CVD

The introduction of PI therapy had dramatic impacts on life expectancy in patients with HIV disease (26,27). However, PI therapy was increasingly recognised to be associated with increased incidence of dyslipidaemia, insulin resistance and lipodystrophy (28). The clinical syndrome of lipodystrophy relates to peripheral fat wasting with central fat accumulation. This may or may not be accompanied by a change in body weight. In their early cohort study, Carr *et al* initially demonstrated that 83% experienced lipodystrophy, 74% developed dyslipidaemia and 16% developed impaired glucose tolerance in those prescribed PI therapy (29). The United States Food and Drug Agency issued an advisory statement in 1997 relating to emerging diabetes and raised blood sugars the four approved PIs at the time: saquinavir, indinavir, ritonavir and nelfinavir (30).

Modern preparations of PI are thought to not have such a dramatic effect on fat redistribution. A systematic review assessing 27 studies concluded that PIs may have an ameliorating effect on subcutaneous lipoatrophy (31). In addition, there was no difference in central and peripheral fat depots, as assessed by computed tomography, between PI therapy (boosted ATZ and boosted DRV) versus raltegravir (32).

Early concerns regarding these metabolic concerns prompted the development of D:A:D group in 1999. This prospective observational study initially followed >23,000 patients for 36,199 patient years for risk factors and the incidence of MI. In 2003 they published their initial findings demonstrating that cumulative use of ART was independently associated with MI (adjusted relative rate 1.26 per year of exposure, p<0.001). In addition, higher TC, TG level and presence of diabetes were associated with increased risk of MI (33).

Further data from the D:A:D group demonstrated odds ratios of 3.26 (p=0.0001) and 5.87 (p=0.0001) for single and double PI use for high TG (>2.3mmol/L) compared to ART-naïve individuals. NNRTIs were also associated with increased TC and LDL-cholesterol compared to ART-naïve patients (34). A systematic review, including three observation studies with >20000 participants, demonstrated an association of early generation PI use with myocardial infarction (35).

There were several early trials in the 2000's demonstrating an association of PI and myocardial infarction (36,37). The D:A:D consortium published further data in 2007 showing the unadjusted risk of MI for PI therapy of 6.01 / 1000 patient years compared to 1.53 / 1000 patient years in the non-PI group. This increased risk was somewhat attenuated after adjusting for traditional risk factors (1.16 versus 1.05 events / 1000 patient year) and lipids (1.10 versus 1.00 events / 1000 patient years) (38). The incidence of dyslipidaemia with first generation PIs has been shown to range from 24% to 75% (39–41). Cohort studies performed early after the advent of first generation PIs demonstrated an up to 30% increase in TC and up to 80% increase in TG (42).

Initial investigations demonstrated RTV, both in combination and isolation, was specifically associated with increased rates of total cholesterol and triglyceride (43). This risk with ritonavir was also demonstrated in the 2010 publication of D:A:D data on specific antiretroviral preparation. Cumulative exposure to LPV-RTV and IDV (along with didanosine and ABC) were significantly associated with increased risk of myocardial infarction (1.12 /1000 patient years and 1.09/1000 patient years) (44). There was no increased risk from other preparations studied including tenofovir, d4T, AZT and zalcitabine.

Modern preparations of PI, DRV/ritonavir and ATZ/ritonavir, were analysed in a 2018 assessment of the D:A:D data. DRV/ritonavir was found to be associated with an increased risk of CVD whilst ATZ/ritonavir was not. Furthermore, in those at high CVD risk (>10% over 5 years) DRV/ritonavir increased the risk of acute myocardial infarction by 60% over a 5-year period. This effect was independent of changes in lipids suggesting alternate causative pathways (45). However, other published registry data has shown no association with DRV/ritonavir or ATZ/ritonavir and myocardial infarction (46). In a further analysis of the D:A:D data using Poisson regression analysis, ATZ was found not to be associated with myocardial infarction (47). In the SCOLTA study switching away from boosted PI therapy resulted in improvements in lipid profile (48).

In summary, modern PI therapy has a minimal effect on weight alteration and insulin resistance. Although modern preparations have a beneficial effect on lipid profiles compared to older generations swapping away from boosted PIs improves lipid profiles. Despite this there seems to be a trend towards CVD risk in some modern preparations of PI which is independent of lipid profiles. However, this data is discrepant. Further work is needed to understand possible mechanistic drivers of any potential increased CVD risk seen in PI based regimes.

1.2.3 NRTI

NRTI therapy is considered backbone therapy in many ART regimes and therefore teasing out specific associations with risk of MI is difficult. Despite this, ABC was initially shown to be associated with MI by D:A:D investigators and data relating to ABC is considered separately (49). Despite this difficulty, different preparations of NRTI have been demonstrated to have significant impacts on CVD risk factors in PLWHIV.

AZT was the first class of NRTI and, as described in chapter 1.2.1, had profound impacts on outcomes for PLWHIV. TDF was introduced in and approved by the FDA in 2001 and remains a significant contributor to ART backbone therapy. A further preparation of tenofovir, TAF, was later introduced in 2015 with improved activity against HIV (50,51). Furthermore, there are significant differences in side effect profiles of both drugs.

In a 15-year follow up of the D:A:D study it was demonstrated that TDF/FTC and TDF/3TC had a favourable effect on TG compared to ABC/3TC and 3TC/d4T. In general there was a longitudinal improvement in lipid profiles in those taking ART (52). TAF is lipid neutral (53) whilst TDF has lipid suppressive effects (54). In a study investigating body changes in those switching from TDF to TAF it was shown that TAF was associated with increased weight gain and CVD risk scores (55,56). TAF was also associated with increased rates of DMII compared to TDF in the EMERALD study (57). Despite the slight worsening of lipid parameters when switch to TAF-coformulations, compared to TDF-coformulations, there was no significant increase in CVD risk (58). In the OPERA cohort, patients switching to TAF from TDF demonstrated significant increases in LDL and TG over the first 9-16 months. These changes could not be attributed to changes in third agents (59).

TAF has been demonstrated to be associated with weight gain compared to ABC and TDF (60,61). In the same pooled analysis DTG and BIC were associated with more weight gain than EVG/cobicistat and RPV was associated with more weight gain than efavirenz. Despite the weight gain there were no clinically significant changes in markers of metabolic syndrome although there was limited follow up for this (60). In a national Spanish cohort study investigating changes in weight, lipids, and clinical events in those switching from TDF to TAF, it was demonstrated that TAF was associated with modest weight gain and increased total cholesterol. There were no significant differences in diabetes, hypertension, NAFLD or lipid lowering drug prescriptions (62).

In the COCOMO study, visceral adipose tissue volumes and subcutaneous adipose tissue volumes were assessed using abdominal CT. Previous exposure to the thymidine analogues were associated with increased visceral adipose tissue, hypertension, hypercholesterolaemia and raised LDL-cholesterol. This effect continued even years after termination of treatment (63). Increased insulin resistance has also been reported in those with prior exposure to thymidine analogues (64). These findings hint at a sustained impact of these agents on normal adipose tissue regulation and increased atherosclerotic risk. In their follow up study Gelpi *et al* also demonstrated low adipose tissue density and impaired

adiponectin production was again associated with thymidine analogous in 848 patients from the COCOMO study (65).

Although abacavir has been linked with myocardial infarction there has been no evidence linking other NRTI agents to increased CVD risk (49). This is despite the body of evidence suggesting differing effects on weight gain and lipid profiles between agents.

1.2.4 Abacavir Therapy

In 2008 the D:A:D study group updated published data on their increasing cohort and patient years (33,347 patients and 157,912 person-years). The purpose of this study was to analyse the effect of individual drugs in the era of increasing availability of different ART preparations. This revealed the unexpected finding that ABC therapy was independently associated with increased risk of MI (RR 1.9, 95% CI 1.47-2.45 [p=0.001]). This effect was reversed after patients had not taken ABC for 6 months. There was no association with MI with d4T or zidovudine (49).

This association was unexpected as ABC was not known at the time to have any significant metabolic effect and had not previously been implicated as a contributor to CVD. More so, it was exposure within the preceding 6 months rather than cumulative exposure that had a significant association with myocardial infarction.

This initial finding sparked a wave of publications from cohorts across the world. Within a few months of the initial D:A:D finding the SMART/INSIGHT group published an investigation from their ongoing study. The primary endpoint of the SMART study was to investigate the rate of death / development of opportunistic disease between a drug conservation strategy versus a viral suppression strategy (66). They found that current use of ABC was associated with a HR for myocardial infarction of 4.3 (95% CI: 1.4-13) (67). Further insights from these studies demonstrated CD4 guided treatment interruption resulting in an increase in MI and single IL-6 or HS-CRP measurement was a far better predictor of cardiac events than

traditional risk scores (68,69). This underscored definitively the inflammatory basis for cardiac disease in HIV.

Initial criticism of these two trials centred around the fact that the unexpected result may, in part, be due to channelling or prescription bias. The patients taking ABC tended to have worse CVD risk profiles, previous adherence problems and in patients with chronic kidney disease. These factors may favour the trend towards clinically relevant CVD in patients taking ABC. In addition, there was no clear biological explanation for this effect.

In 2009 Brothers *et al* published data from GlaxoSmithKline-sponsored clinical trials involving ABC including 9502 patients who had received ABC (70). They found no association between ABC and the risk of MI (RR 0.81, CI: 0.38 to 1.75). Some of the potential reasons why the results from this study contradict the D:A:D and SMART findings are that the follow up in these randomised control trials was short. The follow up period tended to be 24 to 48 weeks. In addition, the characteristic of a patient recruited to these studies tends to have less CVD risk as they are clinically stable with fewer co-morbidities.

The Brothers *et al* pooled analysis was the first in a series of investigations that seemed to contradict the initial findings in both the D:A:D and SMART analyses (70). Obel *et al* published results from a Danish cohort in the HAART era (1995-2005). After adjusting for confounders they found the incidence rate ratio of MI, with ABC therapy, to be 2 (95% CI: 1.07-3.76) (71). In contrast to the D:A:D data this analysis showed that the increased risk of MI persisted beyond 6 months. The authors conclude that this effect may represent remaining confounding within their analysis. However, after initiating propensity scoring, they found no single factor associated with increased risk of MI. Also, the risk of MI was also increased in patients who initiated ABC within 2 years of commencing HAART.

Lang *et al* performed a case-control study nested within a French registry. Their initial analysis revealed recent ABC initiation was associated with increased risk of MI (OR 2.01;

95% CI: 1.11-3.64), however, this association disappeared when adjusted for cocaine and intravenous drug abuse (OR 1.27, p>0.05). They conclude that the differences seen in their study could be attributed to the fact that D:A:D and SMART did not adjust for cocaine and intravenous drug use, their study included lower numbers of patients who had received previous ART (24%) thus reducing selection bias and their study did not include recurrent MI unlike D:A:D and SMART (72). Similar results were obtained from a registry study by Triant *et al.* They demonstrated that CD4 count <200/mm³ was predictive of MI (OR 1.74; 95% CI: 1.07-2.81 p=0.02). In addition, hypertension and being non-white were predictive of MI whilst no individual ART reached significance (73). Similarly, Ribaudo *et al* showed ABC had no significant association with MI but rather traditional CVD risk factors were the biggest contributor (74).

In contrast to these publications in 2011 Durand *et al* performed a nested case-control study analysing the associations of different components of ART. MI was identified in 125 cases and were matched to 1084 HIV-positive controls without MI. Any exposure to ABC was significantly associated with MI (OR 1.79; 95% CI: 1.16 to 2.76, p=0.02) along with EFV (OR 1.83; 95% CI: 1.21to 2.76, p=0.004), LPV (OR 1.98; 95% CI:1.24 to 3.16, p=0.004) and RTV (OR 2.29; 95% CI: 1.48 to 3.54, p=<0.001) (75). This study addressed concerns regarding channelling bias of ABC in patients with higher CVD due to renal failure as TDF was largely unavailable in Quebec (study location) at the time.

Between 2011 and 2016 there were several cohort studies that demonstrated a significant association with recent or cumulative exposure to ABC with myocardial infarction (75–81). During the same period there were also cohort studies showing no association (74,82). Interestingly, three of these analyses were done on the same cohort with differing results. Choi *et al* (76) and Desai *et al* (78) both found positive associations with recent ABC exposure whilst Bedimo *et al* found no association with cumulative or current ABC use with MI. There are several important differences in how these studies were conducted. Firstly, the statistical model used differed between the studies. Both Bedimo *et al* and Choi *et al* used extended cox models whilst Desai *et al* incorporated both extended cox models and

marginal structural models. The rationale of using marginal structural models over extended cox models was to reduce selection bias. Secondly, the comparison group differed amongst the studies. Bedimo *et al* reported 1-year ABC exposure relative to no ART exposure whilst Choi *et al* reported recent ABC relative to no ABC or TDF. Desasi *et al* reported on the combination of ART and their risk of MI as well as individual components.

In 2016 the follow up to the original D:A:D was published (83). Current ABC use was associated with MI with a RR of 1.98 (95% CI: 1.72 to 2.29). There was no difference in the pre, and post March 2008 risk associated with ABC. This analysis was included to address concerns around channelling bias regarding the renal associated CVD risk. There was a reduction in ABC prescriptions following the publication of the original D:A:D data in 2008 which fell from around 20% of the total cohort pre 2008 to 18-19%. There was a greater reduction in ABC prescriptions in higher CVD risk from approximately 29% pre D:A:D 2008 to just above 20% in 2012. This reduction in ABC prescriptions was also confirmed in a separate analysis (84). The authors conclude that this demonstrates that the excess risk seen in ABC is not a consequence of channelling bias of ABC towards patients with a higher CVD risk (83). Similarly, in an analysis of the NA-ACCORD registry in the US and Canada the inclusion of FRS to the marginal structural model did not modify the risk associated with ABC (p=0.14) (85). After adjustment for FRS in the marginal structural model the HR for type 1 MI and type 2 MI and recent ABC use remained at 1.88 (95% CI: 1.20-2.95) (85).

There have been several meta analyses since 2010 which both agree with MI risk from ABC (86,87) and disagree (74,88,89). The latest meta-analysis by Dorjee *et al* shows that the summary RR for MI and recent ABC is significant with a summary RR of 1.61 (95% CI: 1.48-1.75). This increases to a summary RR of 1.91 (95% CI: 1.48-2.46) in ART naïve patients although far few patients were included in this analysis.

The weight of evidence suggests that ABC is associated with CVD risk and work is ongoing to understand possible mechanisms. This is also reflected in modern guidelines which advise avoidance of ABC in high CVD risk groups (90).

1.2.5 Integrase strand inhibitors

INSTI are modern preparation of ART that have proven efficacy in HIV disease (91). There have been increasing concerns regarding metabolic dysfunction and weight gain in those taking INSTI-containing regimes. INSTI are often combined with TAF back-bone therapy and have been shown to cause exaggerated weight gain (92–96). The ADVANCE trial investigating the effect TAF/DTG versus TDF/EFV on weight gain demonstrated mean increases of 6.4kg and 1.7kg respectively. There was also an increase of 3.2kg in the TDF/DTG group (97). There is also emerging evidence regarding increased CVD risk from metabolic syndrome (98).

There have been sex-specific differences in weight gain reported with INSTI although this is not ubiquitous. In the ADVANCE study, women had greater weight gain in the TAF/DTG group compared to the TDF/DTG group, a difference which was not seen in men (97). There were also differences in the NAMSAL study where women had greater weight gain with dolutegravir based regime compared to efavirenz. Again, an effect which was not seen in men (99).

In the ADVANCE study, TAF/DTG had significantly higher increases in QRISK scores and development of DMII compared with TDF/DTG and TDF/EFV (98). There was also greater development of metabolic syndrome in the TAF/DTG group. INTSI have also been shown to be associated with increased HBA1c (100). A recent meta-analysis and systematic review found that DTG-based and TAF-based backbone therapies led to higher weight gains than other ART (101). Again, the NAMSAL study reported a significantly increase in glucose levels in those who reported >10% weight gain (102).

The effect of INSTI on lipids was assessed in a publication of the NA-ACCORD cohort study. They demonstrated that dyslipidaemia was less common with INTSI compared to boosted PIs. Amongst the INSTI group, dyslipidaemia was more common with ETG and RAL compared to DTG (102). Further studies have shown the INSTI has a mostly neutral effect on lipid (103–105). Switching to dolutegravir combined with ABC/3TC has been shown to improve lipids when switching from boosted-PI or NNRTI therapy (106). Specifically, there was a mean reduction in total cholesterol and triglyceride to HDL ratios. A recent study exploring the effect of INSTI on lipid profiles, in both treatment naïve and switching, found that INSTI to have favourable lipid profiles compared to PI and EFV. In treatment naïve individuals RTG and DTG were favourable compared to PI and NNRTI whilst ETG was similar to boosted ATZ In the switching studies (away from boosted PI or EFV) RTG, DTG and BIC were all superior whilst ETG was similar (107). Similar results were found in the RESPOND prospective cohort (>4500 participants). However, the RESPOND paper reports that compared with dolutegravir both ETG and RTG were both associated with higher rates of dyslipidaemia (102).

In a retrospective analysis switching analysis, there were significant increases in TC in the ETG/TAF and RLP/TAF group compared to DTG/ABC groups (108). In further switching studies RTG and ETG based regimes have been shown to have superior lipid profiles compared to boosted PIs (109–111).

In the NA-ACCORD cohort an initial therapy with INSTI or PI versus NNRTI resulted in greater risk of development of diabetes which is mediated through weight gain (112). Further to this, in a study analysing >42,000 cases, INSTI therapy was associated with new onset diabetes in the first 6 months after starting treatment. INSTI therapy was associated with a 31% increased risk compared to non-INSTI regimes with the highest risk attributable to ETG and lowest risk RTG. However, in a retrospective French registry including >19,000 patients INSTI (and other third line agents) was not associated with DMII development. In the multivariate analysis the age >46 and BMI>30 were the only variables associated with development of type II diabetes (113). Reasons for the variation in the main findings of

these studies is not clear. Both are retrospective in design and include large numbers of patients. There are differences in the make-up of the cohorts and time duration for the incidence of DMII. Both studies had <5% use of BIC and similar compositions of the other drugs in class. In both these studies there is an underrepresentation of women. Neither study was able to assess for weight gain and its impact on breakthrough type II diabetes. In a further retrospective study involving 1118 women INSTI was found to be associated with greater increases in HBA1c and systolic blood pressure compared to non-INSTI groups. In addition, the greatest impacts on HBA1c were seen in those with >5% weight gain (114).

The RESPOND cohort, including >29,000 patients (median follow up 6.16 years) demonstrated an increased risk of MI in those taking INSTI. The increased risk was similar across all risk groups (low, intermediate, and high 5-year risks). There was a rapid increase in incidence of outcomes over a two year period which diminished thereafter (115). These findings remained after adjustment for traditional cardiovascular risk factors. This is the first study to report on cardiovascular outcomes in INSTI.

INSTI has seen rapid deployment as a first line ART, largely due to its efficacy against HIV and preferable safety profile. As demonstrated, there are emerging concerns regarding weight gain, particularly in women. Its effects on CVD risk remain unknown.

1.2.6 Risk calculators

Traditional risk prediction algorithms have been shown to underperform in PLWHIV (116). The D:A:D calculator was developed as a HIV-specific calculator and was shown to have superior discriminatory ability compared to FRS (117). A recent comparison of traditional risk calculators, including D:A:D, demonstrated reasonable discriminatory ability for CVD endpoints but statistically did not fit the data (118). Traditional risk calculators have also been used to predict the presence of subclinical CVD (119). Current UK guidelines recommend QRISK2 CVD risk assessment in patients aged >40 years (90). QRISK2 is a previous iteration of a widely adopted traditional risk algorithm for general populations in the UK. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis assessed 10 different risk prediction models and concluded that in general risk calculators underpredict true risk. However, the Framingham and Pooled Cohort Equation seemed to be better calibrated (120).

FRS, PCE and D:A:D have also been demonstrated to be ineffective at predicting incident coronary artery calcium and plaque progression on cardiovascular CT (discussed later in the chapter) in HIV-positive groups (121)

1.2.7 Current paradigm of CVD and ART

The current BHIVA guidelines (updated 2022) recommend avoidance LPV/ritonavir containing regimes and avoidance of abacavir in those with high CVD risk or established CVD. In addition, if PI therapy is desired ATZ-based regimes may have advantages over DRV-based regimes (90). This is also mirrored in European Guidelines (122).

1.3 Mechanisms of drug effects on CVD development

1.3.1 Protease Inhibitors

First generation PI therapy caused significant metabolic disturbances with impacts on rates of dyslipidaemia, lipodystrophy, inflammation and development of diabetes (35,43,123). Lipodystrophy has three recognised phenotypes: central fat accumulation (lipohypertrophy), peripheral fat loss (lipoatrophy) and a combination. There is no unifying mechanism that drives fat redistribution and is likely a combination of several factors including baseline fat volume, diet / caloric intake, and host genetic response. The underpinning pathological response to ART/HIV pressures involves reduced SAT energy storage with increased VAT expansion.

PI therapy has been demonstrated to have an independent effect on the development of metabolic syndrome (124). The mechanism by which PI therapy exert its effects on this metabolic disturbance are thought to be multifactorial and include the following:

- Activation of SREBP1-c in the nucleus of preadipocytes causing reduction of PPAR-γ and reduction in differentiation of preadipocytes.
- Reduced clearance and increased circulating time of LDL-cholesterol.
- GLUT-4 inhibition reducing peripheral uptake of glucose, increasing insulin resistance, and pushing toward diabetic physiology.
- SREBP induced unfolded protein response causing endoplasm reticulum stress.

These findings have been demonstrated *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The first study to demonstrate reduced glucose uptake analysed the effect of indinavir on cultured adipocytes. Murata *et al* showed that indinavir potently reduced glucose uptake but did not affect GLUT-4 translocation or insulin signalling. They concluded this to be the major source of PI associated insulin resistance (125). This has been reproduced in multiple studies across first generation PI therapy (126,127). Further studies demonstrated similarities in the structure of PIs with the binding site of glucose with GLUT-4 (128). However, whilst this is true of older generation PIs, ATZ has been demonstrated in healthy volunteers to have no effect on insulin sensitivity (127).

PIs have been shown to stimulate hepatocyte SREBP activation in the cell nucleus and inhibits its breakdown via proteasome inhibition in both hepatocytes and adipocytes (129). The consequence of this is increased intracellular cholesterol synthesis in endoplasmic reticulum stress, causing degradation of unfolded proteins and, ultimately, apoptosis. However, there are fundamental differences in the effects of SREBP activation between hepatocytes and adipose tissue. Hepatic SREBP activation promotes increased TG synthesis and promotion of lipogenic / gluconeogenic gene expression. In contrast, adipose tissue demonstrates reduced lipogenic gene expression including PPAR- γ and SREBP-1c (130). The changes in adipocytes favour cell senescence with blunted abilities to store lipid which favours insulin resistance.

Indinavir has been demonstrated to reduce expression of PPAR- γ and SREBP-1c with reduction in differentiation of preadipocytes (131). These effects are mirrored clinically with the common findings of PI induced lipodystrophy and fatty liver (132). ATZ has been shown

to have less of an effect on both hepatocytes and adipocytes compared to older generation Pls (130). Furthermore, it has been shown to have less of an effect on preadipocyte differentiation compared to ritonavir (133). The effect of PI on adipocytes differs by location with SAT being more effected compared to VAT (134). This effect may not be surprising given the fundamental differences between these two fat depots. VAT contains larger numbers of hypertrophied adipocytes which have been demonstrated to have higher insulin resistance and reduced storage ability. Furthermore, VAT has increased infiltration of macrophages with the ability to secrete proinflammatory cytokines that can potentiate insulin resistance and cell damage. There are also major differences in the secretion of adipokines (135).

In summary, PI therapy induces SREBP expression inducing endoplasmic reticulum stress (the unfolded protein response) causing increased hepatic TG production with reduced storage ability of adipocytes (through a combination of reduced lipogenic gene expression and pre-adipocyte differentiation). Taken together, these effects explain the increased trend towards metabolic syndrome and body fat redistribution that is associated with PI therapy. Whilst modern preparations, including ATZ and DRV, have less of an impact on insulin sensitivity than early generation preparations (136), they still may interfere with normal adipocyte homeostasis, specifically in cells undergoing differentiation (137).

1.3.2 NRTI

NRTI agents have been implicated in playing a role in the development of metabolic syndrome and fat redistribution. This is principally through the effect of mitochondrial toxicity inhibiting mitochondrial DNA transcription via inhibition of DNA-polymerase- γ (138). This, in turn, causes impaired energy substrate generation with increased intracellular lipid accumulation which contributes to increasing liver fat accumulation. In addition, production of reactive oxidative species can contribute to proinflammatory signalling driving insulin resistance. First generation NRTI's have been demonstrated to be associated with VAT accumulation which is irreversible (63). They have also been linked with a reduction in SAT mitochondrial density and lipoatrophy (139). Modern preparations of NRTI may have such a pronounced impact on mitochondrial dysfunction. Tenofovir, 3TC and ABC have been demonstrated to have a minimal effect on mitochondrial DNA polymerase-γ (140–142). In addition, cumulative use of dideoxynucleoside analogues was associated with non-alcoholic fatty liver (as measured by hepatic attenuation on CT) but cumulative NRTI was not associated (143). However, in a study analysing 4 contemporary ART regimes, both TDF/FTC and ABC/3TC caused reduction in mitochondrial density and surrogates of mitochondrial respiratory chain function. In the same study ATZ and EFV were compared and both caused a similar reduction in mitochondrial density and function on fat biopsy through 96 weeks (144).

1.3.3 INSTI

Mechanisms for INSTI induced weight gain are still not fully elucidated. As previously discussed, other ART preparations interfere with normal adipose tissue function through several pathways. Data around mechanistic drivers of weight gain and metabolic dysfunction with INSTI are currently lacking. One study analysed the effect of RTG and DTG on adipose tissue in human and simian models in vivo. Both drugs promoted oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and insulin resistance. There was also a shift towards adipocyte hypertrophy and adipocyte inflammation (145). ETG has been shown to impair adipogenesis (reduced expression of PPAR- γ and adiponectin) and promote expression of proinflammatory cytokine in a similar fashion to efavirenz (146).

DTG and BIC have also been demonstrated to promote hypertrophic, insulin resistant adipose cells with greater levels of fibrosis in SIV infected macaques. There was also inhibition of beiging of WAT, a process which promotes fatty acid oxidation and reduces adipocyte size. There was suppression of lipolysis and fatty acid flux with promotion of lipogenic genes (147). DTG has been associated with reduced expression of PPAR-γ, increased secretion of IL-6 and reduced expression and excretion of adiponectin and leptin when compared to BIC and RTG in differentiating adipocytes (148). Downregulation of adiponectin with DTG treatment has been described before (149). Dysregulation of adiponectin and leptin may induce insulin resistance and a proinflammatory phenotype (150). Some data also suggested that DTG increases appetite through interference with melanocortin-4 receptors (151), although not all data is concordant (152).

In summary, INTSI have been shown to interfere with normal adipocyte function through inhibition of normal preadipocyte differentiation through its effects on PPAR- γ . There are also signs in animal models and cultured cells of a trend towards lipogenic gene expression and reduced lipolysis. In human studies, reduction of adipokines has been shown with potential effects on insulin resistance and a pro-inflammatory phenotype. Studies are currently lacking which offer definitive mechanistic insight into the profound weight gain seen with these agents and the effect on CVD risk.

1.4 HIV – Viral Related effects on adipocyte function

HIV infection per se is thought to contribute to adipocyte dysfunction and promote increasing visceral adiposity, reducing SAT volume and ectopic fat storage. The phenotypical changes seen in HIV positivity also include increasing subcutaneous fibrosis (with and without lipodystrophy) and altered adipokine signalling (153,154). As discussed later in this chapter these changes can cause significant metabolic dysfunction including adverse cardiometabolic profiles.

Latent HIV is present in adipocyte stores in reservoir T cells and macrophages and has not been shown to directly infect adipocytes (155–157). There is local release of accessory HIV proteins including VPR, NEF and TAT. The presence of accessory proteins is detected even in the absence of an undetectable viral load (158). In untreated HIV-positive patients there is reduced gene expression of proadipogenic genes including CEPBA and PPARG – encoding for
C/EBP α and PPAR- γ respectively (159). In addition, there is reduced expression of lipid storage genes and expression of adipokines (leptin and adiponectin) with increased expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α in subcutaneous adipose (154,160,161). PPAR- γ is also required for the normal function of mature adipocytes including regulation of GLUT4 expression, expressions of adipokines and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (162). Adipocyte hypertrophy is associated with reduction in adipocyte differentiation markers including PPAR- γ (163).

Specifically, VpR has been found to increase hepatic *de novo* lipogenesis, reduce β -oxidation and reduce VLDL-TG export in wild type mice injected with synthetic VpR (164). VpR has also been found, in vitro, to block preadipocyte differentiation and increase lipolysis in mature adipocytes through inhibiting PPAR γ and its promotors. These changes induced accelerated whole body lipolysis, hyperglycaemia and hypertriglyceridemia (158). In addition, VpR may contribute to development of hepatosteatosis by reducing hepatic fatty acid β -oxidation via interactions with the liver X-receptor (164). Tat and Nef have also been shown to induce adipose tissue ageing and induce oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in human and macaque subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue (165). Both have also been shown in-vitro to induce a profibrotic phenotype in adipose stem cells which may contribute to increasing adipose tissue fibrosis seen in HIV-positive individuals (166). Nef has also been associated with reduced glucose uptake in adipocytes via inhibition of insulin-stimulated GLUT4 expression (167).

HIV also has a deleterious effect on adipocyte mitochondrial DNA. In one study, involving both treated and untreated HIV positive patients, there was reduced mitochondrial DNA content and reduced expression of mitochondrial encoded proteins. This may cause mitochondrial dysfunction from inadequate respiratory chain function causing promotion of reactive oxygen species which impairs normal lipid storage (168). In biopsy studies of subcutaneous fat with lipoatrophy there was reduced PPAR-y expression and increased apoptosis (169,170). In their study comparing fat biopsies in PLWHIV with elderly "healthy" individuals, Domingo *et al* found reduced markers of adipocyte differentiation and mitochondrial dysfunction in PLWHIV. In the elderly group, there were markers of senescence and reduced telomere length demonstrating that premature ageing of adipose tissue is only partially responsible for adipocyte dysfunction in PLWHIV (171).

1.5 The origin of insulin resistance: dysfunctional adipose tissue and fatty liver

Insulin resistance refers to the reducing effects of insulin on body tissues. In the context of caloric overconsumption and DMII this stems from chronic over exposure to nutrient excess and insulin. This causes alterations to the proximal insulin signalling cascade including the insulin receptor, insulin receptor substrate and AKT. There is also reduction of translocation of GLUT4 to the cell membrane causing reduced cell entry of glucose (172). To maintain glucose homeostasis there is a compensatory increase in insulin from pancreatic beta cells. In the development of DMII beta cell production of insulin becomes gradually impaired leading to increasing blood sugars.

Insulin has differing effects depending on cell type. Hepatocytes are exposed to up to three times the insulin concentration of peripheral tissues as insulin is secreted directly into the portal circulation (173). Insulin binds to insulin receptor-1 and insulin receptor-2 on the surface of hepatocytes causing phosphorylation and 'cascade' intracellular signalling. There is rapid reduction in hepatic gluconeogenesis and increased glycogen production through direct and indirect pathways. There are also significant effects on lipid metabolism. There is promotion of de-novo lipogenesis through insulin-stimulated lipogenic proteins, the principal one being SREBP1c (174). With increasing de-novo lipogenesis in hepatocytes, there is a reduction in NEFA flux to peripheral tissues.

WAT is the principal energy depot of the body. There are two main depots for WAT: subcutaneous WAT and visceral WAT. WAT regulates energy homeostasis by balancing

glucose absorption with fatty acid lipolysis. Insulin promotes rapid reduction in circulating NEFA by inhibition of adipocyte lipolysis. It causes GLUT4 translocation to the cell membrane increasing glucose uptake. Glucose is used as substrate for DNL and energy storage with reduced lipid delivery to hepatocytes and myocytes. There is also glucose mediated stimulation of ChBREP which promotes lipogenic gene activity. In the context of low insulin, such as the fasted state, lipolysis increases with increasing NEFA flux. The predominant source of lipogenesis in this state is circulating NEFA rather than DNL (175). NEFA delivery to hepatocytes induces increased beta oxidation, decreased glycogenesis, and increased gluconeogenesis.

Skeletal muscle is responsible for most circulating glucose consumption. Insulin receptor-1 is predominant. Insulin binding causes translocation of GLUT4 to the cell membrane which facilitates glucose uptake by the myocyte. Glucose is then utilised for glycogenesis or energy consumption.

The pathological consequences of insulin resistance are complex and not fully described. HS is commonly associated with insulin resistance and describes accumulation of lipid within hepatocytes. There are differing models as to how HS develops in the context of insulin resistance but the concept of selective insulin resistance is thought to play a key role (176). The lipogenic pathway, insulin mediated SREBP1-c upregulation, may remain unaltered or paradoxically may become upregulated which further enhances DNL. The source of substrate for DNL occurs from four main sources: 1) NEFA released from WAT lipolysis, 2) post prandial chylomicrons, 3) hepatic lipolysis from plasma lipoproteins delivered to the liver 4) fatty acids synthesised de novo from non-lipid precursors. DNL is thought to be a major contributor to overall hepatic triglyceride content (174).

One hallmark of insulin resistance is the failure of suppression of hepatic gluconeogenesis. This is thought to be driven through both direct and indirect pathways, but WAT plays a key role. In Insulin resistant WAT there is a relative failure to suppress lipolysis with continued NEFA delivery to peripheral tissues and hepatocyte. Given the relative increased NEFA substrate there is continued hepatic gluconeogenesis. Hepatic gluconeogenesis is exquisitely sensitive to NEFA and hence WAT insulin resistance may be the first step in development of insulin resistance and DMII.

The principal function of WAT is to modulate energy storage and deliver substrate to peripheral tissues. Maintaining flexibility to deal with states of fasting and over-nutrient supply is an essential function of WAT. In the context of chronic nutrient oversupply there is stimulation of preadipocyte differentiation within WAT to expand the reservoir of storage for fatty acid. This is governed by PPAR- γ which is highly expressed in adipose tissue. There are two key mechanisms of WAT expansion: hyperplasia and hypertrophy. Expanding, hyperplastic WAT has been shown to demonstrate normal cellular function with low levels of insulin resistance / type II diabetes, normal adipokine signalling and low macrophage recruitment and inflammation. In contrast, increasing adipocyte size (adipocyte hypertrophy) is associated with inflammation, reduced levels of adiponectin / leptin and insulin resistance (177).

In general populations, adipocyte expansion is governed by genetic factors, inflammation, and cell senescence. With ongoing energy oversupply there is 'spill-over' of fatty acid causing increased circulating fatty acid promoting visceral and ectopic fat storage. Loss of the "safe storage" of fatty acid promotes inflammation and cellular dysfunction at the site of ectopic fat which further promotes insulin resistance (178).

The prevalence of NAFLD has dramatically increased in recent years. The current global prevalence is estimated at 25% (179). NAFLD is closely associated with a host of deleterious metabolic pathologies including hypertension, DMII and insulin resistance which is commonly characterised as the metabolic syndrome. The most sensitive clinical predictor of NAFLD is DMII with a high global prevalence of NAFLD in patients with DMII of 55% (180).

The overall prevalence of NAFLD in the United States is predicted to increase to 33.5% of the adult population by 2030 (181).

The histopathological consequence of NAFLD, which encompasses a range of progressive inflammatory hepatic syndromes, is underpinned by HS. The defining hallmark of hepatosteatosis is when >5% of hepatocytes accumulates triglyceride. This is driven through TAG deposition in hepatocytes. Progressive hepatic ectopic fat deposition results in inflammation giving rise to the unique clinical entity of NASH. Continued inflammation induces fibrosis causing cirrhotic liver disease which is strongly associated with liver related outcomes and a threefold increase in mortality (182). Hepatocellular carcinoma occurs most frequently in those with established cirrhosis (183) but is also increased in NALFD without cirrhosis compared with the general population (184).

The main sources of hepatic TAG arise from dietary sources (15%), NEFA from expanded WAT (60%) and hepatic DNL (25% depending on fed state) (185). Beyond dietary intake of lipid, fructose consumption has been highlighted as a key player in the development of fatty liver. Fructose is taken up by hepatocytes via unregulated GLUT2 facilitated absorption. It then undergoes metabolism to form glucose, lactate, and fatty acids. This unregulated entry contributes to triglyceride production. In addition, fructose is potent promoter of DNL via upregulation of SREBP-1 and ChREBP (186).

Fatty liver is thought of as the hepatic manifestation of the metabolic syndrome due to its close association. Metabolic syndrome refers to dyslipidaemia, insulin resistance and hypertension and is usually associated with obesity. The huge increase in prevalence is due to increasing rates of inactivity and high calorie food consumption. Although many patients with hepatosteatosis are overweight there has been recent interest in MAFLD in normal weight individuals. There are significant regional variations in rates of lean-MALFD with the highest risk being in Latinx individuals (187). The significant genetic contribution to this process is still being fully characterised (188).

The dyslipidaemia associated with metabolic syndrome is traditionally characterised by high LDL low HDL and high TG. This profile has consistently been shown to be associated with CVD and is thought to be causative. The composition of LDL is important in atherogenesis, and two phenotypes have been described. Type A is characterised by large 'buoyant' LDL particles and type B by small-dense LDL. Hepatic TG availability plays a key role in determining the subclass phenotype an individual produces. In the context of low triglyceride availability hepatocytes produce TG rich VLDL and IDL which is triglyceride poor. Following the effects of lipoprotein lipase and hepatic lipase larger, type A, LDL particles are produced. In triglyceride rich environment hepatocytes are pushed to produce two classes of VLDL, one which is triglyceride rich, VLDL-1 and one which is triglyceride poor, VLDL-2 (189). The end product of this pathway is small dense-LDL which has a longer circulating time and enhanced rates of oxidation which drives atherosclerotic disease.

The inflammatory pressures from HS and WAT are key drivers in the atherosclerotic process. In the liver, this process is demonstrated by the histopathological process of progressive NASH and fibrosis. Increasing NEFA delivery to hepatocytes causes mitochondrial stress from increased reactive oxygen species. There is production of TNF- α and IL-6 which activate Kupffer cells and further heightens insulin resistance through effects on the insulin receptor signalling (190). WAT contains significant amounts of immunomodulatory cells. Macrophages account for 10% of the mass in lean individuals but can reach 50% in obese people (191). As obesity and insulin resistance proceeds there is increased expression of M1, proinflammatory macrophages which is mediated through TNF- α , IL-6 and lipopolysaccharide. In contrast, pressures to express M2-anti-nflammatory macrophages are driven by adiponectin and PPAR- γ through weight loss (192). WAT increased rates of macrophage recruitment have been demonstrated with increased adipose size (193).

Alongside the liver parenchyma EAT is a principal depot for ectopic fat. EAT lies between the myocardium and visceral pericardium. Embryologically it is distinct from pericardial adipose tissue, and they have different vascular supplies. EAT lies directly over the myocardium and

adventitia of the coronary vessels. They share a common microcirculation and EAT supplies the adventitia of the vasculature via the vasa vasorum. Physiologically, EAT acts as an energy source for the underlying myocardium. It can rapidly synthesise fatty acids which acts as the energy substrate of approximately 70% of myocardial energy expenditure. Furthermore, it rapidly absorbs free fatty acids and thus acts in a cardioprotective role from the effects of lipotoxicity.

Beyond its regulation of myocardial energy, EAT has several other cardioprotective functions. It provides structural support to the myocardium and coronary arteries. EAT also displays brown adipose tissue functions and protect the heart from hypothermia via non-shivering thermogenesis. EAT also exerts significant local metabolic regulation by production of anti and proinflammatory cytokines and adipokines. The close relationship via a common vasculature allows EAT to exert a paracrine and vasocrine effect on myocardium and coronary vessels.

The impact of HS, EAT and ectopic fat deposition augmented by HIV-specific factors is of keen interest. HIV and ART clearly interfere with normal adipocyte function and may promote changes which shift energy metabolism towards visceral and ectopic storage with all the deleterious metabolic dysfunction that ensues. This may be a key driver for the excess risk CVD seen in PLWHIV, which as of yet, is largely undetected by traditional risk scoring algorithms.

1.6 The role of Cardiovascular CT as an imaging biomarker

1.6.1 Introduction

The impact of cardiovascular CT within diagnostic cardiology has been far reaching and profound. The clinical utility of this modality is underpinned by excellent sensitivity (99%) and negative predicative value (97%) for detecting significant coronary artery disease (194). Over the last decade, technological advances in form of increased gantry spin times and fast single heartbeat scanning have driven improved temporal resolution together with lower

radiation exposure. These advances have been realised through prospective "gating" of the CT study. Coronary arteries are mobile throughout the cardiac cycle and imaging during the phases where they are least mobile is paramount to image quality. This occurs typically at 50-80% of the R-R interval. The X-ray tube is only active for a specific duration of the cardiac cycle, for example 50-80% of the R-R interval, thus reducing radiation exposure (195).

Increased gantry spin times and multi-detector technology have allowed development of specific algorithms that allow the whole heart scanning in a single heartbeat. For example, the time required for one rotation of an X-ray tube is reduced by increasing the gantry spin times and effectively halved by adding a second X-ray tube. This allows acquisition of the whole heart volume in a single beat at a specific point of the R-R interval. The patient is then moved rapidly through the Z axis to cover the whole heart in a single acquisition.

In addition, vendors offer models with increased number of detector rows (256 and 320 slice) which allows coverage of the entire heart in a single acquisition. The advantages of these techniques are that the X-ray tube is only on for a small amount of time, and it alleviates stitching artefact as the whole image is acquired in one sequence. All the major CT vendors have recently introduced systems incorporating these advances. Rigorous heart rate control also essential for keeping the effective radiation dose down. The effective dose given to an average patient doubles when a heart rate increases from less than 55 to 60. It doubles again with an increase to 65 (196).

The culmination of recent advances led to a change in NICE guideline for assessment of chest pain of recent onset. CTCA is now recommended as the first line investigation in patients with typical or atypical chest pain. This represents a dramatic change from previous versions of the guidance with a move away from calculations of pre-test probability and the previous emphasis on functional imaging (197). The radiological infrastructure within the UK is significantly behind other European health systems and the change in NICE guidance will

contribute significantly to increased demand. The BSCI produced a report on the provision of cardiac CT which estimated a UK wide shortfall of 43% (198).

The importance of CTCA as the principal non-invasive imaging modality in stable chest pain patients is highlighted in the 5-year outcomes from the SCOT-HEART study. When added to standard care, CTCA was associated with fewer CVD deaths or non-fatal MIs (HR: 0.59; CI 0.41-0.84. p=0.004) (199).

1.6.2 Coronary Artery Calcium Score

The pathological evolution of atherosclerosis is a dynamic process involving varying inflammatory insults to the arterial intima which ultimately results in the development of coronary plaque (200). The evolution of atherosclerosis is highly variable and there is a spectrum of atherosclerotic disease with distinct plaque characteristics. One common final pathway for plaque progression is calcification (201). Coronary artery calcification (is associated with total atherosclerotic burden and advancing disease phenotypes (202). There are several methods used to quantify the burden of calcification including the Agatston score, calcium volume and more recently calcium density. The Agatston score is the most established of these methods due to its good reproducibility and high accuracy. The Agatston calcium score was initially developed in the 1990s as a tool for quantifying the degree of calcium within the coronary arteries. Calcification within the coronary artery is defined as 130 HU and >1mm² in size. The method for calculating the Agatston score relies on calcium density and total area of calcification (described in table 1). Early work was performed using single beam electron beam computed tomography and later expanded to multi-detector computed tomography (203).

Agatston Calcium Score

Density in Hounsfield Units (HU):

- 1: 130-199HU
- 2: 200-299HU
- 3: 300-399HU
- 4: >400HU

This weighted score is then multiplied by the area mm².

Table 1: The calculation of an Agatston calcium score (8).

Several large cohort studies have established CACS as a valuable tool to assess future CVD risk for general populations (204–206). The outcome of CACS is traditionally categorised into different strata reflecting the differing CVD risk. Unsurprisingly, the lowest risk of any coronary event is in the CACS 1-100 strata (HR: 3.61) and highest in those greater than 300 (HR: 9.67) (9). Although the CACS technique has been in utilization for nearly two decades, there have been recent advances incorporating its use regarding risk stratifying individuals. It provides incremental benefit above traditional CVD risk prediction models and is underpinned by the ability to potentially reclassify patients assessed by traditional CVD risk scores (207–211).

Recently CACS has been added to traditional risk factors to make a risk prediction tool. The ASTROCHARM tool measures 10 year atherosclerotic CVD risk and was developed using three large cohorts and validated against a fourth (212). The ASTROCHARM calculator again demonstrated incremental value of added CACS above FRS (improvement in C-statistic of 0.03 and NRI of 0.12). A previous CVD risk calculator developed using MESA data was validated in an older cohort (mean age 65 in MESA and mean age 51 in ASTROCHARM) (213). Statins are indicated in patients over 50 with a CVD risk profile >7.5%-10% respectively (214,215). Given that age is a significant independent CVD risk factor the ASTROCHARM tool has potentially greater clinical utility (216).

The development of integrated risk prediction tools enables enhanced decision making around primary prevention medications and risk factor modification. The current European guidelines recommend use of CACS in intermediate risk patients (evidence level: IIa) (217). In a review of the current evidence Greenland *et al* have made specific recommendations regarding the CVD risk in context of CACS. Essentially, if the 10 year risk of a CVD event is 7.5 to 20% but the CACS is zero, then statin therapy may not be required due to the lack of impact on events (218). In addition, a recent Danish follow up study demonstrated that CVD events in CACS of zero (and no non-calcified plaque) were still low through 4.2 years in the highest LDL strata (219).

The scope for CACS +/- CTCA to be utilised in high-risk patient groups in which FRS may underestimate true CVD risk is increasing. For example, CVD risk calculators in HIV (and other chronic inflammatory diseases) are known to underestimate true CVD risk (116). Patients with HIV have been shown to have greater CACS than matched non-HIV patients, illustrating the greater burden of subclinical coronary atherosclerosis (220). There are currently no validated risk predication tools which incorporate CACS in these higher risk populations.

Recently data from the PROMISE cohort has been reported around the prognostic benefit of a CACS of zero in patients (n=8811) symptomatic of chest pain. Evaluating the performance of CACS to functional imaging the investigators found that, in symptomatic patients with CACS of 0, the annualised event rate was <1%. Out of 133 events there were 21 patients who had a CACS of 0 (15.8%) and of those patients only two had a severe non-calcified (>70%) stenosis. The risk of having an event with a severe non-calcified stenosis (>70%) with a CACS=0 was 1.4%. Of these 21 patients roughly half had normal coronary arteries (52%) thus the "event" may have been secondary to a type II MI, embolism, or coronary spasm. There were no data on plaque morphology. Having a positive CACS (one or above) was able to predict 83% of future CVD events, whilst a positive functional test only predicted 33% (221). These data add to historical evidence that CACS of zero is associated with a very low risk of CVD outcomes (222). Coronary artery calcification can be detected on non-dedicated CT scans of the thorax with excellent diagnostic accuracy (223,224). It is also possible to quantify the severity of coronary calcification using a simple ordinal scoring system (mild to severe). This is recommended by the BSCI (225). Incidental findings of coronary calcification should prompt review of modifiable CVD risk factors including preventative pharmacotherapy. The extent by which this reduces CVD events is yet to be determined.

1.6.3 CTCA and functional assessment

Fractional flow reserve computed tomography (CT derived FFR) utilizes computational fluid dynamics to predict the functional significance of coronary artery lesions. In the current, and only commercially available model, data from standard CTCA datasets is transferred to the vendor's server with a report emailed back within a few hours. The report demonstrates the coronary tree with CT derived FFR results reported in all coronary segments. In the similar fashion to invasive FFR, <0.8 is considered functionally significant (226). The ability to combine both an anatomical and functional test is extremely appealing and this technology is well validated in terms of accuracy and safety (227–230). Invasive FFR is a well-established technique for quantifying lesion specific ischaemia and is comparable to functional imaging (231). To date, no trials with large numbers of patients have presented a comparison of myocardial functional imaging versus CT derived FFR.

Modality	Lesion	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV
CT derived FFR(232)	>50%	86 (77-92)	79 (72-84)	65 (56-74)	93 (87-96)
CT derived FFR(229)	Per patient	90	54	67	84
Table 2: Comparison of accuracy of CT derived FFR					

The technique has several constraints. Firstly, good image quality is paramount. A recent series of CT derived FFR reported the rate of unsuitable studies as high as 13% (232). In clinical practice, the rate of unsuitable datasets may be higher secondary to inappropriate heart rates (including atrial fibrillation), patients body habitus, poor contrast evolution and problems with artefact (such as breathing and movement artefact). Patient preparation and heart rate control must be rigorous to obtain quality images to utilise CT derived FFR. The

advent of modern CT scanners will also enhance quality. Secondly, concerns remain around the diagnostic accuracy in "FFR grey-zone" – CT derived FFR 0.7-0.8. This was reported as 46.1% in a recent systematic review assessing 536 patients from five studies (233). Thirdly, there is no data in patients having already undergone revascularisation.

Currently this service is limited to a few dedicated centres in the UK from a single vendor, HeartFlow. NICE have recently updated their guidance to suggest how CT derived FFR may be considered in patients with recent onset or stable chest pain (234).

As this technology continues to mature the initial results from the ADVANCE registry unsurprisingly show the strongest predictor of positive CT derived FFR is stenosis >70% (235). Invasive studies of FFR have proven there is a disconnect between anatomical assessment of coronary stenosis and the physiological impact of those lesions (236). The ADVANCE registry again demonstrates this disconnect as despite >70% stenosis being the greatest predictor of CT derived FFR <0.8, there was nearly a third of severe lesions (28.4%) that were functionally insignificant. Similarly, in patients with non-obstructive coronary anatomy (stenosis grading 30-49%) there was positive CT derived FFR rate of 20.8%.

Very recently the 1-year data from the ADVANCE registry was published demonstrating low rates of MI in CT derived FFR >0.8 (0.19% of total FFR>0.8 group). In addition, 92.9% of individuals in which medical therapy was recommended remained free from revascularisation or MACE at 1 year (237).

As the CT derived FFR technology is refined over the coming years, it is expected to become increasingly available across the NHS. The economic impact of this has been considered by NICE when compared to invasive angiography. Conservative estimates show this test could be used in approximately 40,000 patients per year with savings per year of £9.1 million from reduced referral for functional investigation or invasive investigation (234). CT derived FFR is certain to have an increasing presence in the diagnostic armoury of the cardiologist over the

near future, particularly as it offers results on anatomy and physiology in a single test/single visit.

As with all non-invasive cardiac imaging – patient selection will be paramount in delivering this service. In addition, centres will require robust systems for optimizing CTCA dataset acquisition to ensure quality images for CT derived FFR analysis.

1.6.4 Plaque Quantification and Morphology

The analysis of plaque morphology is becoming increasingly important. The ability of CTCA to visualise the entire vessel has several advantages in terms of assessing plaque. There has been extensive recent work on how plaque morphology may impact primary prevention, predictors of ischaemia and prognosis.

The seminal work by Motoyama *et al* established the CT based concept of vulnerable plaque (VP) identification on CT, which confers a significantly heightened risk of acute coronary syndrome. They assessed 3158 patients for three high risk features which are readily identifiable on routine CTCA: low-attenuation plaque (<30 Hounsfield units), positive remodelling of the coronary vessel (remodelling index of >1.1) and spotty calcification. The event rate was 16% over a median following up of 3.9 years (238). High risk plaque found on CTCA, specifically the plaque composition (necrotic core / fibrous plaque ratio), correlates with TCFA which is seen on IVUS (239). Positive remodelling and low-attenuation plaque have also been demonstrated to be associated with TCFA with macrophage infiltration on OCT (240).

Further work around vulnerable plaque in type II diabetics has recently been published which challenges the high-risk nature of vulnerable plaque morphology. A series by Halon *et al,* which included 630 patients, showed that vulnerable plaque caused acute coronary syndrome in 3.5% of instances over median follow up of 9.2 years compared with 0.6% of other plaques (241). Put in other words, 96.5% of vulnerable plaque never cause an event

and the risk attributable to vulnerable plaque was the same as stenosis >50%. The rate of statin therapy was similar at baseline and follow up between ACS cases and non-ACS cases (75-80%). Whilst there are important differences in the demographics between these two studies, some of the difference in event rate attributable to VP could be due to baseline statin use. In the Motoyama *et al* (41) cohort, the statin rate after initial CTCA was 38.9% compared to 80% in Halon *et al* cohort (44).

Despite some disagreement on the exact magnitude of the risk conferred by vulnerable plaque, the detection of vulnerable plaque on CTCA is frequently regarded as an indication for aggressive primary prevention strategies. Whilst statins are considered to help reduce the size of plaque and increase calcification there does not seem to be major evidence that treating those patients with a CACS of zero confers any benefit in terms of hard cardiovascular endpoints. In a cohort of 13644 patients statin therapy was shown to reduce the CVD endpoints in patients with evidence of any coronary calcification (adjusted subhazard ratio 0.76) whilst in CACS=0 group there was no risk reduction (sub-hazard ratio =1) (242). We do not yet know the impact of treating only non-calcified plaque with aspirin and statin therapies, however this seems the obvious thing to do.

Beyond vulnerable plaque there are several markers obtained on routine CTCA datasets that are used to attribute risk. There have been recent calls to standardise the reporting of CTCA and move away from a qualitative approach that is mostly employed clinically. This is outlined in the CAD-RADS document and may involve utilizing semi-automated scoring systems alongside traditional luminal stenosis (243). Diameter stenosis, specifically obstructive coronary artery disease, is still the most clinically relevant tool that prompts referral for invasive assessment and is the marker associated with adverse outcome (244). Other markers such as SSS and SIS are used to quantify the burden of disease and both show prognostic value (245,246).

The addition of individual plaque characteristics to diameter stenosis can improve prediction of functionally significant lesions. Sophisticated semi-automated systems are used to quantify plaque characteristics such as AutoPlaque[®]. These systems are limited to research tools and currently have limited scope in the clinical domain but may well enter routine clinical practice in the foreseeable future.

This disconnect between anatomical assessment and functional importance of a lesion is likely multifactorial. Firstly, the grading of a stenosis may be inaccurate. Secondly, the location of the lesion and the amount of myocardium subtended is likely to have a role. Thirdly, the plaque morphology at the site of stenosis is likely to portray underlying endothelial dysfunction. The metabolically active plaque confers more endothelial dysfunction which may contribute to ischaemia secondary to reduced nitric oxide bioavailability (247). To this end, Doris *et al* recently published an analysis of CT derived FFR in non-severe lesions on CTCA. They demonstrated that the best predicator of total vessel ischaemia was total plaque volume (OR 2.09) compared with calcified plaque volume, noncalcified plaque volume and low density non-calcified plaque volume (OR 1.36, 1.95 and 1,95 respectively) (248).

Total plaque volume has also been shown to be discriminatory of ischaemia when added to stenosis severity. Øverhus *et al* recently published data demonstrating the superiority of total vessel plaque versus proximal plaque in predicating ischaemia. This sub-study of the NXT trial demonstrated improvement of the area under the curve of 0.83 versus 0.81 when whole vessel low density non-calcified plaque volume was added to diameter stenosis versus proximal plaque. Stenosis severity alone had a AUC of 0.78.(249) A whole vessel approach is more predicative of overall plaque burden as it takes into account distal disease.

Total plaque volume across the entire coronary tree is also associated with cardiac related death. Hell *et al* retrospectively assessed 2748 patients and found that total plaque volume >179mm³ was associated with a HR of 2.3 (Cl 1.09-4.58; p=0.022) of cardiac death over a

mean follow up of 5.2 years (250). This is unsurprising as higher plaque volume portrays more advanced disease phenotypes.

Changes in plaque morphologies over serial CTCAs have the potential to show benefit from primary preventative strategies; the hypothesis being that one would be able to demonstrate to patients reduced plaque volume / vulnerable plaque / stenosis severity in response to specific interventions. Statin therapy is the single most significant pharmacological primary prevention medication and is well documented to reduce events in secondary prevention cohorts and moderate to high risk primary prevention cohorts (251). It's influence on coronary plaque has been described in IVUS-VH studies previously which show reduction in total plaque volumes and increases in dense calcium plaque volumes, although there was no effect on lipid rich cores (252). Also, the statin effect on coronary plaque is not uniform across agents or dosages (253).

On serial CTCA, total plaque volume has consistently been shown to be reduced and calcified plaque volume increased if a significant LDL-lowering target is achieved (254). This progressive calcification in the setting of lipid lowering therapy is yet to be fully elucidated but the effect likely represents plaque stabilization. This should not be confused with the fact that increasing CAC score confers increasing risk as discussed. Calcium on CACS is a surrogate for total plaque volume and the extent of potential disease. Increasing calcium arcs within a particular plaque is a sign of a more stable plaque (255,256). These facts call into question the utility of performing serial CACS on any patients taking statin medication without considering density. There are also newer models being developed to try and improve on the basic Agatston score (257).

1.6.5 Cardiovascular CT in HIV

Cardiovascular CT has been used to investigate subclinical CVD in HIV-positive populations. Its ability to inform on multiple metrics relating to atherosclerotic burden as led to its increasing use as a surrogate for CVD risk. Outcome studies relating to CVD in HIV-positive populations would require several thousand participants due to the low number of events per person-years. This has led to the emergence of CTCA as a research tool to investigate the prevalence and pattern of coronary atherosclerosis, as well as informing on mechanistic insights.

1.6.6 Coronary Artery Calcium and HIV

CACS was first utilised for assessing CVD in PLWHIV nearly two decades ago. Talwani *et al* utilised electron beam CT to assess differences in coronary artery calcium in 60 patients whom 41 were being treated with PI (258). Further work in 2005 demonstrated that HIV patients had a higher amount of CACS above the 90th centile compared to controls (259). The initial coronary calcium report from the Multicentre AIDS Cohort Study suggests that, after adjustment for common clinical covariates, both HIV infection and increasing age had significant odds ratios for the presence of coronary calcium. However, this was tempered by data showing that patients taking ART for greater than 8 years had significantly lower CACS (260). Sequential studies demonstrated an increased vascular age (261) and increased CACS with HIV-associated metabolic syndrome (262). However, despite these positive associations, a meta-analysis of observational studies by Hulten *et al* concluded that HIV positivity was associated with a small increase in carotid intima media thickening but not the presence of coronary calcification (263).

Interpretation of these early studies looking at the association of CACS and HIV covariates is difficult due to the cross-sectional methodology. Furthermore, the study size was limited in most trials. With the advent of CTCA, the focus on CACS as a surrogate for CVD risk shifted to interpretations of plaque morphologies and stenosis quantification.

The application of CACS in risk prediction in PLWHIV is limited thus far. Raggi *et al* demonstrated that CACS >100 was an independent predictor of CVD events in PLWHIV (264). Pereira *et al* assessed the performance of traditional CVD risk prediction tools and found that the application of CACS reclassified 43.1% of intermediate risk patients (265).

However, CACS is known to underestimate risk in PLWHIV as they have been shown to have higher proportions of non-calcified plaque compared to general population groups (266). The ongoing REPRIEVE study investigating the effect of statin therapy using CACS and CTCA will further help delineate the benefit of statin therapy in PLWHIV (267).

1.6.7 CTCA and HIV

CTCA has several clinical applications. There are several large multicentred CT registries that have furthered our understanding of the influence of plaque burden on CVD outcomes. The number of obstructed vessels and number of segments with plaque have been shown to be associated with adverse outcomes (268). CTCA has been shown to demonstrate incremental prognostic information above traditional risk factors and CACS (269).

The application of CTCA in PLWHIV has been increasingly used to delineate plaque morphology, plaque burden and CVD risk. The initial studies investigating the relationship of HIV characteristics and CVD centred on CACS, as previously described. An initial meta-analysis, published in 2015, summarised early CTCA studies showing that HIV infection was associated with >3-fold prevalence of non-calcified plaque but no difference with rates of coronary stenosis or prevalence of calcified plaques. Rates of non-calcified plaque were also associated with lower CD4 cell counts (270). Further to non-calcified plaque, HIV positive patients have also been demonstrated to have higher prevalence of vulnerable plaque (271).

Increased rates of non-calcified plaque seen in patients with more advanced disease likely point towards an inflammatory and immune-mediated cause. Increased prevalence of non-calcified plaque is associated with markers of inflammation even in those with low or undetectable viraemia (272). A higher burden of non-calcified plaque is also demonstrated in elite controllers, HIV-positive patients who maintain suppressed viral load without ARVs, compared to general population controls (273). Given the association of HIV-positivity and non-calcified plaque, unsurprisingly, work involving the MACS cohort have demonstrated an increased prevalence of CACS of zero with non-calcified plaque (266). This may have an

impact on the utility of CACS for risk quantification. Very recently, Pereira *et al* demonstrated how use of CACS changed patients risk group (265). However, given the above studies the extent to which CACS alone can be used to accurately delineate CVD remains to be seen.

Two large cohorts have utilised CTCA in PLWHIV: the MACS cohort and the Swiss HIV Cohort. Both cohorts compare HIV-positive patients to general population patients. Recent publications from both groups suggest different burdens and morphologies of coronary plaque. The Swiss HIV cohort found no significant difference between rates of noncalcified/mixed plaque between HIV-positive and general population patients, with lower calcified plaque in the HIV group (274). Advanced immunosuppression was associated with non-calcified and mixed plaque and viral load >100,000 was associated with CAC. The MACS cohort found a significant association with all types of plaque type but not with significant stenosis (275). There are obvious and important differences between these two cohorts which may explain the differing results. The Swiss cohort may represent a better treated group with lower rates of smoking and lower rates of HIV-related risks. There were also significant sex differences (MACS included only men who had sex with men) and racial differences and differences in BMI. A further cohort from Baltimore, USA investigated the presence and extent of coronary plaque in African Americans. They found that coronary plaque was significantly associated with CVD risk calculation and that HIV infection was not significantly associated with the presence of subclinical CVD. The authors conclude that differences may be due to methodological differences in measurement of non-calcified plaque, older age and worse risk profiles in the MACS cohort compared to the Baltimore cohort (276).

The impact of ARV regimes on atherosclerotic plaque has also been assessed although the data is discrepant. Data from the MACS cohort was published in 2016 showing no consistent significant association between ARV regimes and presence and extent of coronary plaque in well treated patients (277). Data from the large Swiss HIV Cohort suggested noncalcified and mixed plaque was significantly associated in patients with exposure to abacavir. Negative associations were found for emtricitabine with noncalcified/mixed plaque, TDF with any

plaque and efavirenz with calcified plaque (278). Both papers utilised the statistical technique of inverse probability of treatment weighting to adjust for channelling bias for certain ARV regimes. Important differences between the MACS cohort and Swiss HIV cohort exist including racial, sex, cardiac risks and use of lipid lowering agents. These differences make it difficult to directly compare these two cohorts.

The influence of statin therapy on CVD risk in PLWHIV is of great interest. Traditional CVD risk calculators recommend statin therapy in intermediate and high-risk patients which has an emphasis on levels of LDL-c (279–281). Whilst LDL-c lowering is the principle aim of lipid lowering therapy statins are known to attenuate CVD risk via their immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory effects (282–284). In 2019 Whelton *et al* investigated the relationship between lipids and coronary plaque in the MACS cohort. They concluded that the relationship between atherogenic lipid markers was weaker for HIV-positive patients compared to negative patients. TC/HDL has the strongest association for both HIV-positive and negative patients (285). The triglyceride to HDL ratio was not reported on despite triglyceride levels demonstrating a stronger relationship across plaque phenotypes and different multivariate models. TG/HDL ratio is also strongly associated with metabolic syndrome and CVD in non-HIV populations (286,287). Given that the relationship between lipid indices and coronary plaque seems to differ in PLWHIV it suggests differences in the pathogenesis of coronary plaque. Therefore, traditional risk calculators (which rely on these indices), and preventative pharmacotherapy are likely to have different applications in PLWHIV.

The impact of statin therapy and the degree to which it attenuates risk is the subject of the REPRIVE trial which is currently recruiting (267). Work by Lo *et al* in 2015 reported on a randomised control trial investigating the effect of atorvastatin on aortic inflammation and coronary plaque in PLWHIV using serial CTCA. No significant changes were demonstrated in aortic inflammation but there were significant reductions in non-calcified plaque volume and high risk plaque features compared to placebo (288). Further work by the same group demonstrated that statin therapy has also been demonstrated to reduce HS (289). A further report by Foldyna *et al* assessed changes in coronary plaque on a lesion-by-lesion basis. They

found that statin therapy reduced plaque progression by reducing the fatty and fibrotic plaque components (290). Similar findings have been found in non-HIV populations, principally from the PARADIGM registry trial (291).

The impact of sex and race on the development of CVD in PLWHIV is under investigated. The MACS cohort is exclusively male while the Swiss HIV Cohort is 85% male. Foldyna *et al* compared 48 HIV-infected women to 97 HIV-infected men demonstrating lower prevalence of plaque and lower VP in women (292). This may suggest there a sex-specific reduction in cardiovascular risk in PLWHIV although the mechanistic process for this is unknown. In a general population black people are known to exhibit lower calcified plaque compared to other races (293). There was no significant difference between sexes in the Swiss HIV cohort (274). In a sub-study of the MACS cohort, Miller *et al* demonstrated lower incidence of calcified plaque and stenosis >50% in HIV-positive black men compared to non-black men. This suggests a similar pattern of atherosclerosis development seen in non-HIV populations.

Serial CTCA has also been utilised to assess plaque progression. Increasing burdens, usually quantified as volumes of non-calcified and calcified plaque, have been used as a surrogate for disease and risk progression. The Swiss HIV-cohort study published longitudinal data comparing HIV-positive and general population individuals undergoing sequential CTCA. Using CACS, SIS and SSS, they demonstrated no significant differences between rates of progression between HIV-positive and general population patients. High FRS in both groups was associated with increased rates of progression (294). In the MACS cohort they assessed progression through increasing luminal stenosis, new stenosis of >50% and SIS increase. They also found that there was no significant difference in rates of progression between HIV-positive group), there was significant progression compared to well controlled (no viraemia) HIV-positive patients and general population patients (RR 2.3, 95% CI: 1.32-4, p=0.003) (295).

In a further analysis of the MACS cohort Shaikh *et al* measured total plaque volume and noncalcified plaque volume in 495 cases (284 HIV-positive, 211 general population) who had sequential CTCA's. They assessed the impact of CVD risk scores on plaque progression. They demonstrated that FRS and PCE better predicted progression in the general population group compared to the HIV-positive group. In the HIV-positive group those identified as high-risk by the D:A:D calculator had roughly double the risk of progression compared to the moderate and low risk groups (adjusted OR:2.08, 95% CI: 1.12-3.88m p<0.05). Furthermore, ROC curves compared the ability of each risk score to predict plaque progression in both groups. The PCE performed slightly better than FRS in predicting progression using total plaque volume in the HIV-positive group (AUC 0.60 versus 0.52, p<0.05) (121). These plaque progression studies broadly demonstrate no significant differences in atherosclerotic plaque progression depending on serostatus. It also highlights the deficiencies in risk prediction tools in HIVpositive patients.

1.7 The role of ectopic fat in CVD risk

HIV-positive individuals have been shown to develop NAFLD at lower body weights compared to general population individuals (296,297). As previously discussed, this may be because of viral and ART related changes on adipocyte and hepatocyte metabolism with pressures towards 'central' fatty acid deposition. The principal sites for this are visceral adipose tissue, hepatic parenchyma and epicardial adipose tissue.

1.7.1 Hepatosteatosis

The prevalence of NAFLD has dramatically increased in recent years. The current global prevalence is estimated at 25% (179). NAFLD is closely associated with a host of deleterious metabolic pathologies including hypertension, DMII and insulin resistance which is commonly characterised as the metabolic syndrome. The most sensitive clinical predictor of NAFLD is DMII with a high global prevalence of NAFLD in patients with DMII of 55% (180). The overall prevalence of NAFLD in the United States is predicted to increase to 33.5% of the adult population by 2030 (181).

The histopathological consequence of NAFLD, which encompasses a range of progressive inflammatory hepatic syndromes, is underpinned by HS. Progressive hepatic ectopic fat deposition results in inflammation, giving rise to the unique clinical entity of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Continued inflammation induces fibrosis causing cirrhotic liver disease which is strongly associated with liver related outcomes and a threefold increase in mortality (182). Hepatocellular carcinoma occurs most frequently in those with established cirrhosis (183) but is also increased in NALFD without cirrhosis compared with the general population (184).

HS has been linked with increased subclinical CVD (298), increased risk of CVD events (299) and CAC progression (300) in general populations. A comprehensive systematic review has demonstrated a positive association with HS and multiple surrogates for CVD including carotid intima media thickness, CAC, endothelial dysfunction and arterial stiffness (301). HS has also been demonstrated to be a risk factor for CVD on invasive coronary angiography (302). In contrast several studies have shown no significant association with NAFLD and CAC (303–305). The degree to which HS influences CVD risk in PLWHIV is yet to be fully described.

In PLWHIV the prevalence of HS is between 13 to 65% (306–308) and is the most common cause of liver disease (307). The traditional metabolic risk factors for development of HS in non-HIV populations are common in PLWHIV. Dyslipidaemia and diabetes are a common association with HS (309). Whilst the relationship of obesity and HS is well defined in general populations it remains more complex in PLWHIV. Lower BMI has been shown to be associated with visceral adiposity and reductions in peripheral fat (296,310,311). In a study comparing PLWHIV with and without NAFLD Kaplan *et al* demonstrated that patients with NAFLD had significantly higher rates of hypertension, BMI, DMII and lower CD4 counts (310). In their study analysing gene expression and liver attenuation Gabriel *et al* demonstrated significant associations with increasing liver fat and expression of genes associated with metabolic syndrome (312).

Quantification of HS via CT correlates well with biopsy results (the gold standard). Using noncontrast acquisition, the mean attenuation of the hepatic parenchyma is quantified by drawing two region of interest (ROI) circles (10mm²) in the opposing lobes of the liver. A further ROI is drawn on the spleen and a liver spleen ratio of <1 indicates HS (example in figure 3). A mean attenuation of <40HU on the liver parenchyma also indicates moderate to severe HS (>30% steatosis) (313,314). Quantification of hepatic fat content using the liver/spleen ratio is also possible using contrast enhanced studies, but is less reliable due to differences in scan timing and contrast administration (313,315).

Given that HS shares common CVD risk factors, the degree to which it can be considered independently associated remains to be fully elucidated. Many studies investigating this link do not publish collinearity statistics of their multivariate models which may limit the applicability of regression models commonly utilised in such studies. It may be intuitive to think that HS represents an advanced metabolic phenotype or is the hepatic manifestation of metabolic syndrome. The causal role of HS in CVD development, with reference to PLWHIV, is yet to be established beyond the description of known associations of clinical risk factors. Investigation into the role of NAFLD using non-invasive imaging strategies has been recently recommended as *a priori*ty by an expert panel review (316).

1.7.2 Epicardial Adipose Tissue

Increased EAT volume has been shown to be independently associated with coronary stenosis, ischaemia and major adverse cardiac events (317). EAT volume has been associated with increased CACS, non-calcified plaque, increased CACS progression and adverse CVD events in both symptomatic and asymptomatic populations (318–322). EAT volume and density has also been demonstrated to be associated with thin-cap fibroatheromas on intravascular ultrasound (320). EAT volume has also been demonstrated to be a risk factor independent of VAT and BMI (323). EAT has also been shown to enhance risk predication models in studies utilising ML techniques (324). Furthermore, increasing obesity has been linked to EAT adipocyte hypertrophy, hypoxia, inflammation and oxidative stress with reduction of adiponectin (325). The mechanism by which EAT drives the atherosclerotic

process is complex and not fully understood. One proposed mechanism is that proinflammatory cytokines, released from dysfunctional EAT, exerts its influence on vascular biology from the intimate relationship with EAT and the epicardial coronary arteries. There is a shared common microcirculation, the vasa vasorum, that may allow proinflammatory cytokines to cause endothelial dysfunction and subsequent vascular injury (326,327).



Figure 1: Potential mechanism driving atherogenesis from EAT (326).

The role of EAT in PLWHIV is less well defined. Guaraldi *et al* demonstrated in a large cross sectional study the association between EAT and CACS >100 (328). Increasing EAT volume (along with increasing age, male sex, and type II diabetes) was independently associated with presence of CACS >100. EAT also had a trend towards greater predictive value for the presence of CACS >100 than waist circumference, BMI and visceral adipose tissue although this difference didn't reach statistical significance (328). In 2014 Brener *et al* published findings from the MACS cohort comparing both HIV positive men and general population men. HIV infection was associated with significantly higher EAT volume after adjustment for CVD risk factors. Further significant HIV associated variable were duration of ART use, and treatment with ATZ. Assessment of plaque morphologies demonstrated that both non-calcified plaque and presence of any plaque were significantly associated with EAT after adjustment for risk factors (329).

The association of EAT with CVD in PLWHIV may differ between sex. Srinivasa *et al* assessed 55 HIV-positive and 27 general population women for the impact on EAT on CVD (330). Whilst both groups exhibited a similar EAT volume in the general population group the EAT volume was significantly associated with CVD risk scores (p=0.02). This association was not present in the HIV-positive group (p=0.99). Furthermore, the HIV-positive women had higher non-calcified plaque with the highest percentage in patients with excess EAT. Markers of calcified plaque were highest in the general population women (330).

Quantification of EAT is readily achievable using CT. Software from multiple vendors allows semi-quantitative assessment of EAT volume, distribution, and density. Machine learning systems have also been demonstrated to be effective in quantifying EAT. A ROI is drawn around the epicardium. This typically begins at the bifurcation of the pulmonary artery and continues to the apex. Threshold values for detection of fat vary slightly but typically are set to a lower limit of -190HU and an upper limit of -30HU. Quantification of EAT is also possible with contrast enhanced datasets with adjustment of the upper limit to 0HU. Good correlation is also shown between gated and non-gated studies.

1.8 The rationale for this thesis

PLWHIV have an increased risk of developing CVD compared to risk matched general population patients (17). CVD is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in PLWHIV and increasing burden on healthcare systems. One model has suggested that the median age of PLWHIV will increase from 43.9 years in 2010 to 56.6 years in 2030 with 78% being diagnosed with CVD (16). Traditional risk predication tools have been demonstrated to perform poorly in this patient cohort (120). The excess risk seen in PLWHIV is therefore inadequately described by traditional CVD risk factors. Given the impending health economic emergency and poor predictive tools, urgent work to elucidate this excess risk is urgently required.

The data around dysfunctional adipocyte induced ectopic fat deposition is of increasing interest. The relationship between viral related factors and ART is complex and not fully described. Increasing utilisation of non-invasive imaging tools to measure fat volume fat quality may unlock the missing link in the excess risk seen in PLWHIV. The expected dramatic increase in CVD from this ageing patient cohort means that work is urgently needed to reduce healthcare burdens and improve prevention strategies. We have therefore designed a series of works investigating the link between ectopic fat storage and CVD with a focus on risk assessment.

2. Chapter 2: Thesis overview

This study aimed to investigate the missing links between the excess CVD risk seen in HIVpositive individuals. This study builds on the accumulating evidence analysing the links between HIV and CVD. This is of increasing importance as the predicted morbidity and mortality from CVD in this aging cohort is predicted to significantly increase in the near future.

2.1 Aims and objectives

The main objectives from this study were to firstly explore the HIV-specific associations with CVD from the existing literature. It also sought to analyse differences in traditional and novel risk factors between HIV-positive groups and general population groups. The specific aims of each study are discussed in detail in each chapter but a broadly defined by the following:

- To appraise the current evidence base for HIV-specific risk factors with CVD.
- To compare the association of HS with CVD in HIV-positive and general population individuals.
- Develop a CVD risk prediction tool using conventional risk factors and imaging biomarkers.
- To compare the association of EAT with CVD in HIV-positive and general population patients.
- To assess the impact on lipid profiles in those switching to modern preparations of ART.

 Chapter 3: Associations of Hepatosteatosis with cardiovascular disease in HIV-positive and general population Patients: The Liverpool HIV-Heart Project.

3.1 Introduction

HS is the most common cause of liver disease in PLWHIV, affecting between 13 to 65% (306–308) individuals. HS describes hepatic ectopic fat accumulation and is present when it affects >5% of the liver by weight. HS encompasses a spectrum of clinically entities including NAFLD. The prevalence of HS is under reported.

Histologically, progressive hepatic fat accumulation is associated with lipotoxicity and chronic inflammation, progressing in many cases to cirrhotic liver disease, and a threefold increase in mortality (182). The relationship of obesity, insulin resistance, DMII and HS is well defined in non-HIV populations (180). The estimated prevalence of NAFLD in the United States is predicted to reach 33% of the adult population by 2030 (181).

PLWHIV have unique risk factors for the development of HS compared to non-HIV populations. They have been shown to develop lean NAFLD, defined as NAFLD in BMI< 25Kg/m², at increased rates compared to non-HIV populations (296). The complex interplay of viral related factors, ARV medications and chronic inflammation may cause PLWHIV to be more susceptible to the development of HS. Liver disease represents a huge source of morbidity and mortality in PLWHIV with up to 13% of deaths in the D:A:D cohort attributable to liver disease (331). In both HIV-positive and general population populations dyslipidaemia, insulin resistance and overt type II diabetes are strongly associated with the presence of HS.

HS has been shown to be associated with CVD in General population populations (298,300,332) although this is not universal (303–305). Given the increasing burden of HS in

HIV-positive populations we sought to examine if HS was independently associated with CVD in HIV-positive compared to general population populations.

3.2 Methods

We conducted a real-world retrospective analysis to compare the associations of HS and coronary calcification in both HIV positive and HIV negative patients. Data was collected from the Royal Liverpool University Hospital HIV clinical database and CTCA clinical database. Both the HIV and CTCA databases exist for both clinical use and quality improvement purposes and are approved by the host institution's audit committee. All demographic and clinical variables present on the databases were cross checked by the research team using the Trust's electronic patient record (clinical notes). The Royal Liverpool University Hospital audit committee approved this study. The HIV database includes all patients under follow up with service. It contains clinical co-morbidities, current and previous medications, anthropometric measurements, blood chemistry and CVD risk.

The HIV database was cross checked for patients that had a received a CT thorax within the last 10 years. The images were inspected by an independent imaging cardiologist for the presence of coronary calcification which was recorded in a binary fashion (yes or no). HS was assessed using non-contrast CT scans or venous phase CT scans in those with liver parenchyma visible on the images. Both imaging techniques are established methods for quantifying liver fat content. Two regions of interest circles covering 100mm² were drawn on the right lobe of the liver and one on the left lobe. The mean attenuation (Hounsfield unit [HU]) was recorded for liver parenchyma. Regions with non-uniform attenuation and hepatic vessels were avoided. A further 100mm² region of interest was drawn on the spleen and the HU recorded. HS was confirmed if the liver to spleen ratio (L/S ratio) was less than 1 and/or the mean hepatic measurement was <40HU in non-contrast scans (333–336). Liver attenuation of 20HU less than spleen attenuation was used for the venous phase imaging (315). Hepatosteatosis was also confirmed in patients that had a prior imaging (ultrasound) or biopsy confirmed diagnosis of fatty liver. The HIV-positive group were taken exclusively from this database.

The CTCA database contains demographic and clinical variables for all patients referred for cardiac CT (either CAC scoring or CTCA) between January 2014 and November 2016. The majority of patients were referred for the investigation of atypical angina and were considered low to medium risk in line with guidelines from the National Institute for Clinical Excellence that were established at the time (337). The presence of HS had previously been calculated by two independent radiologists and added to the clinical database. This was done using gated, non-contrast studies from the CAC protocol which is an established mechanism for detecting HS (333). The methodology and criteria used to establish HS was the same as outlined with the HIV-positive cohort. Patients were labelled as having coronary calcification if the calcium score was >0.

Variables were collected by reviewing patients' case notes, including consultation letters, for prior and current diagnoses. Patients with prior diagnoses of CVD (including clinical diagnosis, imaging diagnosis of coronary plaque or coronary event or intervention) were excluded. Patients were also excluded if quantification of coronary calcifications or quantification of HS was not possible.

3.2.1 Statistical Analysis

Summary statistics were calculated to compare the difference in clinical and demographic covariates between HIV-positive and general population groups. The prevalence of categorical variables was presented in absolute prevalence and percentages. All data were inspected using graphical representation for normality (histograms and Q-Q plots) and Shapiro-Wilk test. The proportions between categorical variables were compared using Chi-Squared test. Continuous variables were presented as means and standard deviations where normally distributed. The means were compared using an independent t-test. P-values were considered statistically significant if <0.05. The data used was complete. Any case with missing values was excluded from the analysis.

A multiple logistic regression (LR) model was developed to ascertain the association between coronary calcifications and CVD risk co-variates in HIV-positive and general population patient groups, using odd ratios (OR) as a measure of association. Additionally, we performed a sensitivity analysis using random forest (RF), to assess variables of importance in both HIV-positive and general population patients. Variables of importance were determined by Gini index. The Gini index is an established measure of accumulated nodal impurity for each variable in random forest algorithms. A high mean decrease in Gini indicates a high variable importance (338).

For the development of the models, we performed bootstrapping, with 1000 repetitions (including replacements), each with the same size as the original datasets. This was done to calculate the standard errors and confidence intervals. For the sensitivity analysis we split the datasets into 70% training and 30% test in both group of patients. The area under the receiver operator curve (AUC) for the test sets were calculated, and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) were estimated from the standard error.

The statistical analysis and development of the machine learning models were performed using RStudio, version 1.3.1056.

3.3 Results

The HIV database contains data on 1294 patients who are under follow up. After removing those with prior documented CVD and those where assessment of coronary calcification or HS was not possible there were 209 cases available for analysis. There were 1744 patients within the CTCA database. Again, after removing those with prior CVD, there were 1097 cases available for assessment. This left an overall total of 1306 cases (mean age 52.32; 46.6% male) to be included in the analysis.

The clinical and demographic co-variates for the whole cohort and stratified by HIV status are displayed in table 1. The groups differed in terms of the proportion of clinical and demographic covariates. Mean age was lower in the HIV-positive group (49.9 versus 52.3, p=0.002) and the proportion of males was higher (76.6% versus 40.9%, p<0.001). The proportion of patients with hypertension, type II diabetes and dyslipidaemia were significantly higher in the general population group (p<0.005 in all). The proportion of current smokers was higher in the HIV-positive group (28.7% versus 18.8%, p=0.002).

The overall prevalence of HS was 44.6% and was significantly higher in the general population group (46% versus 36.8%, p=0.018). The rate of coronary calcification was similar between the 2 groups (37.4% in general population versus 32.5% in HIV-positive, p=0.128). Within the HIV-positive group 91.9% had HS quantified by CT.

3.3.1 Multivariate analysis

In the multivariate model, including all clinically relevant demographic and clinical risk factors, HS was significantly associated with CVD in HIV-positive patients (OR: 3.13, 95% CI: 1.51-6.63 p=0.005). The only other significant co-variates associated with CVD were increasing age (OR: 1.15, 95% CI: 1.10-1.20, p<0.005) and male sex (OR: 3.77, 95% CI:1.37-11.69 p=0.014 (table 2). The associations of clinical covariates with CVD differed in the general population group. Current smoking (OR:1.96, 95% CI: 1.37-2.81p<0.005), dyslipidaemia (OR:1.66, 95% CI: 1.24-2.22 p <0.005) along with increasing age and male sex

were significantly associated with CVD. HS was not significantly associated with CVD in this group (OR:1.08, 95%CI: 0.81-1.44 p=0.60) (table 3). The AUC for the logistic regression was 0.841 (95% CI: 0.785– 0.897) for the HIV-positive model and 0.796 (95% CI: 0.770– 0.822) for the general population model. Upon removing HS from the model, the AUC dropped to 0.819 (95% CI: 0.758-0.881) for the HIV-positive model and 0.796 (95% CI: 0.770–0.822) (figure 1). There was no statistically significant difference between either AUC (HIV positive: 0.619, general population: 0.993, Wilcoxon test).

3.3.2 Sensitivity analysis

For the HIV-positive model age, HS and male sex were top three variables of importance using, according to the mean decrease in Gini index. In the general population group the top three variables of importance were age, male sex, and hypertension (figure 2). The mean AUC for the HIV-positive and HIV negative models were 0.877 (95% CI: 0.755-0.959) and 0.828 (95% CI: 0.780-0.873), respectively. The logistic regression models and the random forest models were significantly different for both cohorts (p<0.001, Wilcoxon test) (supplementary material).

3.3 Discussion

In this retrospective analysis we sought to assess the differences in the association of HS with CVD between HIV-positive and general population patients. The principal finding from this study is HS is independently associated with CVD in HIV-positive patients whilst there was no significant association in general population patients. To our knowledge, our study is the first to directly compare the effect of HS on CVD in both HIV-positive and general population patients. The finding that HS was independently associated with CVD in HIV-positive and general population patients, but not general population patients was confirmed in our sensitivity analysis.

Despite a higher proportion of HS in the general population group (p=0.018) and similar rates of coronary calcification, (p=0.128), we found HS to be independently associated with CVD in the HIV-positive group (table 2) but not in general population group (table 3) after adjusting for CVD risk factors. We also observed a significant association of the traditional risk factors of age and male sex with subclinical CVD). The association of HS and CVD in HIV-positive patients has been assessed in previous analyses. However, there have been no study comparing HS and CVD in HIV-positive and general population groups. Kaplan *et al* (310) compared 232 HIV-positive patients with and without NAFLD and found that NAFLD, as assessed by ICD-9 codes, was independently associated with CVD (OR: 3.08, 95%CI: 1.37-6.94). Our HIV-positive patients were similar in age and proportions of male sex. However, the definition of CVD differed from this study as they used a broad composite which included coronary artery disease, heart failure, peripheral vascular disease, stroke, transient ischaemic attack, myocardial infarction, and revascularisation. In our analysis we assessed the association with subclinical CVD found on CT rather than hard clinical outcomes.

In a separate analysis, using a mainly male HIV-positive cohort, Crum-Cianflone *et al* found that HS diagnosed on non-contrast CT was significantly associated with coronary calcification (OR: 3.8, p<0.01) (339). In a further analysis, Guaraldi *et al* assessed HIV-positive patients and found no significant association with NAFLD and coronary calcium (340).
Studies assessing the impact of HS as an independent CVD risk factor in general population groups demonstrate conflicting results. In their meta-analysis Kapuria *et al* concluded that NAFLD was associated with increased prevalence of subclinical atherosclerosis (based largely on CAC score) (304). Vanwagner *et al* analysed the association of NAFLD from CT scans, defined as liver attenuation <40HU, and found no significant association with coronary calcium after adjustment for obesity (303). In this current study we found that HS was not significantly associated with CVD in our multivariate analysis (OR 1.08, 95%CI: 0.81-1.44).

Current smoking, hypertension, type II diabetes and dyslipidaemia are established risk factors for CVD in both HIV-positive and general population groups. The relatively low incidence of these risk factors within this study makes it difficult to interpret the magnitude of effect. In the case of dyslipidaemia only 7.2% (n=15) of the HIV-positive had this risk factor documented. This is reflected in the wide confidence interval produced by the multivariate analysis (95% CI: 0.85-10.58). Although these results did not show an association between traditional risk factors and CVD, the study was underpowered to demonstrate any association. The purpose of this retrospective analysis was to compare the associations of HS with CVD in HIV-positive and general population groups. It was not designed to determine the impact of traditional risk factors.

In the sensitivity analysis we utilised a random forest algorithm to investigate the variables of importance in HIV-positive and general population groups (figure 2). The benefit of using this technique in a sensitivity analysis is that it is not constrained by the same assumptions that logistic regression and offers an alternative methodology to examine the results. In both groups age was the most important variable. In the HIV-positive group HS was the second most important variable followed by dyslipidaemia. In the general population group HS was the fifth most important variable. This further illustrates the difference in the impact of HS as an independent risk factor between HIV-positive and general population groups.

We utilised random forest as an alternative statistical technique as it does not require the same assumptions from the data as logistic regression. The random forest models demonstrated good discriminatory ability and was statistically significantly superior to logistic regression performed on the same testing data. The performance of each model is summarised in the box plots. Although the random forest models demonstrated superior discriminatory ability compared to logistic regression models, they demonstrated similar results. By utilising this contemporary alternative analysis, it increases the robustness of the finding that HS is significantly associated with CVD in HIV-positive groups and not associated in the general population group.

The association of HS as an independent risk factor may be attenuated by adjustment for other metabolic disease related conditions such as diabetes, obesity, dyslipidaemia, and hypertension. Our finding, showing that HS is an independent predictor of CVD in HIVpositive but not general populations, suggest potential differences in drivers of CVD between these two cohorts. HS that manifests in HIV-positive populations may represent a more severe adverse metabolic phenotype compared to non-HIV populations.

HS drives cardiovascular risk through increased atherogenic lipid profiles, inflammation, and insulin resistance. HIV-positive patients have been shown to have increased rates of lean adiposity compared to general population groups (296). Ectopic fat deposition has also been shown to be associated with prior CVD events (341). An individual's susceptibility to this process may also be derived from genetic factors (342). The findings from this study further demonstrate the unique pathophysiological process underpinning the increased CVD risk seen in PLWHIV.

3.3.1 Limitations and strengths

There were several limitations to our study. First, the way in which patients had coronary calcifications assessed in the HIV-positive group was based on the presence of a nondedicated CT scan. These scans had taken place historically for different indications. Whilst it is recognised that assessment of coronary calcification using non-dedicated CT thorax (343) the assessment between groups was not homogenous. Second, by opportunistically selecting patients who had received CT scans of the thorax for alternative indications we may have introduced selection bias into the study. We attempted to reduce any differences between groups by undertaking the sensitivity analysis. Third, the general population group were a pre-defined group of patients with low to intermediate risk chest pain. This may affect the generalisability of this result. We did not adjust for HIV-related co-variates including ARV medications. However, this study was designed to assess the differences between two different cohort rather than determinants of CVD risk specific to HIV-positive patients. In addition, prior studies did not demonstrate any significant HIV-related associations with HS and CVD (310).

Finally, we were not able to adjust for alcohol consumption or other secondary causes of hepatosteatosis (such as hepatitis C) in either group due to the retrospective design of the study. Although these influences are of significant interest it is outside the scope of this retrospective study to assess their impact on the presence of hepatosteatosis. Crum Cianflone *et al* performed a sensitivity analysis in which participants with significant alcohol consumption were excluded. This did not significantly alter their result (339). Further prospective work is required to assess their impact on the presence of HS and CVD.

Despite these limitations there were multiple strengths to our analysis. Both cohorts used in this comparison were extremely well characterised and data used within this analysis was 100% complete. This study is also unique in the fact that it is the first to compare the impact of HS on CVD between HIV-positive and general population cohorts. We were able to confirm the validity of the result by utilising a random forest algorithm in our sensitivity analysis. The broad agreement between logistic regression models and random forest models confirms the robustness of the result. This study was designed to be hypothesis generating rather than show definitive causality. Future studies quantifying CVD risk, plaque burden and homogenous assessment of HS and coronary calcium scores are required to further delineate this emerging field. These findings may have important clinical implications for the way in which CVD risk quantified in HIV-positive patients.

3.4 Conclusion

In these well characterised cohorts, we have demonstrated a significant difference in the impact of HS as an independent CVD predictor between HIV-positive and general population groups. This may represent a unique metabolic process that drives the excess CVD risk seen in PLWHIV.

3.5 Tables and Figures

	Overall	HIV negative	HIV positive	P Value
n	1306	1097	209	
Age (mean (SD))	52.32 (±12.00)	52.77 (±12.26)	49.92 (±10.22)	<0.005
Male Sex (%)	609 (46.6)	449 (40.9)	160 (76.6)	<0.005
Current smoker (%)	266 (20.4)	206 (18.8)	60 (28.7)	<0.005
HTN (%)	375 (28.7)	342 (31.2)	33 (15.8)	<0.005
DMII (%)	124 (9.5)	113 (10.3)	11 (5.3)	0.032
Dyslipidaemia (%)	389 (29.8)	374 (34.1)	15 (7.2)	<0.005
Statin (%)	343 (26.3)	304 (27.7)	39 (18.7)	0.008
Coronary calcium (%)	489 (37.4)	421 (38.4)	68 (32.5)	0.128
HS (%)	582 (44.6)	505 (46.0)	77 (36.8)	0.018
Obesity (%)	135 (10.3)	72 (6.6)	66 (31.2)	<0.005

3 5 1 Table 1. Summary	v statistics of the	- cohort and	stratified by	V HIV serostatus
	y statistics of th		Ju dunicu D	y my scrostatus.

SD, standard deviation; HTN, hypertension; DMII, type II diabetes; HS, hepatosteatosis

3.5.2 Table 2: Multivariate analysis in HIV-positive patients for the association of coronary calcification

	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	P Value
Age	1.15 (1.10-1.20)	<0.005*
Male Sex	3.77 (1.37-11.69)	0.014*
Current smoker	2.14 (0.93-5.06)	0.077
HTN	0.58(0.19-1.67)	0.317
DMII	0.75 (0.14-3.45)	0.718
Dyslipidaemia	2.89 (0.84-10.73)	0.097
HS	3.13 (1.51-6.63)	0.005*
Obesity	1.58 (0.70-3.56)	0.269

HTN, hypertension; DMII, type II diabetes; HS, hepatosteatosis

* Denotes significant association

3.5.3 Table 3: Multivariate Analysis in HIV Negative Patients for the association of coronary calcification

	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	P value
Age	1.11 (1.09-1.13)	<0.005*
Male Sex	2.97 (2.19-4.05)	<0.005*
Current Smoker	1.96 (1.37-2.81)	<0.005*
HTN	1.39 (1.02-1.90)	0.04*
DMII	1.14 (0.72-1.82)	0.58
Dyslipidaemia	1.66 (1.24-2.22)	<0.005*
HS	1.08 (0.81-1.44)	0.60
Obesity	0.95 (0.54-1.65)	0.87

HTN, hypertension; DMII, type II diabetes; HS, hepatosteatosis

* Denotes significant association

3.5.4 Figure 1: Comparison of HIV-positive and general population models including and









Figure Legend: Comparison of receiver operator characteristic curves for the logistic regression models. The first plot demonstrates the predictive ability between HIV-positive and HIV negative groups. The second plot demonstrates the predictive ability of the models not including HS.

3.5.5 Figure 2: Random Forest analysis of the variables of importance in HIV-positive and general population patients



Figure legend:

Variables of importance given by mean decrease in Gini index. The shaded area (grey points) is the variable importance given by all models. The variables of importance of the model with the best AUC is highlighted in red. Variable abbreviations are the same as table 1.

3.5.6 Supplementary Figure 1: Receiver operator characteristic curves demonstrating the predictive ability of regression and random forest models in HIV-positive and general population groups.



Figure Legend: Comparison of receiver operator characteristic curves and corresponding area under the curves for LR models and RF models. In the HIV negative plot, the mean AUC for LR was 0.791 (95% CI: 0.741-0.842) and for RF a mean AUC of 0.828 (95% CI: 0.781-0.872). The difference between these models was also statistically significant (p<0.001, Wilcoxon test). The HIV positive plot shows a mean AUC for LR of 0.827 (95% CI: 0.705-0.933) and for RF a mean AUC of 0.873 (95% CI: 0.768-0.959. The difference between the models was statistically significant (p<0.001, Wilcoxon test).

Abbreviations; AUC: area under the curve; LR: logistic regression; RF: random forest

3.5.7 Supplementary Figure 2: Box plots to show the performance of models in HIV-positive and general population groups.



Figure Legend: Box plots to summarise the performance of RF and LR models in HIV-positive and general population groups.

4. Chapter 4: The Association of epicardial adipose tissue volume and density with coronary calcium in HIV-positive and general population patients.

4.1 Introduction

PLWHIV have an increased risk of developing CVD compared to risk matched general population patients (17). This increased risk may be driven by several factors. Viral related mechanisms, ART, and increased prevalence of traditional risk factors (smoking, poor diet, sedentary lifestyle) act in a synergistic fashion to enhance the cardiovascular risk seen in HIV-positive patients.

EAT is increasingly recognised as a potential risk factor for CVD. EAT functions as an energy depot for normal cardiac function and has an intimate relationship with the epicardial coronary arteries, with both EAT volume and density strongly associated with CVD (317,318,344). EAT shares a common microcirculation with the epicardial coronary arteries and exerts influence on vascular function through adipokine secretion, buffering of fatty acids, and secretion of inflammatory cytokines.

Increasing energy storage requirements causes adipocytes to increase in size and number to accommodate extra lipid. Hypertrophic adipocytes have been shown to be dysfunctional due to lipotoxicity and ischaemia. This induces a proinflammatory phenotype with secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and adipokines. The close anatomical relationship between EAT and the epicardial coronary arteries may indicate a novel substrate for atherogenesis in the context of EAT dysfunction (345).

EAT is readily quantifiable using non-invasive imaging techniques. CT allows accurate quantification of EAT volume and density (346). Increased EAT volumes have been shown to be associated with markers of subclinical CVD and cardiac events in HIV-positive populations (264,347). This association has also been demonstrated in general populations (348).

Lower EAT density is associated with adipocyte hypertrophy and hyperplasia due to increased lipid content (349). Lower EAT density has been shown to be associated with markers of metabolic syndrome, inflammation and coronary artery disease in general populations (350,351). However, the converse has been demonstrated in patients presenting with acute myocardial infarction (352). EAT density has not been substantially studied in HIV-positive populations.

In this study, we aimed to assess the association of EAT volume and density with the presence of coronary artery disease using a large dataset of HIV-positive and general population individuals.

4.2 Methods

We conducted a real-world retrospective analysis to compare the associations of EAT volume and CVD in both HIV positive and HIV negative patients. Data were collected from the Royal Liverpool University Hospital HIV clinical database and CT Coronary Angiography (CTCA) clinical database. Both databases are clinically approved by the Liverpool University Hospitals Foundation Trust's audit committee. All demographic and clinical variables present on the databases were cross checked by the research team using electronic patient records (clinical notes). The primary objective of this study was to assess the association between EAT volume and coronary calcium in HIV-positive and general population groups. The secondary objective was to assess the association between EAT density and coronary calcium in both groups.

The HIV database includes all patients under follow up with the service. It contains clinical co-morbidities, current and previous medications, anthropometric measurements, blood chemistry, and CVD risk. The HIV database was cross checked for patients that had received a CT thorax within the last 5 years. The images were inspected by an independent imaging

cardiologist for the presence of coronary calcification which was recorded in a binary fashion (yes or no). This method has been described previously (353).

The CTCA database contains demographic and clinical variables for all patients referred for cardiac CT (either CAC scoring or CTCA). We included all sequential patients referred for cardiovascular CT from 1st July to 31st December 2019. Most patients were referred for the investigation of atypical angina and were considered low to medium risk. The presence of hepatosteatosis (HS) had previously been calculated by two independent radiologists and added to the clinical database. Patients were labelled as having coronary calcification if the calcium score was >0.

Clinical variables were collected and checked by reviewing patient case notes, including consultation letters, for prior and current diagnoses. The inclusion criteria were age >18 and CAC score or CTCA between July 1st and December 31st 2019. Patients with prior diagnoses of CVD (including clinical diagnosis, imaging diagnosis of coronary plaque or coronary event, or intervention) were excluded. Patients were also excluded if quantification of coronary calcifications was not possible.

EAT volumes and density were calculated using automated, deep learning software specifically designed to quantify EAT. We used QFAT 2.0 software developed by Cedars-Sinai Medical Center. Contours are generated along the visceral pericardium from the main pulmonary artery bifurcation to apex of the heart on sequential axial slices (figure 1). Operators, specifically trained in EAT volume measurement, were able to adjust the contours as required. Epicardial fat was defined tissue between the visceral pericardium and myocardium meeting the predefined attenuation thresholds for adipose tissue. The overall mean density was quantified using the QFAT software and displayed in mean Hounsfield Units (HU). Hepatosteatosis (HS) was confirmed if the liver to spleen ratio (L/S ratio) was less than 1 and/or the mean hepatic measurement was <40HU in non-contrast scans. This method has previously been described (353). Liver/spleen ratio of <0.8 was used for the

venous phase imaging. HS was also confirmed in patients that had a prior imaging (ultrasound) or biopsy confirmed diagnosis of fatty liver.

In the HIV-positive group CT datasets, including contrast and non-contrast studies, were analysed. For non-contrast enhanced studies, attenuation thresholds were set between -190 and -30 HU. For contrast enhanced studies the upper threshold limit was adjusted to 0HU as described in previous work (346). In the general population group EAT volume was assessed from non-contrast enhanced studies using the attenuation thresholds.

4.2.1 Statistical Analysis

Summary statistics were calculated to compare the difference in clinical and demographic covariates between HIV-positive and general population groups. The prevalence of categorical variables was presented in absolute prevalence and percentages. All data were inspected using graphical representation for normality (histograms and Q-Q plots) and Shapiro-Wilk test. The proportions between categorical variables were compared using the Chi-Squared test. Continuous variables were presented as means and standard deviations (normal distribution) or median and interquartile ranges (non-normal distribution). The means were compared using an independent t test where normally distributed and Mann-Whitney-U test where non-normally distributed. P-values were considered statistically significant if <0.05. Missing data (<5%) was imputed using a random forest multiple imputation technique.

Linear regression analysis was performed on continuous data and the logit of the probabilities of coronary calcification. Variables were inspected for linear associations. Outliers and influential datapoints were assessed using graphical representation of Cook's distance and plotting the standardized residuals. Multicollinearity was assessed by measuring the variance inflation factors of the covariates.

Multiple logistic regression (LR) models were developed to ascertain the association between coronary calcifications (binary) and EAT volumes after adjustment for clinical covariates in the HIV-positive and HIV negative groups. Clinical covariates were added to the model *a priori*. Further multiple logistic models were developed to assess the influence of lipid subfractions and finally HIV-serostatus as independent predictors of coronary calcifications. Odd ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) were used to demonstrate the degree of association.

Multiple linear regression models were developed to assess the association of predictor variables and EAT volume for HIV-positive and general population groups. In the subgroup analysis, models were developed to assess the association with EAT density and predictor variables.

4.2.2 Sensitivity Analysis

We performed a propensity score matching analysis using the "matchit" package on the imputed dataset. This technique uses a 'nearest-neighbour' with propensity score estimated using logistic regression models using HIV status as the dependent variable with baseline clinical covariates as independent variables. We then inspected the model for balance of covariates from the resulting model outputs (see supplementary data). The propensity score matched cohort were then inspected for the association of EAT volume and coronary calcification The statistical analysis and development of the regression models were performed using RStudio, version 1.3.1056.

4.3 Results

A total of 700 patients were included in the analysis. Of these, there were 195 HIV positive and 505 general population subjects. The demographic and clinical covariates for the cohort, stratified by HIV-serostatus, are summarised in table 1. Mean age was lower in the HIV-positive group (49.2 versus 57.8, p<0.005) whilst the HIV-positive group had a higher proportion of male sex (75.9% versus 48.1%, p<0.005). The presence of traditional CVD risk factors (hypertension, diabetes, hypercholesterolaemia) was significantly lower in the HIVpositive group compared to the general population group (all p<0.005). Current smoking was more prevalent in the HIV positive group whilst ex-smoking status was more prevalent in the general population group (both p<0.005).

EAT volume was significantly lower in the HIV positive group (68mm³ versus 118.3mm³, p<0.005) whilst the prevalence of HS was significantly higher (31.3% versus 19.6%, p<0.005). Coronary calcifications were higher in the general population group (58.2% versus 29.2%, p<0.005). BMI was significantly lower in the HIV-positive group (27.3 versus 29.6, p<0.005). There were no significant differences in parameters of the lipid profile (all >0.05).

4.3.1 EAT volume and Coronary Calcification

Univariate and multivariate predictors of coronary calcification are presented in table 2. In the HIV-positive group, after adjustment for CVD risk factors, age, sex, statin use and BMI both EAT volume (OR: 1.14 per 10mls, p<0.005) and HS (OR: 3.17, p<0.005) remained significantly associated with coronary calcification. In the general population group the only significant association in the final model was TC (OR: 0.75, p=0.012).

4.3.2 EAT volume and clinical covariates

Multiple linear regression demonstrated that HS was significantly associated with EAT volume in the HIV-positive group but not in the general population group after adjustment for sex, age, and BMI (p<0.005 versus 0.066). There were no significant associations with constituents of the lipid panel and EAT volume in the HIV-positive group. In the general

population group, TG was the only marker significantly associated with increasing EAT volume (p=0.009). There was no significant association with hypertension, diabetes or hypercholesterolaemia in either the HIV-positive or the general population group. HIV positivity was negatively associated with EAT volume after adjusting for age, sex, BMI, and HS (p<0.005). The logit odds of each clinical covariate were calculated and compared between HIV-positive and general population groups (figure 2).

4.3.3 EAT Density

In the subgroup analysis the association of EAT density with clinical covariates was assessed in 79 HIV-positive patients (40.5%) in whom non-contrast CT datasets were available. Associations with EAT density were assessed using linear regression models. Significant univariate predictors of lower EAT density for the HIV-positive group were ex-smoking (p=0.039), statin prescription (p=0.030), EAT volume (p<0.005), and BMI (p=0.030). For the general population group, age (p<0.005), male sex (p=0.043), statin use (p=0.024), EAT volume (p<0.005), triglyceride (p=0.025), and BMI (p<0.005) were significantly associated with lower EAT density.

In the HIV-positive group only EAT volume (p<0.005) was significantly associated with lower EAT density on multivariate analysis. In the general population group male sex (p<0.005) and EAT volume (p<0.005) were significantly associated with EAT density. The correlation between EAT volume and EAT density was significantly negatively correlated in both HIV-positive and general population groups.

The association of EAT density and coronary calcification was assessed using multiple logistic regression. In both HIV-positive and general population group, EAT density was a significant predictor of coronary calcification. After adjusting for age, sex (model 2) and age, sex, HS, and EAT volume (model 3) the association became non-significant (supplementary figure 1).

4.3.4 Sensitivity Analysis

There were 300 matched participants following completion of the matching algorithm (195 HIV-positive, 195 general population). Multivariate logistic regression demonstrated the significant association of EAT volume (p<0.005) and HS (p<0.005) with coronary calcium when adjusted for age, sex, BMI, hypertension, diabetes, hypercholesterolaemia and BMI. In the general population matched group there was no significant association with both EAT volume and HS and coronary calcification (p>0.05 for both).

4.4 Discussion

In this retrospective analysis, involving 700 participants, we sought to investigate the association of EAT volume and EAT density with coronary calcification in HIV-positive and general population groups. The principal findings from our study were that increasing EAT volume was strongly and independently associated with coronary calcium in HIV-positive individuals. In the general population group there was no significant association. Secondly, lower EAT density was significantly associated with coronary calcification in both groups, however, this association became non-significant when adjusted for traditional CVD risk factors.

HIV-positive populations are known to have approximately double the risk of developing CVD events than risk matched general population patients (17). The aetiology of this excess risk is multifactorial and includes increased burdens of traditional risk factors and metabolic pressures derived from HIV-positivity, inflammation, and ART (354). The impact of ectopic fat deposition and its role in driving adverse cardiometabolic profiles in HIV-positive populations is of great interest. The principal sites of ectopic fat deposition are the hepatic parenchyma, EAT, and skeletal muscle. Ectopic fat and visceral adipose tissue (VAT) are used interchangeably to describe fat deposition outside specialist tissue. VAT has been demonstrated to be an important risk factor and HIV-positive populations have high rates of visceral adipose tissue at lower body weights than general populations (296). Our own data, and others, have demonstrated the role of HS as an independent predictor of CVD (353). Specific pressures relating to HIV and ART may cause dysregulation of adipose tissue and

drive ectopic fat deposition (355). The finding of increasing EAT volume being associated with coronary calcification is therefore unsurprising given these pressures towards ectopic fat deposition. The intimate relationship of EAT with epicardial coronary arteries may explain how dysfunctional proinflammatory phenotypes of fat contribute to increasing atherosclerosis.

The significant association of EAT volume with coronary calcification in the HIV-positive group was demonstrated as a univariate predictor and through sequential multivariate models (table 2). In addition, HS remained an independent predicator of coronary calcification in the fully adjusted model. In contrast, both EAT volume and HS became non-significant after adjustment for age, sex, and BMI in the general population group. We calculated the logit odds of EAT volume (along with other continuous covariates) and demonstrated a strong linear relationship with the odds of coronary calcification (figure 2).

The association of EAT volume and coronary artery disease in HIV-positive patients has been assessed before. Sandouni *et al* demonstrated a significant association with EAT volume and non-calcified plaque on CTCA. The association with calcified plaque was not significant (356). Brener *et al*. found a significant association with calcified plaque and EAT volume in their minimally adjusted model, however, this association became non-significant in the fully adjusted models (347). The association of non-calcified plaque and any plaque was significant through all adjusted models. Other studies have demonstrated significant associations of coronary calcium and EAT volume (357,358).

We assessed the association of clinical covariates with EAT density in a subgroup of the HIVpositive group and all the general population group. Both groups had similar covariates that were associated with EAT density including EAT volume and BMI. We also assessed the association of EAT density on coronary calcification. Lower EAT density was associated with coronary calcification in both HIV-positive and general population groups (figure 2). However, after adjustment this association became non-significant. Data on EAT density in

HIV-positive groups is lacking. The association of EAT density, CVD risk factors, and coronary calcium has been assessed in general population populations. EAT density has been previously shown to be independently associated with coronary calcium, in low to medium CVD risk groups (359). However, higher EAT attenuation has been shown to be independently associated with those suffering myocardial infarction versus stable coronary artery disease (352). The SMART study analysed 140 patients at high risk of CVD. They found the strongest associations of EAT density and clinical covariates were male sex, BMI, and lower adipose tissue attenuation (360). Our data is broadly in keeping with previous work, demonstrating similar associations of clinical covariates and EAT density. Both HIV-positive and general population groups had similar predictors of EAT density. Both groups also demonstrated no significant association with coronary calcification after adjustment. The role of EAT density in development of CVD risk in HIV-positive groups requires further study. Our data is the first to our knowledge which assesses the association of EAT density in HIV-positive patients.

There are differences in the data of studies assessing the association of EAT volume and CVD in HIV-positive groups. The EAT volumes vary significantly across studies. The mean EAT volume in our study was 68mm³. Srinivasa *et al* reported a mean EAT volume of 65mm³ in HIV infected women (330). Other studies have reported mean volumes >100mm³ despite a similar BMI to our study (347,356,358). The reason for these differences is not clear but may represent differences in patient demographics and ethnicity. The method for quantifying EAT volume also differs across studies with different attenuation thresholds used.

We found a significant association with EAT volume and coronary calcium. Whilst previous studies have demonstrated EAT volume to be associated with coronary artery disease this has principally been non-calcified plaque (330,347,356). HIV-positive patients have previously been demonstrated to have higher burdens of non-calcified plaque compared to matched general population patients (361). This is thought to be caused by the persistent immune activation and inflammation seen in HIV. Coronary calcification represents the natural evolution of atherosclerosis, and quantification allows assessment of overall

atherosclerotic disease burden. We demonstrated a modest incidence of coronary calcification in the HIV-positive group (29.2%). Other groups reported coronary calcium incidences of 53-65.8% with similar rates between HIV-positive and general population groups (347,356). Our data show that the incidence of coronary calcium was double in the general population group. This is likely due to this population having a higher mean age and prevalence of CVD risk factors. There were also higher rates of statin prescription which may contribute to coronary calcification.

4.4.1 Limitations and strengths

We acknowledge several limitations to our study. First, assessment of coronary calcium and EAT volumes was performed in some instances on non-dedicated CT datasets of the thorax. These non-dedicated scans had taken place historically for different indications. Although it is recognised that assessment of EAT volumes and coronary calcification can be performed in a robust manor which is highly correlated to dedicated datasets, our datasets were not homogenous. By using non-contrast datasets, we were unable to assess different plaque morphologies. Second, by opportunistically selecting patients who had received CT scans of the thorax for alternative indications we may have introduced selection bias into the study. Thirdly, the general population cohort were a pre-defined group of patients with symptomatic low to medium risk chest pain and this may affect the generalisability of the result. We did not adjust for HIV-specific covariates or ART. However, this study was designed to assess the differences in associations of EAT volume and attenuation between HIV-positive and general population cohorts. In addition, due to the design of this study it was not possible to investigate for hard clinical outcomes such as cardiovascular events and death. This is due to the relatively low number of events per patient years. Statistical significance would require many thousands of patients to show any true differences on this outcome. Instead, we measured against a well-established surrogate for cardiovascular risk (coronary artery calcium).

Despite these limitations our study had several strengths. Our data was extremely well characterised with <5% missing values. This study is unique in the way that HS, an important

visceral adiposity depot and marker of CVD risk, was assessed with EAT metrics to assess associations with coronary calcification. This is also the first study comparing EAT attenuation between HIV-positive and general population groups. We were also able to perform a sensitivity analysis which confirmed the associations detected in the principal analysis. Finally, this study is designed to be hypothesis generating and no causality can be inferred from the retrospective nature.

4.5 Conclusions

The principal implications of this study are that increasing EAT volume may be an independent predictor of CVD risk in HIV-positive populations. This suggests a specific role for EAT in development of coronary atherosclerosis and hints at an altered underlying pathological mechanism compared to general population populations. Despite EAT volumes being lower, EAT was still associated with coronary calcification in the HIV-positive group. This suggests altered function of this fat depot irrespective of the volume of EAT. The impact of EAT density requires further evaluation and mechanistic analyses are required to elucidate the impact of adipose tissue function on CVD risk.

In conclusion, in this retrospective analysis we demonstrated a strong and significant independent association of EAT volume with coronary calcification in the HIV-positive cohort, but not in the general population group. Drivers of EAT volume differed in each group, suggesting different mechanistic drivers of coronary atherosclerosis depending on HIV-serostatus.

4.6 Tables and Figures

	General	HIV-positive	P Value
	population		
Number	505	195	<0.005
Age (Mean (SD))	57.84 (12.2)	49.24 (10.6)	<0.005
Male Sex (%)	243 (48.1)	148 (75.9)	<0.005
Smoker (%)	81 (16.0)	57 (29.2)	<0.005
Ex Smoker (%)	105 (20.8)	7 (3.6)	<0.005
Hypertension (%)	218 (43.2)	28 (14.4)	<0.005
Diabetes (%)	81 (16)	5 (2.6)	<0.005
Hypercholesterolaemia	184 (36.4)	14 (7.2)	<0.005
(%)			
Statin use (%)	190 (37.6)	34 (17.4)	<0.005
Hepatosteatosis (%)	99 (19.6)	61 (31.3)	<0.005
EAT Volume (mm ³)	118.35 (26.7)	68.03 (49.94)	<0.005
(mean (SD))			
TC (mean (SD)) mmol/L	4.64 (1.03)	4.76 (1.11)	0.188
TG (mean (SD)) mmol/L	1.74 (0.80)	1.89 (1.45)	0.096
LDL (mean (SD)) mmol/L	2.40 (0.93)	2.51 (1.08)	0.160
HDL (mean (SD)) mmol/L	1.36 (0.36)	1.34 (0.48)	0.555
BMI (mean (SD)) mmol/L	29.62 (4.68)	27.33 (6.38)	<0.005
Coronary calcium (%)	294 (58.2)	57 (29.2)	<0.005

4.6.1 Table 1: Patient characteristics stratified by HIV-serostatus.

HS, Hepatosteatosis; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein; BMI; body mass index.

	HIV-positive	General population										
	Univariate OR	p value	Model 1	p value	Model 2	p value	Univariate OR	p value	Model 1	p value	Model 2	p value
Age	1.10	<0.005					1.11 (1.09-1.14	<0.005				
Sex	2.91 (1.28-7.53)	0.016					1.90 (1.33-	<0.005				
							2.74)					
Smoker	1.48 (0.75-2.85)	0.249	2.78 (1.23-	0.015			1.27 (0.78-	0.345	1.87 (1.06-	0.031		
			6.48)				2.09)		3.35)			
Ex-smoker	1.86 (0.36-8.71)	0.426	0.92 (0.13-	0.924			1.57 (1.01-	0.050	1.71 (1.03-	0.042		
			5.77)				2.49)		2.89)			
Hypertension	1.42 (0.59-3.25)	0.417	0.85 (0.36-	0.738			1.84 (1.28-	<0.005	1.08 (0.70-	0.733		
			2.16)				2.66)		1.67)			
Diabetes	1.64 (0.21-	0.595	1.38 (0.15-	0.754			2.16 (1.29-	<0.005	1.18 (0.65-	0.580		
	10.13)		9.96)				3.71)		2.19)			
Hypercholesterolaemia	3.59 (1.19-	0.024	2.15 (0.67-	0.197			1.90 (1.31-	<0.005	1.46 (0.94-	0.092		
	11.41)		7.16)				2.80)		2.28)			
Statin	3.52 (1.64-7.63)	<0.005	2.19 (0.91-	0.079			3.17 (2.15-	<0.005	1.77 (1.12-	0.014		
			5.27)				4.74)		2.81)			
EAT Volume (10mls)	1.22 (1.14–	<0.005	1.14 (1.05-	<0.005	1.14 (1.05-	<0.005	1.12 (1.08-	<0.005	1.05 (0.99-	0.089	1.04 (0.99-	0.104
	1.32)		1.25)		1.26)		1.17)		1.10)		1.10)	
HS	4.29 (2.23-8.39)	<0.005	3.41 1.62-7.28)	<0.005	3.17 (1.46-	<0.005	1.07 (0.69-	0.757	0.85 (0.49-	0.549	0.81 (0.47-	0.444
					7.02)		1.69)		§.46)		1.45)	
тс	1.16 (0.87-1.53)	0.306	1.01 (0.73-	0.953	1.05 (0.74-	0.778	0.60 (0.50-	<0.005	0.76 (0.61-	0.010	0.75 (0.60-	0.012
			1.39)		1.48)		0.73)		0.93)		0.93)	
TG	1.32 (1.07-1.68)	0.014	1.26 (1.00-	0.052	1.23 (0.94-	0.142	0.91 (0.73-	0.421	1.10 (0.84-	0.493	1.06 (0.79-	0.699
			1.61)		1.64)		1.14)		1.44)		1.37)	

4.6.2 Table 2: Univariate and multivariate predictors of coronary calcification

LDL	1.12 (0.84-1.50)	0.422	1.03 (0.75-	0.839	1.09 (0.76-	0.642	0.67 (0.55-	<0.005	0.81 (0.64-	0.070	0.83 (0.65-	0.115
			1.43)		1.57)		0.82)		1.02)		1.05)	
HDL	0.45 (0.20-0.92)	0.037	0.35 (0.14-	0.016	0.43 (0.16-	0.066	0.83 (0.51-	0.464	0.53 (0.29-	0.050	0.55 (0.28-	0.045
			0.79)		1.01)		1.36)		0.99)		0.98)	
BMI	1.05 (1.00-1.11)	0.034					1.05 (1.01-	0.022				
							1.09)					

HS, Hepatosteatosis; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein; BMI; body mass index.

(Odds ratio)

Model 1: Age, Sex, BMI

Model 2: Age, Sex, BMI, Smoker, HTN, DM, Chol, Statin

4.6.3 Figure 1: An example of QFAT quantification of epicardial adipose tissue volume and density



Figure 1 legend: Panel A demonstrates a 3D reconstruction of the epicardial fat. The sub mask colours demonstrates the programmes ability to regionalise epicardial fat volumes and densities. Panel B demonstrates the machine learning depiction of the epicardial contours. Within the contours any voxel within the pre-specified Hounsfield unit range is shaded. The right hand side of the panel demonstrates the quantification of epicardial fat volume and mean density.

4.6.4 Figure 2: Logit odds of coronary calcification and continuous covariates

(a) Associations of continuous covariates with logit odds of coronary calcification in the General population group.



Figure 2 (continued)

(b) Association of continuous covariates with logit odds of coronary calcification in the HIV-positive group.



Figure 2 legend: the logtit odds for clinical covariates and their association with coronary calcification in HIV-positive and general population groups. In both groups age has a strong, positive linear relationsip with increasing odds of coronary calcification. EAT volume also

had a linear relationship in both groups. The other clinical covariates do not appear to have a linear relationship with coronary calcification.

BMI, body-mass index; EAT_V, epicardial adipose tissue volume; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglycerid

4.6.5 Figure 3: The association of EAT density with coronary calcification in HIV-positive and General population groups



Model 1: Univariate

Model 2: Adjusted for age and sex

Model 3: Adjusted for age, sex, HS, and BMI

Figure 3 Legend: Illustration of risk ratios with confidence intervals for EAT density and coronary calcification in HIV-positive and general population groups. Model 1(red) models EAT density as a univariate predictor with significant associations in both groups. Model 2 (green) shows a partially adjusted model (non-significant in both groups). Model 3 (blue) shows the fully adjusted model which shows no significant association.
4.6.6 Supplementary Figure 1: Correlation between EAT volume and EAT density in HIV positive and HIV negative groups.



(a) HIV-Positive

(b) General population



Supplementary figure 1 legend: correlation of mean fat density and EAT volume with corresponding R value. Figure 2 a) shows the HIV-positive group and figure 2 shows the general population group

4.6.7 Supplementary figure 2: Distribution of Propensity Scores



Distribution of Propensity Scores

Supplementary figure 2 legend: Graphical representation of matching algorithm performance on HIV-positive and general population individuals



4.6.8 Supplementary figure 3: Balance of Covariate in Propensity Score Matching

Supplementary figure 3 legend: Graphical representation of the adjusted and unadjusted means and variances of covariates in the propensity score matching algorithm

	General population		HIV-positive					
	Coefficient	Std Error	P value	Significance	Coefficient	Std Error	P value	Significance
Intercept	-5.61	1.36	<0.005	*	-8.20	2.05	<0.005	*
Age	0.11	0.01	<0.005	*	0.09	0.02	<0.005	*
Male Sex	0.75	0.25	<0.005	*	0.71	0.62	0.249	
Smoker	0.79	0.31	0.011	*	0.80	0.46	0.085	
Ex Smoker	0.81	0.29	<0.005	*	0.01	1.01	0.993	
Hypertension	-0.01	0.23	0.957		-0.73	0.67	0.278	
DM	-0.05	0.34	0.898		-0.47	1.11	0.669	
Dyslipidaemia	0.24	0.27	0.371		1.06	0.75	0.158	
Statin	0.39	0.28	0.160		0.10	0.64	0.882	
Hepatosteatosis	-0.31	0.30	0.289		0.88	0.43	0.040	*
ТС	-0.61	0.28	0.030	*	-1.07	1.00	0.281	
TG	0.18	0.20	0.374		0.75	0.53	0.153	
LDL	0.36	0.41	0.317		1.10	0.97	0.256	
HDL	0.02	0.03	0.349		0.67	1.16	0.564	
BMI	0.03	0.03	0.349		0.02	0.04	0.593	

4.6.9 Supplementary Table 1: Multiple linear regression for the association of clinical covariates and EAT volume

HS, Hepatosteatosis; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein; BMI; body mass index.

	HIV-positive			General population		
	Univariate	Model	Model	Univariate	Model	Model
		1	2		1	2
Age	<0.005*	<0.005*	-	<0.005*	<0.005*	-
Male Sex	<0.005*	<0.005*	-	<0.005*	<0.005*	-
Smoker	0.443	0.800	0.753	0.858	0.484	0.193
Ex-smoker	0.016*	0.034*	0.104	0.356	0.187	0.187
Hypertension	0.115	0.212	0.747	<0.005*	0.030*	0.593
Diabetes	0.262	0.322	0.401	<0.005*	0.005*	0.183
Hypercholesterolaemia	0.173	0.204	0.772	0.319	0.643	0.187
Statin	<0.005*	<0.005*	0.048*	<0.005*	<0.005*	0.45
ТС	0.109	0.175	0.449	<0.005 *	<0.005*	0.576
TG	0.154	0.345	0.931	0.006*	0.104	<0.005*
LDL	0.254	0.265	0.385	<0.005*	<0.005*	0.111
HDL	0.116	0.151	0.276	0.132	0.546	0.5
HS	<0.005*	<0.005*	<0.005*	<0.005*	0.032*	0.067*
BMI	<0.005*	-	-	<0.005	-	-

4.6.10 Supplementary Table 2: Univariate and multivariate predictors of EAT volume

HS, Hepatosteatosis; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; LDL, low-density lipoprotein;

HDL, high density lipoprotein; BMI; body mass index.

Model 1: BMI

Model 2: Age, sex, BMI

4.6.11 Supplementary Table 3: HIV-specific covariates

	N=195
Current ABC	31 (15.9%)
Current PI	26 (13.3%)
Current TDF	37 (19%)
Current TAF	114 (58.5%)
Length of diagnosis	11.2 years
Prior AIDS	5 (2.6%)
FRS	9%

ABC, Abacavir; PI, Protease Inhibitor; TDF, Tenofovir Disoproxil; TAF, Tenofovir Alafenamide; FRS, Framingham Risk Score

Chapter 5: Development of a calcium risk prediction tool in people living with HIV: The Liverpool HIV-Heart Project

5.1 Introduction

PLWHIV have an increased risk of developing CVD events compared to general population patients (362). This is due to a complex interaction of viral related factors, antiretroviral related factors, and traditional risk factors. Ectopic fat deposition is becoming increasingly recognised as an important consequence of these factors. This is likely driven by a reduced capacity of adipocytes to accommodate fatty acid storage (363). Hepatosteatosis, epicardial adipose tissue and skeletal muscle are the main recipient of ectopic fat deposition (341). Previous work, including our own data, has suggested that hepatosteatosis is an independent risk factor for CVD in PLWHIV (310,364).

Traditional risk prediction algorithms have been shown to underperform in PLWHIV (116). The D:A:D calculator was developed as a HIV-specific calculator and was shown to have superior discriminatory ability compared to FRS (117). A recent comparison of traditional risk calculators, including D:A:D, demonstrated reasonable discriminatory ability for CVD endpoints but statistically did not fit the data (118).

Treatment decisions, particularly implementation of lipid lowering medications, are based on the perceived CVD risk from these risk prediction tools. The predictive ability of these tools is modest and therefore may lead to inaccurate treatment decisions. Coronary artery calcium (CAC) scoring is a well-established method for predicting CVD risk and gives incremental diagnostic performance over and above algorithm driven risk prediction tools (213,365). Utilisation of CAC scoring to accurately delineate risk is recommended in intermediate risk asymptomatic patients (366).

The clinical utility of CAC scoring has been assessed in PLWHIV. Raggi *et al* demonstrated that CAC score >100 was an independent predictor of myocardial infarction (264). CAC has recently been demonstrated to have the ability to net-reclassify 42% of cases from high risk to non-high risk and vice-versa in PLWHIV (265). Based on this shifting paradigm we sought to develop a clinical risk calculator to accurately identify patients who have subclinical coronary calcification, and will therefore derive clinical benefit from preventative pharmacotherapies and lifestyle interventions. We compared developed models to traditional risk prediction algorithms to assess discriminatory ability and calibration.

5.2 Methods

We conducted a contemporary, retrospective analysis of the association of clinical comorbidities with coronary calcifications in PLWHIV. Data was collected from the Royal Liverpool University Hospital HIV clinical database and CTCA clinical database (Liverpool HIV-Heart Project). Both the HIV and CTCA databases exist for both clinical use and quality improvement purposes and are approved by the host institution's audit committee. All demographic and clinical variables present on the databases were cross checked by the research team using the Trust's electronic patient record.

The CTCA database contains demographic and clinical variables for all patients referred for cardiac CT (either CAC scoring or CTCA) between January 2014 and November 2016. The majority of patients were referred for the investigation of atypical angina and were considered low to medium risk in line with guidelines from the National Institute for Clinical Excellence that were established at the time (337). The presence of hepatosteatosis (HS) had previously been calculated by two independent radiologists and added to the clinical database. Patients were labelled as having coronary calcification if the calcium score was >0.

The HIV database was cross checked for patients that had a received a CT thorax within the last 10 years. The images were inspected by an independent imaging cardiologist for the presence of coronary calcification which was recorded in a binary fashion (yes or no). HS

was assessed using non-contrast CT scans or venous phase CT scans in those with liver parenchyma visible on the images. Both imaging techniques are established methods for quantifying liver fat content (333–336). Two regions of interest circles covering 100mm² were drawn on the right lobe of the liver and one on the left lobe. The mean attenuation (Hounsfield unit [HU]) was recorded for liver parenchyma. Regions with non-uniform attenuation and hepatic vessels were avoided. A further 100mm² region of interest was drawn on the spleen and the HU recorded. HS was confirmed if the liver to spleen ratio (L/S ratio) was less than 1 and/or the mean hepatic measurement was <40HU in non-contrast scans. Liver/spleen ratio of <0.8 was used for the venous phase imaging.

Hepatosteatosis was also confirmed in patients that had a prior imaging (ultrasound) or biopsy confirmed diagnosis of fatty liver. Patients with prior diagnoses of CVD (including clinical diagnosis, imaging diagnosis of coronary plaque or coronary event or intervention) were excluded. Patients were also excluded if no quantification of coronary calcifications or quantification of HS was not possible.

5.2.1 Statistical Analysis

Summary statistics were calculated to compare the distribution of demographic and clinical covariates in the cohort. All data were inspected using graphical representation for normality (histograms and Q-Q plots) and Shapiro-Wilk test. The proportions between categorical variables were compared using Chi Squared test. Continuous variables were presented as means and standard deviations where normally distributed. The means were compared using an independent t test. P-values were considered statistically significant if <0.05. Missing data occurred in <5% of cells. A random forest generated multiple imputation technique was used to impute the missing values. The data was then split into training (70%) and test (30%) subsets.

The statistical analysis and development of the models were performed using RStudio, version 1.3.1056.

5.2.2 Multivariate Modelling

Multiple logistic regression models were developed to ascertain the association of clinical covariates and coronary calcification. Each covariate was selected *a priori*. We then undertook a variable selection process using multiple techniques including backwards stepwise regression techniques using AIC assess for the best fit. We modelled the impact of continuous data using a multivariate fractional polynomial (MFP) procedure. Continuous data are assessed for linearity with the dependent variable. A closed test backwards elimination technique assessing best fit and modelling transformations of non-linear data was used (367). The full model is entered into the programme and fractional polynomials are examined for the best fit (closed test procedure). The fractional polynomials and best fitting variables are produced in the output (368).

5.2.3 Model Selection

Models generated using the above variable selection methods were compared. The accuracy of the models was compared on the training data set. The discriminatory ability of the models was calculated using the area under receiver operator curve (AUC) and the calibration compared by inspection of the calibration plot and Brier Score. The goodness of fit for each model was compared using a Hosemer-Lemeshow (HL) statistic. The final model was selected according to best discriminatory performance and calibration.

5.2.4 Internal Validation

The final model was then assessed on the test dataset and compared to the FRS model on the test dataset. Receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curves were constructed for each model and the discriminatory ability of the models were compared using area under the curve (AUC). Confidence intervals for the AUC were calculated using a bootstrap technique with 1000 repetitions. Calibration plots were constructed using predicted probabilities and true outcomes. Calibration was also assessed using the HL test and Brier score.

5.2.5 Sample Size

The sample size for predictive logistic regression models is challenging. One accepted technique for the minimum suggested cases is based work by Peduzzi *et al* (369). The minimum number of cases is based on the following equation: N=10k/p. For this cohort k=7, p=0.41 (using forward regression model):

N= (10*7) / 0.41 = 170.7

Therefore, our sample size of 195 should give our model statistical power.

5.3 Results

The overall numbers of participants included was 355. The baseline characteristics for this cohort, stratified for presence of coronary calcium, are displayed in table 1. Mean age (48.06 versus 56.9, p<0.001) and proportion of male sex (69.4% versus 89.2%, p<0.001) were significantly higher in the coronary calcium group. Dyslipidaemia was significantly higher in the coronary calcium group. There was no other statistically significant difference in other comorbidities.

Within the lipid covariates levels mean triglyceride (1.79 versus 2.18, p=0.021) and mean HDL (1.39 versus 1.25, p=0.023) were the only significantly different variables. Hepatosteatosis (21% versus 56.8%, p<0.001) and FRS (8% versus 14%, p<0.001) were also significantly higher in the coronary calcium group.

5.3.1 Model Development: Discrimination and Calibration

Variables were considered for the model *a priori* and included in the full model. All the covariates were entered into the variable selection techniques. The step-AIC model selected variables according to the best possible fit. We compared the step-AIC model, MFP model and full model with FRS derived prediction of coronary calcification. ROC curves were constructed for the models. The discriminatory ability was compared using AUC (figure 1). The step-AIC model had excellent discriminatory ability to detect coronary calcification (AUC: 0.825, 95% CI: 0.767-0.884). The MFP model also had excellent discriminatory ability

(AUC:0.821 95% CI: 0.761-0.880). Both models had a statistically significant higher discriminatory ability compared to the FRS model (p<0.001 for both, Wilcoxon test).

To assess goodness of fit, we utilised HL test and Brier score. The step-AIC model (χ^2 =5.388, p=0.716), MFP model (χ^2 =4.117, p=0.846) and FRS model (χ^2 =9.642, p=0.291) all fit the data well as assessed by HL statistic and subsequent p value. There was also no significant difference in Brier Score's across the models (table 2). Given the similarities in accuracy and data fit between the step-AIC model and the MFP model, we selected the simplest model. The MFP had fewer variables included within the model and hence was the preferred model (table 3).

5.3.2 Internal Validation

Following assessment of our models on the training dataset we selected the MFP model as having a combination of superior discriminatory ability and calibration scores. This final model was assessed on the test set and compared to FRS. The MFP model demonstrated a significantly greater AUC compared to the FRS model (0.886 95% CI: 0.799-0.974 versus AUC 0.712 95% CI:0.604-0.821, p<0.001). The ROC curves are compared in figure 3. The MFP model was significantly higher AUC compared to the FRS model (p<0.001, Wilcoxon test). The MFP model also showed a good overall fit to the testing data (HL statistic: $\chi^2 = 10.36$, p=0.24).

5.4 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to develop a HIV-specific risk calculator to predict the presence of coronary calcification. Using multiple statistical modelling techniques, we were able to demonstrate that our final model was superior to FRS at predicting the presence of coronary calcification (figure 2). This may improve the accuracy of those who would benefit from preventative pharmacotherapy.

Predictive models of CVD outcomes in PLHIV have been shown to both underestimate and overestimate CVD risk. Van Zoest *et al* compared the performance of the D:A:D risk calculator, SCORE-NL, FRS and PCE risk calculators in over 16,000 patients in the ATHENA cohort. They found that D:A:D, SCORE-NL and PCE underestimated risk whilst D:A:D overestimated true CVD risk. Furthermore, CVD risk was underestimated in lower CVD risk groups. All of the risk prediction models produced a significant lack of fit to the data (370).

The enhanced risk prediction demonstrated in our final model may be due to the inclusion of HS as a clinical covariate. Our own data, and data from other groups, support HS as an independent risk factor for the presence of CVD. HS is a marker of visceral adiposity which is significantly increased in PLWHIV (296). This 'fat redistribution' has been associated with increased oxidative stress, inflammation, and dysregulation of adipokines (355). Such inflammation is driven through secretion of proinflammatory cytokines from increasingly lipotoxic, hypertrophied adipocytes (371). This may underpin the reasons why HS is an independent risk factor for CVD. The presence of hepatosteatosis in PLWHIV is an emerging health concern and may be a contributor to the excess CVD morbidity and mortality seen in this patient group (310,364).

The use of CACS to estimate CVD risk is well established in general populations. In the Heinz Nixdorf recall study the addition of CACS reclassified patients risk profile in up to 30.6% (365). Calcium scores have been incorporated into risk prediction models to provide enhanced 10-year CVD risk prediction (212). This enhanced risk prediction is the basis to recommend preventative pharmacotherapy in those with a 10-year CVD risk >7.5%. The AHA guidelines now recommend CACS in asymptomatic patients with intermediate CVD risk to aid treatment decisions (366). In HIV populations Pereira *et al* recently published a cross sectional analysis comparing CACS with FRS, QRISK2 and D:A:D scores. In those with potential eligible for preventative pharmacotherapy (FRS>10%), 23% had no calcium detectable. In those who were low risk (FRS <10%), 19.6% had evidence of detectable calcium (265). This results demonstrate the poor performance of FRS to predict the

presence of coronary calcification and, by extension, those who would benefit from preventative pharmacotherapy.

The emergence of HS as a potential CVD risk factor may represent a potential imaging biomarker to enhance CVD risk prediction. HS has been shown in both HIV-positive and general population groups to be an independent predictor of CVD. The variable selection models produced using the techniques in this study all included HS due to its predictive value on coronary calcification. These results suggest our MFP model may provide a useful clinical risk prediction tool for detecting the presence of coronary calcification. This risk calculator may help delineate PLWHIV who would benefit from enhanced risk prediction in the form of CACS.

5.4.1 Limitations and Strengths

There are several limitations to this study. Firstly, this initial study utilises internal validation of the models. This methodology has inherent biases and may lead to over confidence in the final model as the testing data was generated from the same cohort as the training data. These models require external validation in large diverse cohorts prior to clinical implementation. Secondly, coronary calcifications were assessed retrospectively on CT scans of the thorax. Often these were not dedicated sequences to detect coronary calcification and had been performed for alternative reasons. However, it is recognised that quantification of coronary calcifications on non-dedicated CT is valid (225). Thirdly, in order to undertake internal validation we split our data set (70% training and 30% test) which may reduce the power of the final models. As with all internal validation studies we expect this model to be overfitted to our data and rigorous external validation studies are required.

Despite these limitations there are multiple strengths to our study. The cohorts used to generate these models were extremely well characterised and had very few missing data (<5%). This study is unique in the fact that this is the first attempt to generate a clinical risk

predictor in HIV-positive patients to detect the presence of coronary calcification. This may lead to accurate decisions of whom may be eligible for CACS. We also undertook a robust assessment of the models generated from various variable selection techniques. The models generated demonstrated excellent performance. We also report measures of calibration in different subgroups. The models generated from this initial study requires external validation in a separate cohort.

5.5 Conclusions

We have demonstrated a robust technique for building clinical risk prediction tools for the detection of coronary calcification in PLWHIV. This simple clinical risk calculator demonstrated excellent discriminatory ability and was significantly superior to FRS in determining presence of coronary calcification in internal validation. The presence of HS as a CVD risk factor may improve our ability to determine those at risk of CVD. The development of this risk calculator may enable appropriate decisions regarding whom will benefit from CACS leading to accurate prescriptions of preventative pharmacotherapies. Further external validation studies are required to ascertain the clinical utility of this risk prediction tool.

5.6 Tables and Figures

	No Coronary		
	Calcium	Coronary Calcium	р
n	281	74	
Age (mean (SD))	48.06 (±9.73)	56.9 (±9.77)	<0.001*
Male Sex (%)	195 (69.4%)	66 (89.2%)	0.001*
Current smoker (%)	75 (26.7%)	22 (29.7%)	0.707
HTN (%)	52 (18.5%)	15 (20.3%)	0.859
DMII (%)	15 (5.3%)	4 (5.4%)	1
Dyslipidaemia (%)	14 (5%)	10 (13.5%)	0.019*
CKD (%)	30 (10.7%)	13 (17.6%)	0.157
TC (mean (SD))	4.93 (±3.16	4.83 (±1.32)	0.791
TG (mean (SD))	1.79 (±1.2)	2.18 (±1.64)	0.021*
HDL (mean (SD))	1.39 (±0.48)	1.25 (±0.43)	0.023*
LDL (mean (SD))	2.51 (±0.99)	2.6 (±1.24)	0.487
Non-HDL (mean (SD))	3.37 (±1.05)	3.59 (±1.26)	0.118
FRS (mean (SD))	0.08 (±0.06)	0.14 (±0.07)	<0.001*
Length Diagnosis (mean (SD))	11.88 (±7.1)	12.66 (±8.13)	0.414
HS (%)	59 (21%)	42 (56.8%)	<0.001*
BMI (mean (SD))	26.29 (±9.87)	27.45 (±8.58)	0.355

5.6.1 Table 1: Summar	v statistics	of the cohort	stratified by	, coronarv	/ arterv	calcification
	,		. otratifica by	our orrary	arcery	ouronnoucion

HTN, Hypertension; DMII, Type II diabetes; CKD, Chronic kidney disease; TC, Total cholesterol; TG, Triglyceride; HDL, High-density lipoprotein; LDL, Low-density lipoprotein; FRS, Framingham risk score; HS, Hepatosteatosis; BMI, Body-mass index

*Denotes significant association

5.6.2 Table 2: Comparison of accuracy statistics in training dataset

	Step-AIC	FRS	Polynomial
AUC	0.825	0.760	0.821
HL	5.388	9.642	4.117
HL p value	0.716	0.291	0.846
Brier Score	0.12	0.15	0.13

AUC, Area Under the Curve; HL. Hosmer-Lemeshow test

5.6.3 Table 3: Intercept, coefficients, and significance of the variables in the MFP model

	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	P Value
(Intercept)	-7.91057	1.39607	-5.666	<0.001
Age	0.09894	0.02126	4.654	<0.001
HS	1.24741	0.37284	3.346	<0.001
Male Sex	1.72045	0.69393	2.479	0.013
I((LDL + 0.1)^2)	-0.35699	0.14392	-2.48	0.013
l((LDL + 0.1)^3)	0.08227	0.02864	2.872	0.004

HS, Hepatosteatosis; LDL. Low density lipoprotein

5.6.4 Figure 1: Comparison of the receiver operator characteristics curves for the development models



Figure Legend: Comparison of receiver operator characteristic curves for the differing models.

5.6.5 Figure 2: Comparison of the receiver operator characteristic curves for the final model and FRS model



Figure legend: Comparison of receiver operator characteristic curves for the 'final' MFP model compared with the FRS model.



5.6.6 Figure 3: Calibration plot of the final model and FRS model

Figure legend: Calibration plot of training

Chapter 6: Changes in lipid profiles after switching to TAF/FTC/BIC

6.1 Introduction

CVD is an increasing health concern amongst PLWHIV. Modern ART has significantly extended the life expectancy of this patient group (372). As a consequence, patients are succumbing to traditional diseases of ageing rather than AIDS related illness (4). PLWHIV have excess CVD risk compared to risk matched general population groups (362). The mechanisms behind this increased risk have not yet been fully elucidated but likely centre on chronic inflammation, immune activation, and dysfunction of lipid storage. Up to 78% of PLWHIV are expected to develop CVD by 2030 (16).

Primary prevention of CVD is therefore of increasing importance. Traditional CVD risk scores are known to underpredict the risk of CVD in PLWHIV. HIV specific risk calculators have been developed but remain inaccurate (373). The cornerstone of risk prediction with these tools is the lipid profile. Data from the D:A:D study suggests that for every 1mmol/L increase in TC the risk of myocardial infarction increases 26% (38). Treatment decisions regarding preventative pharmacotherapy and ART switching continue to be made in response to adverse lipid profiles and a perceived heightened CVD risk.

Prior work has suggested that TAF/FTC/BIC has a neutral effect on the lipid profile and is therefore seen as a CVD safe preparation (374). Compared to dolutegravir based regimes, TAF/FTC/BIC has been shown to have no significant effect on the lipid profile in treatment naïve individuals (375). Recently, switching to TAF/FTC/BIC has been shown to result in significant increases in TC, LDL and TC:HDL in those switching from a ABC/3TC/DTG regime (374). In treatment experienced patients TAF/FTC/BIC has been shown to have no significant effect on lipids compared with those taking boosted PI therapy and TDF. In the same study TAF/FTC/BIC demonstrated favourable lipid changes compared to those continuing boosted PI with ABC/3TC backbone therapy (376). Most of the safety data related to lipids in those switching to TAF/FTC/BIC comes from clinical trials. These often compare the study drug to the current standard of treatment or in treatment naïve individuals. Given that in real world settings individuals often take a multitude of different ART preparations, we sought to investigate the change in lipid profile after switching to TAF/FTC/BIC in a real-world setting.

6.2 Methods

We conducted a real-world retrospective analysis to analyse the effect of switching ART on lipid profiles. Data was collected from the Royal Liverpool University Hospital HIV clinical database. The HIV database exists for both clinical use and quality improvement purposes and is approved by the host institution's audit committee. All demographic and clinical variables present on the database were cross checked by the research team using the Trust's electronic patient record. The Royal Liverpool University Hospital audit committee approved this study. Lipid data was collected from the Trust electronic reporting system.

Participants were included if they were HIV-positive and had been switched to TAF/FTC/BIC. Participants were excluded if there was no/insufficient lipid data or if there was no followup. The lipid results from the point of switching ART up to 50 weeks prior to ART switch were included. We included the nearest to the ART switch. Lipid data post switch was taken from 12 to 100 weeks post ART switch.

6.2.1 Statistical Analysis

Summary statistics were calculated to demonstrate the demographics and clinical covariates of the cohort at baseline. The mean and standard deviation are displayed where normally distributed for continuous data. For non-normal data the median and interquartile ranges are displayed. Categorical data is displayed in absolute terms and the proportion as percentages. Changes in lipid profiles were compared using a paired T-test. Statistical significance is inferred with p<0.05.

We performed a sensitivity analysis using multiple regression analysis using the lipid change as the dependent variable for total cholesterol (TC), triglyceride (TG) and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL). Clinical and demographic covariates were added to the model *a priori*. A power calculation was not utilised as we felt this inappropriate due to the crosssectional nature of this study.

One way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was calculated for each lipid parameter after adjusting for age. Post hoc analysis with the Bonferroni adjustment was performed if statistical significance was detected. A two-way ANCOVA was also calculated for each lipid parameter to investigate the effect of statin prescription on lipid change. We opted to use quartiles of lipid parameter *a priori*. The statistical analysis was performed using RStudio, version 1.3.1056.

6.3 Results

There were 135 patients included in the analysis. The baseline demographics and clinical covariates are outlined in table 1. The mean age was 47 with a proportion of 80% male sex (n=108). The proportion of statin therapy at baseline was 17% (n=23). All patients taking baseline statin continued until the end of the study. Baseline lipids were assessed at a mean of 23 weeks prior to ART switch. Follow up lipids were assessed at a mean of 42 weeks post ART switch. There was no significant difference in mean lipid change for any lipid parameter (table 2).

The multiple regression models demonstrated significant associations for increasing baseline lipid quartile (compared to the first quartile) for TC (all p<0.001). The significant associations for TG were the highest baseline quartile only (p<0.001). The HDL model did not demonstrate any significant association with quartiles of HDL (table 3).

There were statistically significant differences between quartiles for each lipid parameter as outlined by the ANOVA test. In the post hoc analysis of ANOVA, the highest quartile of TC

had a statistically significantly significant mean change compared to each of the other quartiles (p<0.001) (supplementary data). The highest quartile of TG also had a statistically significant mean change from baseline compared to the other quartiles (p<0.001). The highest quartile of HDL had significant change compared to the first and third quartiles (p<0.001) (figure 1). In the two-sided ANCOVA test to assess for the variance in statin therapy, there was no statistical significance in any group.

In the subgroup analysis, there were 71 participants taking TAF based ART at baseline (52.6%) and 27 taking TDF based ART (20%) at baseline. Details of previous ART regime is provided in the supplementary data. In those switching from TDF there was a statistically significant increases in TC compared to those switching from TAF (mean increase: 0.34mmol/L for TDF versus -0.23mmol/L for TAF, p<0.001). In addition, there were significant differences in TG changes between those switching from TDF compared to TAF (mean increase: 0.61mmol/L for TDF versus a mean decrease of -0.06mmol/L, p<0.001 for TAF). There was no significant change between groups with HDL.

6.4 Discussion

The main finding from this real-world study investigating lipid change in patients switching to TAF/FTC/BIC for the whole cohort there was no significant change in lipid profile from baseline to follow up. However, our data shows that those with the most adverse lipid profile at baseline (highest quartile of TC, TG, and lowest quartile of HDL) have a significant improvement on follow up after switching. In our subgroup analysis we demonstrate that those switching from TDF based ART regimens have significantly worse lipid profiles than those switching from TAF based ART. These findings were confirmed in our sensitivity analysis.

TAF/FTC/BIC is considered to have a neutral effect on lipids and is recommended as first line treatment for HIV-1. It is also considered to be safe in those with high risk of CVD. Our data suggests that in those with the most adverse lipid profile may gain the most improvement in

lipid profile through switching to TAF/FTC/BIC. This result has not been replicated in other real-world data.

Prior work comparing the efficacy and safety of TAF/FTC/BIC and dolutegravir in treatmentnaïve individuals demonstrated that TAF/FTC/BIC-treated patients had significant increases in TC and LDL after 96 weeks compared to DTG/ABC/3TC (53). Stellbrink *et al* also demonstrated no significant difference in lipid change between treatment naïve individuals in those randomised to TAF/FTC/BIC or TAF/FTC/DTG (377). In a study of treatment experienced, virologically suppressed patients, Sax *et al* demonstrated no significant difference in lipids in those switching to TAF/FTC/BIC or TAF/FTC/DTG (378). Overall, our data did not show any significant change in lipid markers after switching to TAF/FTC/BIC. However, unlike these clinical trials our cohort was heterogenous in terms of clinical comorbidities and baseline ART.

The effect on lipid markers in those switching to TDF is well established. TDF is known to have favourable effects on the lipid profile and changing away from TDF to TAF causes worsening of these markers (379,380). TDF has also been shown to reduce lipid markers in healthy volunteers (381). The results of our sub study demonstrate that the adverse effect of changing from TDF to TAF remains consistent for those taking TAF/FTC/BIC.

The impact of switching to TAF/FTC/BIC in real world settings has been studied recently. Rolle *et al* investigated the safety implications of switching to TAF/FTC/BIC in patients >50 years. They demonstrated statistically significant decreases in all lipid markers through 48 weeks (382). The reasons why our results differ may lie in the proportions of clinical covariates and demographics. Our mean age was younger (mean 47 years compared with median 57 years) and we had less concomitant prescription of statins at baseline. In addition, the baseline ART was significantly different in both our studies. There were similar rates of TDF at baseline in both studies (20% in our current study versus 25%). However, in the study by Rolle *et al* there were 55% of patients taking dual NRTI plus INSTI at the point of switching. There was also higher rates of PI therapy in our study (23% versus 13%). There was also significantly lower rates of lipid lowering therapy at baseline in our study (17% versus 51%).

In our sensitivity analysis we utilised multiple regression models to assess any association of demographic and clinical covariates with change in each lipid marker. The highest quartile of TC and TG were significantly and independently associated with change in TC and TG. These results were independent of prior TDF therapy. Furthermore, statin therapy was independently associated with a reduction in TC (p=0.047). Switching away from PI was also associated with a reduction in TG (p=0.031). The sensitivity analysis also confirmed the results from the tenofovir sub study. Baseline TDF use significantly associated with increased TC and TG (p=0.031 and p=0.009 respectively).

The results from the regression models suggest that switching from PI is significantly associated with improvement in TG (table 3). PI therapy, particularly older generation PIs, has been demonstrated to be associated with adverse lipid profiles and adverse cardiometabolic risk. This risk seems to be most pronounced ritonavir-boosted preparations although modern preparation of PI have been shown to have less of an effect (45).

There were several limitations to our study. Firstly, We did not utilise the LDL measurements as part of this study as this was measured in an indirect way (Friedewald equation). Consequently, LDL data was missing in those that had TG >4.5mmol/L. In addition, although our multiple regression models demonstrated the significance of baseline lipid quartile with overall lipid change the overall fit of the models was poor. This may suggest alternate explanations that predict lipid change that were not measured within this study.

In addition, we were not able to control for change in lifestyle measures such as diet and exercise. The impact of these changes may influence changes in lipid measures to a certain

degree. We also did not quantify the reasons for swapping ARV. This may have introduced bias into the study as there are often broad reasons for switching ARV. For example, patients may have been switched away from PI-based therapy due top perceived CVD risk.

Despite these limitations our study had several strengths. Firstly, our cohort was extremely well characterised with no missing data. We were able to perform multiple assessments on the impact of clinical covariates on lipid change after an ART switch to TAF/FTC/BIC. This study was designed to be hypothesis generating rather than show definitive causality. The main results may have significant clinical relevance in the fact that the patients that stand to benefit the most in CVD risk reduction may be those with the most adverse lipid profiles. This seems to be independent of lipid lowering therapy. Furthermore, we were able to confirm our findings using a regression modelling in our sensitivity analysis.

6.5 Conclusion

We assessed the effect of changing ART to TAF/FTC/BIC on lipid panels in a real-world clinical setting. The results of this study largely confirm data from clinical trials regarding changes in lipid panels. However, we were able to demonstrate that those with the most adverse lipid panels (the highest quartile of TC, TG, and lowest quartile of HDL) had significant improvements in lipid markers after switching. The implications of these results are that clinicians may expect significant improvements in switching to TAF/FTC/BIC in those with the most adverse lipid profiles.

6.6 Tables and Figures

6.6.1 Table 1: Description of baseline demographics and clinical covariates in patients

switched to TAF/FTC/BIC.

Baseline demographics and clinical covariates					
Age (mean ±SD)	47.1 ± 11.6 years				
Male Sex (%)	108 (80%)				
Previous PI therapy (%)	31 (23%)				
Previous tenofovir therapy (%)	91 (67.4%)				
Current smoker (%)	38 (28.1%)				
Hypertension (%)	22 (16.3%)				
DMII (%)	8 (5.9%)				
Prior CVD (%)	1 (0.7%)				
eGFR (mean ±SD)	75.7 ± 13.6				
Length of HIV diagnosis (mean ±SD)	9.3 ±7.9 years				
Statin therapy (%)	23 (17%)				

PI; Protease inhibitor, DMII; type II diabetes, CVD; cardiovascular disease, eGFR; estimated glomerular filtration rate

6.6.2 Table 2: Comparison of mean lipid profiles pre and post antiretroviral therapy change

	Mean Pre-ART change	Mean Post-ART change	P value
TC (±SD)mmol/L	4.76 (±1.15)	4.72 (±1.04)	0.64
TG (±SD)mmol/L	2.00 (±1.44)	2.10 (±1.40)	0.64
HDL (±SD)mmol/L	1.32 (±0.45)	1.27 (±0.42)	0.08

6.6.3 Table 3: Regression coefficients and statistical significance of the multiple regression models assessing associations with change in lipid markers.

	ТС	TG	HDL
Intercept	0.16 (p=0.687)	-0.21 (p=0.825)	0.03 (p=0.846)
Baseline quartile 2	-0.32 (p=0.145)	0.14 (p=0.683)	-0.10 (p=0.211)
Baseline quartile 3	-0.55 (p=0.015)*	0.04 (p=0.894)	-0.07 (p=0.353)
Baseline quartile 4	-1.21 (p<0.005)*	-1.38 (p<0.005)*	-0.04 (p=0.594)
Age	0.01 (p=0.277)	0.00 (p=0.932)	0.00 (p=0.897)
Male Sex	-0.01 (p=0.991)	0.47 (p=0.111)	-0.03 (p=0.631)
statin therapy	-0.53 (p=0.047)*	0.04 (p=0.922)	0.04 (p=0.659)
Hypertension	0.20 (p=0.380)	-0.07 (p=0.825)	-0.09 (p=0.246)
DMII	-0.17 (p=0.622)	0.50 (p=0.346)	-0.14 (p=0.244)
Previous Pl	-0.16 (p=0.365)*	-0.60 (p=0.031)*	0.04 (p=0.489)
Previous TDF	0.45 (p=0.031)*	0.76 (p=0.009)*	0.04 (p=0.489)

DMII; type II diabetes, PI; protease inhibitor, * denotes statistical significance.

Quartile 2, 3 and 4 compared to the first quartile in the model.

6.6.4 Figure 1: ANCOVA for quartiles of baseline lipid parameter



Figure 1: Analysis of variance for each individual lipid parameter. Each quartile of lipid parameter was compared to assess the mean lipid change and adjusted for age. The Y-axis represents mean change, the X-axis represents quartiles of lipid profile. The vertical lines in each quartile represent 95 % confidence intervals. The ANOVA result is above each graph. Significance is denoted by ***.

TC; total cholesterol, TG; triglyceride, HDL; high-density lipoprotein cholesterol

7 The effect of switching antiretroviral therapy on lipid profiles in a real-world setting.

7.1 Introduction

The advent of ART has dramatically reduced the prevalence of AIDS-defining illness and increased the life expectancy in patients diagnosed with HIV (372). HIV-positive patients are now succumbing to traditional diseases of ageing. CVD remains one of the leading causes of death in this patient group, with HIV-positive patients having up to double the risk of matched general population patients (383). One of the major contributors to this risk is dyslipidaemia. The D:A:D study found that for every 1mmol/L increase in (TC) the risk of myocardial infarction increased by 26%. The risk dropped by 28% for each 1mmol/L increase in HDL cholesterol (38).

Specific ART regimes are known to contribute to dyslipidaemia. Early generation PIs caused lipodystrophy, insulin resistance and dyslipidaemia due to their effect on insulin signalling and triglyceride storage (384,385). Modern preparations may have less of a cardiometabolic impact which may translate into reduced CVD risk. However, the effect of PI induced CVD risk is only partially explained by dyslipidaemia (45). NNRTI therapy, such as efavirenz, is also associated with increased TC. NNRTI induced dyslipidaemia does not appear to translate to increased cardiac events (38).

INSTI are a modern class of ART that is prescribed in combination with NRTI backbone therapy. They are known to have several metabolic effects including pronounced weight gain, blood pressure changes and unfavourable changes in HBA1c (114,386). Rates of dyslipidaemia with INSTI have been shown to be better than boosted PI therapy (102). Long term data on the translation to CVD risk is awaited.

Data on lipid changes from switching ART is often reported in clinical trials analysing a specific regimes against the previous standard of care. The multiple agents used in ART can

make it difficult to tease out the specific agent that may be contributing to changing lipid panels. Dyslipidaemia remains a significant contributor to CVD risk and in the context of increasing CVD burdens, a full understanding of the implications of ART switching is required. We sought to analyse our real-world data to establish the impact of changing ART on lipid panels.

7.2 Methods

We conducted a retrospective analysis to compare changes in lipid profiles in patients undergoing ART switch. Data were collected from the Royal Liverpool University Hospital HIV clinical database. The database is approved by the host institution audit committee and functions as an electronic patient record. Data, including demographic, clinical covariates, and ART details, were collected from patient visits between January 2018 and December 2020. Laboratory data, including lipid panels, were crossed checked with the Trust clinical systems and recorded in the database.

Participants were eligible if they were >18 years and had switched to ART within the study period. Participants were required to have lipid panels available <12 months before ART switch and <12 months following ART switch. We restricted the analysis to those switching to the six most common ART regimes which gave a sample size of 329. A power calculation was not utilised as we felt this inappropriate due to the cross-sectional nature of this study.

7.2.1 Study Outcomes

The primary outcome was the mean lipid change for each ART regime. We summarised and compared the baseline demographics, clinical covariates, and lipid panels across the whole group. Secondary outcomes included calculation of odds ratios for each ART regime for the highest quartile of TC, TG and HDL change.

7.2.2 Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables are summarised as means (± standard deviations) where normally distributed. Non-normally distributed continuous variables are presented as medians (± interquartile ranges). Categorical variables are summarised as absolute figures with percentages. The mean lipid change for each constituent of the lipid profile are compared using a paired T-test. We compared the demographic and clinical covariates between ART regimes using one-way ANCOVA for continuous variables and chi-squared test for categorical variables. Statistical significance was assumed with p<0.05.

The change for each lipid parameter was calculated and placed in quartiles. We performed binary logistic regression to calculate odds ratios for each ART class. The highest quartile as lipid change was used as dependent variable. Covariates were added to the sequential models *a priori*. Odd ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) were used to demonstrate the degree of association.

For the sensitivity analysis, we constructed a random forest algorithm to assess the variables of importance in predicting the highest quartile of each lipid constituent. Each clinical and demographic variable used in the logistic regression model was used in the random forest model. The results are displayed using a variable of importance chart using mean decrease in Gini index. The statistical analysis and development of the models were performed using RStudio, version 1.3.1056.

7.3 Results

There were 329 participants included in the analysis. The majority were male (66.9%) and had a mean age of 46.8 (±10.9) years. Baseline therapy was characterised by preparation of tenofovir and presence of PI. The majority (66.6%) of patients were taking a preparation of tenofovir with the majority of those taking TDF (51.4%). There were 26.1% of patients taking PI at baseline (table 1).

There were significant differences between clinical covariates stratified by ART regime switch (table 2). Those switching to RPV/FTC/TAF had a significantly higher proportion of statin prescription compared to other groups (p<0.05 for interactions). There were also greater proportions of hypertension, type II diabetes and chronic kidney disease (CKD) in the RPV/FTC/TAF group compared to other groups (p<0.05 for interaction terms). The D/C/FTC/TAF group and E/C/FTC/TAF group had a higher proportion of previous tenofovir compared to other groups. Prior PI prescription was also significantly higher in the D/C/FTC/TAF group compared to other groups (p<0.005).

For the whole group the mean TC was significantly higher post ART switch (p<0.005). The mean TG was also significantly higher post switch (p=0.031). There was no significant difference in HDL (p=0.520) (table 3). TC increased significantly from baseline in those switching to EFV/FTC/TDF, E/C/FTC/TAF, RPV/FTC/TAF and D/C/FTC/TAF (all p<0.005). TC decreased significantly in those switched to RPV/FTC/TDF and DOL/ABC/3TC (p<0.005 for both). TG increased significantly from baseline in those switched to EFV/FTC/TDF (p=0.023), E/C/FTC/TAF (p=0.039), RPV/FTC/TAF (p=0.032) and D/C/FTC/TAF (p=0.033). TG dropped significantly for those switched to RPV/FTC/TDF (p=0.010) and DOL/ABC/3TC (p=0.033). There was no significant change in HDL for any of the ART regimes (Table 4).

In the multivariate analysis both D/C/FTC/TAF and RPV/FTC/TDF were associated with the highest quartile of TC in the adjusted model (OR: 2.85, p<0.005 and OR:0.09, p=0.021 respectively). None of the ART regimes were significantly associated with the highest quartile of TG or HDL in either the univariate or adjusted models (table 5).

In the sensitivity analysis we performed random forest to assess the variables of importance for the highest quartile of each lipid constituent. For the TC model we found that age, followed by ART regime, were the most important by mean decrease in Gini index. This was also true in the TG and HDL models (figure 2).
7.4 Discussion

We sought to analyse our real-world data to establish which specific ART regimes contribute to changing lipid profiles. We assessed data from the top six most prescribed ART regimes within our local service. The main findings from this study are that switching ART resulted in significant alterations in lipid profiles. Switching to TAF (TAF) containing preparations, D/C/FTC/TAF, E/C/FTC/TAF and RPV/FTC/TAF, resulted in significantly increased TC and TG (Table 4). Switching to TDF containing preparations had mixed results with RPV/FTC/TDF demonstrating a significant reduction in TC and TG whilst, in contrast, EFV/FTC/TDF produced significant increases in TC and TG. None of the preparations demonstrated any significant alterations in HDL.

Within the whole group there was a significant increase in TC and TG with no significant change in HDL. Within group analysis demonstrated that TC increases were significantly associated with switching to EFV/FTC/TDF, E/C/FTC/TAF, RPV/FTC/TAF and D/C/FTC/TAF (all p<0.005). There was a significant decrease in TC in those switching to RPV/FTC/TDF and DOL/ABC/3TC. Switching to TAF containing preparations from TDF has previously been shown to increase constituents of the lipid panel (387). In the recently published report from the OPERA cohort, it was demonstrated that switching from TDF to TAF resulted in 5-10% increase in TC, 21-27% increase in TG and 30-35% reduction in HDL (387). In our cohort, the three TAF containing ART regimes were associated with significantly increased TC and TG with no significant impact on HDL. In those switching to TAF regimes, just under half had previously been taking TDF based regimes for those switching to D/C/FTC/TAF and E/C/FTC/TAF (49.3% and 48.6% respectively). In those switching to RPV/FTC/TAF, the majority had previously taken a TDF based regime (62.2%). Figure 1 compares changes in lipid based on tenofovir preparation at baseline.

The proportion of clinical covariates, prior ART and statin therapy varied between groups. To assess the differences between different ART regimes on lipid change we constructed a multivariate model using the highest quartile of change in each lipid marker as the dependent variable. D/C/FTC/TAF was independently associated with increasing TC whilst

other TAF containing preparations were not. Reasons for this may lie in the third agents used in these preparations. RPV/FTC/TAF contains RPV which has been shown to have a neutral effect on lipids (48,388) whilst D/C/FTC/TAF contains boosted DRV. The effect of cobicistat boosted DRV on lipid profiles is unclear. Previously, it has been shown that cobicistat-boosted DRV has a beneficial effect in those switching from ritonavir-boosted DRV. However, these results may be confounded by TDF and potential for cobicistat boosting of TDF level (389). Our data suggest that boosted DRV may contribute to worsening lipid profiles, independent of previous ART regime.

E/C/FTC/TAF contains ETG which is an INSTI. ETG has been demonstrated to have a deleterious effect on lipid profile compared to other INSTI in treatment naïve individuals (390). This does not appear to be a class effect, however, switching to INSTI has been associated with significant weight gain (391,392). E/C/FTC/TAF has been shown to be associated with increased rates of dyslipidaemia and weight gain in a Taiwanese population (391). Most patients in this study were taking TDF prior to changing to E/C/FTC/TAF. TDF has been demonstrated to reduce TC and LDL in healthy volunteers, although no significant change in TG was noted (381). In our data less than half of the patients switched to E/C/FTC/TAF were taking TDF at baseline. Although there was a significant increase in TC and TG in those switching to E/C/FTC/TAF there was no independent association with the highest quartile of TC and TG change after adjusting for baseline ART. This may suggest that adverse lipid changes related to switching to E/C/FTC/TAF are related to prior TDF therapy.

RPV/FTC/TDF demonstrated a significant reduction in TC and TG. It was also significantly and independently associated with negative changes in the highest quartile of TC but not TG or HDL. EFV/FTC/TDF, the other TDF containing regime in this cohort, demonstrated a significant increase in both TC and TG but no significant association in the multivariate model. These results are in keeping with previous findings regarding TDF preparations. The third agent in EFV/FTC/TDF, efavirenz, has been shown to have an adverse lipid profile compared to RPV. Significant improvements in lipid profiles has been reported in those switching from efavirenz to RPV (393–395). However, efavirenz has been associated with

increased HDL (394) although these results are not universal (395). Our data suggest that efavirenz containing preparations are associated with worsening lipid profiles compared to RPV containing ART.

In patients switching to DOL/ABC/3TC there was a significant reduction in mean TC and mean TG from baseline (p<0.05 and p=0.033 respectively). DOL/ABC/3TC has previously been shown to have a neutral effect on lipids (396,397). In our multivariate analysis there was no significant association in those switching to DOL/ABC/3TC with the highest quartile of TC, TG or HDL. The mean reduction in TC and TG in those switching to DOL/ABC/3TC may be because of the high proportion of patients taking prior PI as part of their baseline ART (30% PI at baseline).

The sensitivity analysis was performed using the machine learning technique of random forest. This ignores the assumptions required for traditional regression models and provides an alternative robust assessment into variables that have an impact on the dependent variable. The model demonstrates that age and the ART regime were the most important variables in predicted the highest quartile of lipid change.

The overall results from this study are broadly in keeping with previously documented changes in lipids in those undergoing ART change. The impact of changing ART on lipid change has been well documented but most data is from clinical trials. The magnitude of change on each marker is small and clinical impact of these changes is uncertain. There has been numerous studies investigating the impact on CVD risk scores in patients undergoing ART switch (387). Whilst these scores can offer a guide, they remain an imprecise tool for investigating excess CVD risk, especially in HIV-populations (370). Furthermore, any change in lipid profile because of ART switch has not been demonstrated to increase hard cardiovascular events. The difficulty in studying hard endpoints for CVD in this population is related to the low numbers of events and high numbers to adequately power any study.

However, translational work such as the effect on coronary plaque morphology using CTCA, could be utilised to gain insights into cardiovascular risk in those switching ART.

There were limitations to our study. Firstly, this study was retrospective in design and as such no causal conclusions can be drawn from this study. Secondly, we did not include markers of LDL. Due to the real world nature of this study there were high proportions of laboratory data for LDL that were missing. This was most commonly due to errors in the Friedewald formula to estimate LDL from TC, HDL, and TG. The remainder of the data is extremely well characterised with no missing data. We did not wish to compromise the result with estimations of LDL.

Despite these limitations there several strengths. We sought to investigate the effect of changing ART in a real-world setting. Most data on lipid change comes from clinical trial data. Our study gives insight into the implications of ART switches in a real-world setting. The dataset was extremely well characterised and complete giving a robust analysis. We utilised machine learning techniques to perform a sensitivity analysis which confirmed the main findings from this study.

7.5 Conclusions

The principal implications of this study are that ART choice influences lipid change in patients undergoing ART switch. The significant changes in TC and TG in those switching to TAF containing ART is likely explained by prior TDF use. Similarly, in those switching to TDF based regimes we demonstrated a significant reduction except in those ART containing efavirenz. These results largely confirm data from clinical trials regarding lipid increases with TAF based preparations. The degree to which these changes have any clinical implications, regarding CVD risk, is yet to be fully elucidated.

7.6 Figures and Tables

7.6.1 Table 1: Demographic and clinical covariates for the whole cohort

Clinical variable	n=329
Age (mean(SD))	46.8 (±10.9)
Male Sex (%)	220 (66.9%)
Hypertension (%)	47 (14.3%)
Type II diabetes(%)	21 (6.4%)
Ischaemic heart disease	1 (0.3%)
(%)	
CKD III or above (%)	26 (7.9%)
Current smoker (%)	76 (23.1%)
Ex-smoker (%)	10 (3%)
Total cholesterol	4.71 (±1.1)
(mean(SD))	
HDL cholesterol	1.36 (±0.43)
(mean(SD))	
Triglyceride (mean(SD))	1.62 (±1.09)
Prior TDF (%)	169 (51.4%)
Prior TAF (%)	50 (15.2%)
Prior PI (%)	86 (26.1%)
Statin therapy (%)	32 (9.7%)

CKD; chronic kidney disease, TDF; tenofovir disoproxil fumarate, TAF; tenofovir alafenamide, PI; protease inhibitor

7.6.2 Table 2: Clinical variable stratified by ART regime

		D/C/FTC/TAF	E/C/FTC/TAF	EFV/FTC/TDF	RPV/FTC/TDF	RPV/FTC/TAF	DOL/ABC/3TC	p value
Clinical variable	n=329	71	72	30	26	90	40	
Age (mean(SD))	46.8 (±10.9)	45.6 (±10.4)	47.3 (±10.1)	44.2 (±10.2)	50.3 (±10.1)	51.3 (±10.8)	44.9 (±10.8)	<0.005
Male Sex (%)	220 (66.9%)	48 (67.6%)	49 (68.0%)	22 (73.3%)	12 (46.1%)	61 (67.8%)	28 (70%)	0.319
Hypertension (%)	47 (14.3%)	6 (8.5%)	12 (16.7%)	7 (23.3%)	0 (0%)	19 (21.1%)	3 (7.5%)	0.019
Type II diabetes(%)	21 (6.4%)	1 (1.4%)	3 (4.2%)	3 (10%)	0 (0%)	14 (15.6%)	0 (0%)	<0.005
Ischaemic heart disease (%)	1 (0.3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (3.3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0.075
CKD III or above (%)	26 (7.9%)	3 (4.2%)	5 (6.9%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	12 (13.3%)	6 (15%)	0.027
Current smoker (%)	76 (23.1%)	23 (32.4%)	19 (26.4%)	7 (23.3%)	0 (0%)	12 (13.3%)	10 (25%)	0.108
Ex-smoker (%)	10 (3%)	1 (1.4%)	2 (2.8%)	2 (6.7%)	0 (0%)	3 (3.3%)	2 (5%)	0.645
Total cholesterol (mean(SD))	4.71 (±1.1)	4.60 (±1.09)	4.70 (±1.08)	4.83 (±1.10)	4.84 (±1.03)	4.72 (±1.10)	4.71(±1.10)	0.922
(mmol/L)								
HDL cholesterol (mean(SD))	1.36 (±0.43)	1.30 (±0.41)	1.35 (±0.41)	1.46 (±0.41)	1.45 (±0.41)	1.36 (±0.43)	1.36 (±0.42)	0.509
(mmol/L)								
Triglyceride (mean(SD))	1.62 (±1.09)	1.68 (±1.11)	1.59 (±1.12)	1.42 (±1.12)	1.38 (±1.07)	1.77 (±0.92)	1.57 (±1.10)	0.517
(mmol/L)								
Prior TDF (%)	169 (51.4%)	35 (49.2%)	35 (48.6%)	21 (70%)	10 (38.4%)	56 (62.2%)	12 (30%)	<0.005
Prior TAF (%)	50 (15.2%)	21 (29.6%)	13 (18.1%)	0 (0%)	3 (11.5%)	7 (7.8%)	6 (15%)	<0.005
Prior PI (%)	86 (26.1%)	54 (76.1%)	13 (18.1%)	0 (0%)	2 (7.7%)	5 (5.6%)	12 (30%)	<0.005

Statin therapy (%)	32 (9.7%)	2 (2.8%)	3 (4.2%)	4 (13.3%)	1 (3.8%)	20 (22.2%)	2 (5%)	<0.005

7.6.3 Table 3: Mean lipid change for the whole cohort

	Mean baseline	Mean (Post ART change)	p value
Total cholesterol (±SD)	4.71 (±1.1)	4.91 (±1.08)	<0.005
(mmol/L)			
Triglyceride (±SD)	1.62 (±1.09)	1.75 (±1.18)	0.031
(mmol/L)			
High-density lipoprotein (±SD)	1.36 (±0.43)	1.37 (±0.40)	0.520
(mmol/L)			

7.6.4 Table 4: Mean lipid panel change stratified by ART regime

ART	Mean	Mean TC post	p value	Mean baseline TG	Mean TG	p value	Mean baseline	Mean HDL	p value
	baseline TC	switch		(mmol/L)	post switch		HDL	post	
	(mmol/L)	(mmol/L)			(mmol/L)		(mmol/L)	switch	
								(mmol/L)	
EFV/FTC/TDF	4.83	4.91	<0.005	1.42	1.55	0.023	1.46	1.43	0.322
(n=30)									
RPV/FTC/TDF	4.89	4.41	<0.005	1.38	1.25	0.010	1.45	1.25	0.330
(n=26)									
E/C/FTC/TAF	4.70	5.11	<0.005	1.59	1.80	0.039	1.35	1.42	0.357
(n= 72)									
RPV/FTC/TAF	4.72	4.74	<0.005	1.77	1.80	0.032	1.36	1.35	0.498
(n=90)									
DOL/ABC/3TC	4.71	4.63	<0.005	1.57	1.45	0.033	1.36	1.39	0.481
(n=40)									
D/C/FTC/TAF	4.60	5.28	<0.005	1.68	1.99	0.033	1.30	1.34	0.276
(n=71)									

	Total Choleste			Triglyceride				High Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol				
Predictor	Univariate	р	Adjusted	р	Univariate	р	Adjusted	р	Univariate	р	Adjusted Model	p value
	(95% CI)	value	Model	value	(95% CI)	value	(95% CI)	value	(95% CI)	value	(95% CI)	
			(95% CI)									
RPV/FTC/	0.11 (0.01-	0.03	0.09 (0.01-	0.021	0.52 (0.15-	0.248	0.51 (0.14-1.49)	0.256	0.25 (0.04-0.88)	0.066	0.24 (0.04-0.87)	0.062
TDF	0.53	1	0.46)		1.42)							
E/C/FTC/T	1.44 (0.80-	0.21	1.60 (0.86-	0.132	1.72 (0.96-	0.064	1.62 (0.88-2.95)	0.114	2.10 (1.17-3.70)	0.011	2.26 (1.24-4.10)	0.007
AF	2.56)	3	2.92)		3.02)							
RPV/FTC/	0.89 (0.49-	0.68	1.26 (0.65-	0.493	0.75 (0.41-	0.328	0.82 (0.42-1.58)	0.565	0.91 (0.80-11.54)	0.756	0.91 (0.47-1.74)	0.786
TAF	1.55)	2	2.40)		1.32)							
D/C/FTC/	2.67 (1.52-	<0.00	2.85 (1.33-	0.007	1.24(0.68-	0.476	1.54(0.69-3.54)	0.288	0.76 (0.38-1.42)	0.408	0.57 (0.24-1.31)	0.198
TAF	4.68)	5	6.21)		2.21)							
DOL/ABC/	0.49 (0.18-	0.12	0.47 (0.17-	0.114	1.00 (0.45-	0.991	0.99 (0.42-2.18)	0.977	1.69 (0.80-3.41)	0.151	1.93 (0.88-4.08)	0.090
ЗТС	1.15	8	1.13)		2.09)							
EFV/FTC/	0.31 (0.07-	0.06	0.30 (0.07-	0.060	0.58 (0.19-	0.278	0.42 (0.13-0.96)	0.109	0.38 (0.08-1.00)	0.082	0.27 (0.06-0.83)	0.042
TDF	0.91)	0	0.92		1.44)							

7.6.5 Table 5: Logistic Regression models for the highest quartile of lipid change

Adjusted for statin therapy, age, sex, diabetes, hypertension, current smoking and previous ART

7.6.6 Figure 1: Lipid change per ART clustered by baseline preparation of tenofovir

Panel A: Change in total cholesterol



Panel B: Change in triglyceride





Panel C: Change in high-density lipoprotein cholesterol.

7.6.7 Figure 2: Variable of importance plots for each constituent of the lipid panel.



Variable Importance Plot for the Highest Quartile of T



Variable Importance Plot for the Highest Quartile of T

MeanDecreaseGini

8. General Discussion

We have demonstrated significant associations between markers of ectopic fat deposition, HS and EAT volume, and incident CVD in PLWHIV. In these two imaging studies this association was not significant in the general population groups. These findings hint at HIVspecific pathways linking ectopic fat with CVD and is consistent with knowledge of HIV and ART induced changes in adipocyte homeostasis and pressures towards 'central' fat accumulation.

This work opens several exciting directions of travel using imaging biomarkers. Firstly, mechanistic studies describing the relationship between multiple markers of ectopic fat (EAT volume, HS, VAT volume) and adipocyte structure and function should be forthcoming. Initial work by Gabriel *et al* have first described some of the relationships between HS and gene expression in SAT (312). This should be further expanded to encompass the effect of specific ART's and the relationship with EAT volume and density. As described, INSTI are a first line ART but is increasingly recognised as causing profound weight gain and metabolic syndrome. In one recent study INTSI have been linked with increased rates if CVD (115). The study investigating use of TAF/FTC/BIC in a real-world setting (chapter 6) does indicate that lipid panels improve, but significantly in those with the worst levels. How this translates to CVD risk needs further work.

CTCA has been used frequently to assess surrogates for CVD risk in PLWHIV. The biggest driver of CVD risk is atherosclerotic plaque burden. The use of plaque volumes and plaque morphology is relatively underutilised in mechanistic studies. Barriers to this may include the time-consuming nature of measuring non-calcified plaque in CTCA post-processing techniques. In an ancillary paper associated with this work, we found significant associations with low-attenuation plaque and HS (398). Studies utilising plaque volumes and plaque morphology with ectopic fat measurements would further add to our understanding of risk. Furthermore, longitudinal studies investigating the natural progression of HS and EAT are lacking in this patient cohort.

There have been several recent developments using CTCA datasets and risk prediction. Perivascular adipose tissue has recently been demonstrated to be significant in enhancing risk predication. The attenuation of the immediate fat surrounding epicardial coronary arteries (within one radial length of the lumen) has been shown to be correlated with adipocyte size, dysfunction and inflammation (399). It is not clear if this reflects inflammation generated at the coronary artery endothelium or inflammation generated at the level of the adipocyte. This has been amalgamated into AI algorithms and found to be additive to risk prediction when using traditional metrics (400). There have been no published studies investigating the role of perivascular adipose tissue attenuation in PLWHIV. Given the associations of ectopic fat and HIV disease demonstrated in this work and the great need to enhance risk prediction, investigating the use of PVAT in PLWHIV is of great interest.

Recent developments in heart failure medical therapy have led to SGLT2-I becoming first line therapy for patients with HFrEF. The mechanism of action involves competitive antagonism of the SGLT2 receptor in the proximal convoluted tubule, reducing glucose resorption and causing glucosuria (401). Beyond its ability to improve insulin sensitivity it has been demonstrated to improve outcomes in patients with heart failure (402). Likely mechanism involves improvement of myocyte energy handling by promotion of switching to beta oxidation (403). It has also been shown to reduce EAT volume and pro-inflammatory cytokines (404–406). Given the HIV-specific risk associated with ectopic fat, as demonstrated here, using ectopic fat as a therapeutic target for risk reduction is an exciting future research focus. Further, therapeutics including GLP-1 agonists, may have the capacity to modulate ectopic fat deposition and provide incremental risk reduction.

The work in this thesis (chapters 6 and 7) has documented the effect of switching ART on lipid panels and thus perceived CVD risk. Switching away from TDF based preparations has been extensively demonstrated to result in increased metrics of the lipid profile. The extent to which this translates into true CVD risk has not been demonstrated. TAF/FTC/BIC is a modern preparation of ART and considered first line therapy. Chapter 6 demonstrates the beneficial effect on lipid profiles in those in the 'worst' quartile of lipid panels, which may indicate those with the highest CVD risk stand to gain the most from switching to TAF/FTC/BIC. Aside from changes in lipid panels switching to INSTI-based ART has been associated with significant weight gain and metabolic syndrome. Worryingly, INSTI has also been implicated in excess CVD outcomes (115). Translational research utilising CTCA-based radiomics could be deployed to help elucidate the effect of INSTI on coronary plaque, EAT and HS. Furthermore, longitudinal studies using sequential CTCA could be used to understand the effect of ART switches and novel therapeutics on markers of plaque and ectopic fat.

There have been multiple attempts to augment risk calculation tools to be specific for HIV disease. These have incorporated HIV-specific features but still significantly underperform. We attempted to generate a coronary calcium risk prediction tool and compare it against FRS. Whilst this has obvious limitations, (doesn't include non-calcified plaque or EAT volume), it is the only risk prediction tool to include ectopic fat (HS). Future work should focus on development and integration of novel risks and radiomics for inclusion in risk prediction algorithms.

The impending health and economic implications of excess CVD in PLWHIV needs urgent attention. It is hoped that this work will set the foundations for mechanistic studies and ultimately translational research into the aetiology of CVD in PLWHIV. Precise risk prediction in PLWHIV is also a necessity due to the risk of drug-drug interactions (particularly with statins). The use of novel therapeutics targeting ectopic fat is of great interest and likely to drive future investment in randomised control trials in PLWHIV.

9. References

- 1. Zhu T, Korber BT, Nahmias AJ, Hooper E, Sharp PM, Ho DD. An African HIV-1 sequence from 1959 and implications for the of the epidemic. Nature. 1998;391(6667):594–7.
- 2. Gao F, Balles E, Robertson DL, Chen Y, Rodenburg CM, Michael SF, et al. Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes troglodytes. Nature. 1999;397(6718):436–41.
- Frank TD, Carter A, Jahagirdar D, Biehl MH, Douwes-Schultz D, Larson SL, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and mortality of HIV, 1980–2017, and forecasts to 2030, for 195 countries and territories: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors Study 2017. Lancet HIV [Internet]. 2019;6(12):e831–59. Available from: http://10.0.3.248/s2352-3018(19)30196-1
- Croxford S, Kitching A, Desai S, Kall M, Edelstein M, Skingsley A, et al. Mortality and causes of death in people diagnosed with HIV in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy compared with the general population: an analysis of a national observational cohort. Lancet Public Heal [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2019 Mar 20];2(1):e35–46. Available from: www.thelancet.com/
- Broder S. The development of antiretroviral therapy and its impact on the HIV-1/AIDS pandemic. Antiviral Res [Internet]. 2010;85(1):1–18. Available from: http://10.0.3.248/j.antiviral.2009.10.002
- Survival after introduction of HAART in people with known duration of HIV-1 infection. Lancet [Internet]. 2000 Apr 1 [cited 2018 Oct 3];355(9210):1158–9. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140673600020699
- Mocroft A, Katlama C, Johnson AM, Pradier C, Antunes F, Mulcahy F, et al. AIDS across Europe, 1994-98: the EuroSIDA study. Lancet (London, England) [Internet].
 2000 Jul 22 [cited 2018 Oct 3];356(9226):291–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11071184

- Cheney L, Barbaro JM, Berman JW. Antiretroviral Drugs Impact Autophagy with Toxic Outcomes. Cells [Internet]. 2021;10(4):909. Available from: http://10.0.13.62/cells10040909
- Cohen IS, Anderson DW, Virmani R, Reen BM, Macher AM, Sennesh J, et al.
 Congestive cardiomyopathy in association with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1986 Sep;315(10):628–30.
- 10. Paton P, Tabib A, Loire R, Tete R. Coronary artery lesions and human immunodeficiency virus infection. Res Virol. 1993;144(3):225–31.
- Joshi V V, Pawel B, Connor E, Sharer L, Oleske JM, Morrison S, et al. Arteriopathy in children with acquired immune deficiency syndrome. Pediatr Pathol. 1987;7(3):261– 75.
- 12. Tabib A, Leroux C, Mornex JF, Loire R. Accelerated coronary atherosclerosis and arteriosclerosis in young human-immunodeficiency-virus-positive patients. Coron Artery Dis. 2000 Feb;11(1):41–6.
- Mayer KH, Passalaris JD, Sepkowitz KA, Glesby MJ. Coronary Artery Disease and Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2000 Sep 1 [cited 2018 Aug 16];31(3):787–97. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/cid/articlelookup/doi/10.1086/313995
- Feingold KR, Krauss RM, Pang M, Doerrler W, Jensen P, Grunfeld C. The hypertriglyceridemia of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome is associated with an increased prevalence of low density lipoprotein subclass pattern B. J Clin Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 1993 Jun 1;76(6):1423–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.76.6.8501146
- Nansseu JR, Bigna JJ, Kaze AD, Noubiap JJ. Incidence and risk factors for prediabetes and diabetes mellitus among HIV-infected adults on antiretroviral therapy.
 Epidemiology. 2018;29(3):431–41.
- Smit M, Brinkman K, Geerlings S, Smit C, Thyagarajan K, van Sighem A V., et al. Future challenges for clinical care of an ageing population infected with HIV: A modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis [Internet]. 2015;15(7):810–8. Available from:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00056-0

- Shah ASV, Stelzle D, Ken Lee K, Beck EJ, Alam S, Clifford S, et al. Global burden of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in people living with HIV systematic review and meta-analysis [Internet]. Vol. 138, Circulation. 2018 [cited 2018 Aug 13]. p. 1100–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29967196
- Silverberg MJ, Leyden WA, Xu L, Horberg MA, Chao CR, Towner WJ, et al. Immunodeficiency and Risk of Myocardial Infarction Among HIV-Positive Individuals With Access to Care. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2014 Feb 1 [cited 2018 Aug 10];65(2):160–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24442222
- Paisible AL, Chang CCH, So-Armah KA, Butt AA, Leaf DA, Budoff M, et al. HIV infection, cardiovascular disease risk factor profile, and risk for acute myocardial infarction. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015 Feb 1;68(2):209–16.
- 20. Triant VA, Lee H, Hadigan C, Grinspoon SK. Increased acute myocardial infarction rates and cardiovascular risk factors among patients with human immunodeficiency virus disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(7):2506–12.
- Lang S, Mary-Krause M, Cotte L, Gilquin J, Partisani M, Simon A, et al. Increased risk of myocardial infarction in HIV-infected patients in France, relative to the general population. AIDS [Internet]. 2010;24(8). Available from: https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2010/05150/Increased_risk_of_myocar dial infarction in.21.aspx
- Baldé A, Lang S, Wagner A, Ferrières J, Montaye M, Tattevin P, et al. Trends in the risk of myocardial infarction among HIV-1-infected individuals relative to the general population in France: Impact of gender and immune status. PLoS One [Internet].
 2019;14(1):e0210253. Available from: http://10.0.5.91/journal.pone.0210253
- 23. Quiros-Roldan E, Raffetti E, Focà E, Brianese N, Ferraresi A, Paraninfo G, et al. Incidence of cardiovascular events in HIV-positive patients compared to general population over the last decade: a population-based study from 2000 to 2012. AIDS Care - Psychol Socio-Medical Asp AIDS/HIV [Internet]. 2016;28(12):1551–8. Available

from: https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2016.1198750

- 24. Womack JA, Chang CCH, So-Armah KA, Alcorn C, Baker J V., Brown ST, et al. HIV infection and cardiovascular disease in women. J Am Heart Assoc. 2014;3(5):1–8.
- Hyle EP, Mayosi BM, Middelkoop K, Mosepele M, Martey EB, Walensky RP, et al. The association between HIV and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2017;17(1):1–15.
- 26. Gulick RM, Mellors JW, Havlir D, Eron JJ, Gonzalez C, McMahon D, et al. Treatment with indinavir, zidovudine, and lamivudine in adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection and prior antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1997 Sep 11 [cited 2022 May 19];337(11):734–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9287228/
- Hammer SM, Squires KE, Hughes MD, Grimes JM, Demeter LM, Currier JS, et al. A Controlled Trial of Two Nucleoside Analogues plus Indinavir in Persons with Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection and CD4 Cell Counts of 200 per Cubic Millimeter or Less. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1997 Sep 11 [cited 2019 Jun 26];337(11):725–33. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJM199709113371101
- Martinez E, Mocroft A, García-Viejo MA, Pérez-Cuevas JB, Blanco JL, Mallolas J, et al. Risk of lipodystrophy in HIV-1-infected patients treated with protease inhibitors: a prospective cohort study. Lancet (London, England). 2001 Feb;357(9256):592–8.
- Carr A, Samaras K, Thorisdottir A, Kaufmann GR, Chisholm DJ, Cooper DA. Diagnosis, prediction, and natural course of HIV-1 protease-inhibitor-associated lipodystrophy, hyperlipidaemia, and diabetes mellitus: A cohort study. Lancet. 1999;353(9170):2093–9.
- Health advisory: high blood sugar and diabetes seen in protease inhibitor users.
 Critical Path AIDS project. 1997;28.
- De Waal R, Cohen K, Maartens G. Systematic Review of Antiretroviral-Associated Lipodystrophy: Lipoatrophy, but Not Central Fat Gain, Is an Antiretroviral Adverse Drug Reaction. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013;8(5):e63623. Available from: http://10.0.5.91/journal.pone.0063623

- McComsey GA, Moser C, Currier J, Ribaudo HJ, Paczuski P, Dubé MP, et al. Body composition changes after initiation of raltegravir or protease inhibitors: ACTG A5260s. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;62(7):853–62.
- Combination Antiretroviral Therapy and the Risk of Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2003;349(21):1993–2003. Available from: http://10.0.4.32/nejmoa030218
- Fontas E, Van Leth F, C., Friis-Møller N, Rickenbach M, D'Arminio Monforte A, et al. Lipid Profiles in HIV-Infected Patients Receiving Combination Antiretroviral Therapy: Are Different Antiretroviral Drugs Associated with Different Lipid Profiles? J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2004;189(6):1056–74. Available from: http://10.0.4.62/381783
- Rhew DC, Bernal M, Aguilar D, Iloeje U, Goetz MB. Association between Protease Inhibitor Use and Increased Cardiovascular Risk in Patients Infected with Human Immunodeficiency Virus: A Systematic Review. Clin Infect Dis. 2003;37(7):959–72.
- Holmberg SD, Moorman AC, Williamson JM, Tong TC, Ward DJ, Wood KC, et al.
 Protease inhibitors and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with HIV-1. Lancet (London, England) [Internet]. 2002 Nov 30 [cited 2018 Aug 30];360(9347):1747–8.
 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12480430
- Mary-Krause M, Cotte L, Simon A, Partisani M, Costagliola D. Increased risk of myocardial infarction with duration of protease inhibitor therapy in HIV-infected men. Aids. 2003;17(17):2479–86.
- 38. Friis-Moller N, Reiss P, Sabin CA, Weber R, Monforte ADA, El-Sadr W, et al. Class of antiretroviral drugs and the risk of myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med [Internet].
 2007 Apr 26 [cited 2018 Aug 16];356(17):1723–35. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMoa062744
- Tsiodras S, Mantzoros C, Hammer S, Samore M. Effects of Protease Inhibitors on Hyperglycemia, Hyperlipidemia, and Lipodystrophy. Arch Intern Med [Internet]. 2000 Jul 10 [cited 2019 Jul 18];160(13):2050. Available from: http://archinte.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/archinte.160.13.2050
- 40. Manfredi R, Chiodo F. Disorders of Lipid Metabolism in Patients with HIV Disease

Treated with Antiretroviral Agents: Frequency, Relationship with Administered Drugs, and Role of Hypolipidaemic Therapy with Bezafibrate. J Infect [Internet]. 2001 May 1 [cited 2019 Jul 18];42(3):181–8. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0163445301908291

- Fellay J, Boubaker K, Ledergerber B, Bernasconi E, Furrer H, Battegay M, et al.
 Prevalence of adverse events associated with potent antiretroviral treatment: Swiss
 HIV Cohort Study. Lancet. 2001;
- 42. P.E. S, P. K. Tolerability and safety of HIV protease inhibitors in adults. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2004;37(SUPPL. 1):1111–24. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L3 9166645%5Cnhttp://dx.doi.org/10.1097/01.qai.0000138420.38995.86%5Cnhttp://sfx .library.uu.nl/utrecht?sid=EMBASE&issn=15254135&id=doi:10.1097%2F01.qai.00001 38420.38995.86&atitle=Tole
- Périard D, Telenti A, Sudre P, Cheseaux JJ, Halfon P, Reymond MJ, et al. Atherogenic dyslipidemia in HIV-infected individuals treated with protease inhibitors. Circulation [Internet]. 1999 Aug 17 [cited 2019 Jul 18];100(7):700–5. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/01.CIR.100.7.700
- Signe, Sabin C, Weber R, Reiss P, El-Sadr W, Dabis F, et al. Risk of Myocardial Infarction in Patients with HIV Infection Exposed to Specific Individual Antiretroviral Drugs from the 3 Major Drug Classes: The Data Collection on Adverse Events of Anti-HIV Drugs (D:A:D) Study. J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2010;201(3):318–30. Available from: http://10.0.4.62/649897
- Ryom L, Lundgren JD, El-Sadr W, Reiss P, Kirk O, Law M, et al. Cardiovascular disease and use of contemporary protease inhibitors: the D:A:D international prospective multicohort study. Lancet HIV [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2018 Aug 15];5(6):e291– 300. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29731407
- 46. Costagliola D, Potard V, Lang S, De Castro N, Cotte L, Duval X, et al. The Journal of Infectious Diseases Is the Risk of Myocardial Infarction in People With Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Associated With Atazanavir or Darunavir? A Nested

Case-Control Study Within the French Hospital Database on HIV. J Infect Dis [®] [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Mar 2];221:516–38. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/jid/article-abstract/221/4/516/5673542

- Monforte ADA, Reiss P, Ryom L, El-Sadr W, Dabis F, De Wit S, et al. Atazanavir is not associated with an increased risk of cardio or cerebrovascular disease events. Aids. 2013;27(3):407–15.
- 48. Taramasso L, Tatarelli P, Ricci E, Madeddu G, Menzaghi B, Squillace N, et al. Improvement of lipid profile after switching from efavirenz or ritonavir-boosted protease inhibitors to rilpivirine or once-daily integrase inhibitors: Results from a large observational cohort study (SCOLTA). BMC Infect Dis. 2018;18(1):1–8.
- 49. Sabin CA, Worm SW, Weber R, Reiss P, El-Sadr W, Dabis F, et al. Use of nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors and risk of myocardial infarction in HIV-infected patients enrolled in the D:A:D study: A multi-cohort collaboration. Lancet [Internet].
 2008 Apr 26 [cited 2018 Aug 16];371(9622):1417–26. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18387667
- Wassner C, Bradley N, Lee Y. A Review and Clinical Understanding of Tenofovir: Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate versus Tenofovir Alafenamide. J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care. 2020;19:1–10.
- Ray AS, Fordyce MW, Hitchcock MJM. Tenofovir alafenamide: A novel prodrug of tenofovir for the treatment of Human Immunodeficiency Virus. Antiviral Res [Internet]. 2016;125:63–70. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2015.11.009
- Kamara DA, Smith C, Ryom L, Reiss P, Rickenbach M, Phillips A, et al. Longitudinal Analysis of the Associations between Antiretroviral Therapy, Viraemia and Immunosuppression with Lipid Levels: The D:A:D Study. Antivir Ther [Internet].
 2016;21(6):495–506. Available from: http://10.0.15.11/imp3051
- 53. Wohl DA, Yazdanpanah Y, Baumgarten A, Clarke A, Thompson MA, Brinson C, et al.
 Bictegravir combined with emtricitabine and tenofovir alafenamide versus
 dolutegravir, abacavir, and lamivudine for initial treatment of HIV-1 infection: week

96 results from a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. Lancet HIV [Internet]. 2019;6(6):e355–63. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(19)30077-3

- Milinkovic A, Berger F, Arenas-Pinto A, Mauss S. Reversible effect on lipids by switching from tenofovir disoproxil fumarate to tenofovir alafenamide and back. Aids. 2019;33(15):2387–91.
- 55. Schafer JJ, Sassa KN, O'Connor JR, Shimada A, Keith SW, DeSimone JA. Changes in body mass index and atherosclerotic disease risk score after switching from tenofovir disoproxil fumarate to tenofovir alafenamide. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2019;6(10):1–4.
- Kauppinen KJ, Aho I, Sutinen J. Switching from tenofovir alafenamide to tenofovir disoproxil fumarate improves lipid profile and protects from weight gain. Aids. 2022;36(10):1337–44.
- 57. Eron JJ, Orkin C, Cunningham D, Pulido F, Post FA, De Wit S, et al. Week 96 efficacy and safety results of the phase 3, randomized EMERALD trial to evaluate switching from boosted-protease inhibitors plus emtricitabine/tenofovir disoproxil fumarate regimens to the once daily, single-tablet regimen of darunavir/cobicistat/. Antiviral Res [Internet]. 2019;170(July):104543. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2019.104543
- Huhn GD, Shamblaw DJ, Baril JG, Hsue PY, Mills BL, Nguyen-Cleary T, et al.
 Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk profile of tenofovir alafenamide versus tenofovir disoproxil fumarate. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2020;7(1):1–9.
- Mallon PWG, Brunet L, Fusco JS, Prajapati G, Beyer A, Fusco GP, et al. Lipid Changes after Switch from TDF to TAF in the OPERA Cohort: LDL Cholesterol and Triglycerides. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2022;9(1):1–8.
- 60. Sax PE, Erlandson KM, Lake JE, McComsey GA, Orkin C, Esser S, et al. Weight gain following initiation of antiretroviral therapy: Risk factors in randomized comparative clinical trials. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;71(6):1379–89.
- 61. Erlandson KM, Carter CC, Melbourne K, Brown TT, Cohen C, Das M, et al. Weight Change Following Antiretroviral Therapy Switch in People With Viral Suppression:

Pooled Data from Randomized Clinical Trials. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73(8):1440–51.

- 62. Martínez-Sanz J, Serrano-Villar S, Muriel A, García Fraile LJ, Orviz E, Mena de Cea Á, et al. Metabolic-Related Outcomes After Switching From Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate to Tenofovir Alafenamide in Adults With Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV): A Multicenter Prospective Cohort Study. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2022;76(3):652–60. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciac621
- 63. Gelpi M, Afzal S, Fuchs A, Lundgren J, Knudsen AD, Drivsholm N, et al. Prior exposure to thymidine analogs and didanosine is associated with long-lasting alterations in adipose tissue distribution and cardiovascular risk factors. Aids. 2019;33(4):675–83.
- 64. Høgh J, Hove-Skovsgaard M, Gelpi M, Jensen AMR, Gerstoft J, Benfield T, et al. Insulin resistance in people living with HIV is associated with exposure to thymidine analogues and/or didanosine and prior immunodeficiency. BMC Infect Dis [Internet]. 2022;22(1). Available from: http://10.0.4.162/s12879-022-07485-1
- Gelpi M, Knudsen AD, Larsen KB, Mocroft A, Lebech A-M, Lindegaard B, et al. Longlasting alterations in adipose tissue density and adiponectin production in people living with HIV after thymidine analogues exposure. BMC Infect Dis [Internet].
 2019;19(1). Available from: http://10.0.4.162/s12879-019-4347-y
- Group TS for M of AT (SMART) S. CD4+ Count–Guided Interruption of Antiretroviral Treatment. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2006 Nov 30 [cited 2018 Oct 3];355(22):2283–96. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMoa062360
- 67. Strategies for Management of Anti-Retroviral Therapy/INSIGHT T, DAD Study Groups the D study. Use of nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors and risk of myocardial infarction in HIV-infected patients. AIDS [Internet]. 2008 Sep 12 [cited 2018 Aug 16];22(14):F17-24. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18753925
- Phillips AN, Carr A, Neuhaus J, Visnegarwala F, Prineas R, Burman WJ, et al. Interruption of antiretroviral therapy and risk of cardiovascular disease in persons with HIV-1 infection: exploratory analyses from the SMART trial. Antivir Ther [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2018 Aug 13];13(2):177–87. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18505169

- Baker J V, Duprez D. Biomarkers and HIV-associated cardiovascular disease. Curr Opin HIV AIDS [Internet]. 2010;5(6):511–6. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/coh.0b013e32833ed7ec
- 70. Brothers CH, Hernandez JE, Cutrell AG, Curtis L, Ait-Khaled M, Bowlin SJ, et al. Risk of Myocardial Infarction and Abacavir Therapy: No Increased Risk Across 52 GlaxoSmithKline-Sponsored Clinical Trials in Adult Subjects [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2018 Aug 17]. Available from: www.jaids.com
- Obel N, Farkas D, Kronborg G, Larsen C, Pedersen G, Riis A, et al. Abacavir and risk of myocardial infarction in HIV-infected patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy: a population-based nationwide cohort study. HIV Med [Internet]. 2010 Feb 1 [cited 2018 Aug 16];11(2):130–6. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1468-1293.2009.00751.x
- 72. Lang S, Mary-Krause M, Cotte L, Gilquin J, Partisani M, Simon A, et al. Impact of Individual Antiretroviral Drugs on the Risk of Myocardial Infarction in Human Immunodeficiency Virus–Infected Patients&It;subtitle>A Case-Control Study Nested Within the French Hospital Database on HIV ANRS Cohort CO4&It;/subtitle>&It;alt-. Arch Intern Med [Internet]. 2010 Jul 26 [cited 2018 Aug 16];170(14):1228. Available from: http://archinte.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/archinternmed.2010.197
- Triant VA, Regan S, Lee H, Sax PE, Meigs JB, Grinspoon SK. Ovid Association of Immunologic and Virologic Factors With Myocardial Infarction Rates in a US Healthcare System. 2010;55(5):585–6.
- 74. Ribaudo HJ, Benson CA, Zheng Y, Koletar SL, Collier AC, Lok JJ, et al. No risk of myocardial infarction associated with initial antiretroviral treatment containing abacavir: short and long-term results from ACTG A5001/ALLRT. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2011 Apr 1 [cited 2018 Aug 16];52(7):929–40. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21427402
- 75. Durand M, Sheehy O, Baril J-GG, Lelorier J, Tremblay CL. Association between HIV infection, antiretroviral therapy, and risk of acute myocardial infarction: A cohort and

nested case-control study using Québec's Public Health Insurance database. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2011 Jul 1 [cited 2018 Aug 13];57(3):245–53. Available from: http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=00126 334-201107010-00011

- 76. Choi AI, Vittinghoff E, Deeks SG, Weekley CC, Li Y, Shlipak MG. Cardiovascular risks associated with abacavir and tenofovir exposure in HIV-infected persons. AIDS [Internet]. 2011 Jun 19 [cited 2018 Aug 20];25(10):1289–98. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21516027
- Brouwer ES, Napravnik S, Eron JJ, Stalzer B, Floris-Moore M, Simpson RJ, et al. Effects of combination antiretroviral therapies on the risk of myocardial infarction among HIV patients. Epidemiology [Internet]. 2014 May [cited 2018 Aug 15];25(3):406–17. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24713880
- 78. Desai M, Joyce V, Bendavid E, Olshen RA, Hlatky M, Chow A, et al. Risk of cardiovascular events associated with current exposure to HIV antiretroviral therapies in a US veteran population. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2015 Aug 1 [cited 2018 Aug 15];61(3):445–52. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25908684
- Young J, Xiao Y, Moodie EEM, Abrahamowicz M, Klein MB, Bernasconi E, et al. The effect of cumulating exposure to abacavir on the risk of cardiovascular disease events in patients from the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet].
 2015 [cited 2018 Aug 20];Epub ahead of print. Available from: http://pag.ias2013.org/Abstracts.aspx?AID=1149.
- Rotger M, Glass TR, Junier T, Lundgren J, Neaton JD, Poloni ES, et al. Contribution of Genetic Background, Traditional Risk Factors, and HIV-Related Factors to Coronary Artery Disease Events in HIV-Positive Persons. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2013 Jul 1 [cited 2019 May 30];57(1):112–21. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/cid/article/57/1/112/280378
- 81. Marcus JL, Neugebauer RS, Leyden WA, Chao CR, Xu L, Quesenberry CP, et al. Use of

Abacavir and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease Among HIV-Infected Individuals. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2016 Apr 1 [cited 2018 Aug 15];71(4):413–9. Available from:

http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=00126 334-201604010-00009

- Bedimo RJ, Westfall AO, Drechsler H, Vidiella G, Tebas P. Abacavir Use and Risk of Acute Myocardial Infarction and Cerebrovascular Events in the Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy Era. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2011 Jul 1 [cited 2018 Aug 16];53(1):84–91. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/cid/articlelookup/doi/10.1093/cid/cir269
- Sabin CA, Reiss P, Ryom L, Phillips AN, Weber R, Law M, et al. Is there continued evidence for an association between abacavir usage and myocardial infarction risk in individuals with HIV? A cohort collaboration. BMC Med [Internet]. 2016 Mar 31 [cited 2018 Aug 15];14(1):61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27036962
- Antoniou T, Gillis J, Loutfy MR, Cooper C, Hogg RS, Klein MB, et al. Impact of the Data Collection on Adverse Events of Anti-HIV Drugs Cohort Study on Abacavir Prescription among Treatment-Naive, HIV-Infected Patients in Canada. J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care [Internet]. 2014 Mar 25 [cited 2018 Aug 15];13(2):153–9. Available from: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/2325957413495565
- 85. Elion RA, Althoff KN, Zhang J, Moore RD, Gange SJ, Kitahata MM, et al. Recent abacavir use increases risk of type 1 and type 2 myocardial infarctions among adults with HIV. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2018 May [cited 2019 May 30];78(1):62–72. Available from: http://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=00126334-201805010-00009
- 86. Islam FM, Wu J, Jansson J, Wilson DP. Relative risk of cardiovascular disease among people living with HIV: A systematic review and meta-analysis. HIV Med [Internet].
 2012 Apr 1 [cited 2018 Aug 15];13(8):453–68. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1468-1293.2012.00996.x

87. Dorjee K, Choden T, Baxi SM, Steinmaus C, Reingold AL. Risk of Cardiovascular Disease Associated With Exposure To Abacavir Among Individuals With HIV: A Systematic Review And Meta-analyses Of Results From Seventeen Epidemiologic Studies. Int J Antimicrob Agents [Internet]. 2018 Nov 1 [cited 2018 Aug 13];52(5):541–53. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0924857918302012?via%3Dihub

- 88. Cruciani M, Zanichelli V, Serpelloni G, Bosco O, Malena M, Mazzi R, et al. Abacavir use and cardiovascular disease events: A meta-analysis of published and unpublished data. AIDS [Internet]. 2011 Oct 23 [cited 2018 Aug 16];25(16):1993–2004. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21716077
- Bing X, Andraca-Carrera E, Cooper C, Miele P, Kornegay C, Soukup M, et al. No association of abacavir use with myocardial infarction: Findings of an FDA meta-analysis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2012 Dec 1 [cited 2018 Aug 15];61(4):441–7. Available from: http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=00126 334-201212010-00005
- Waters L, Dunn D, Fink D, Gupta R, Hivitality AH, Steps P, et al. BHIVA guidelines on antiretroviral treatment for adults living with HIV-1 2022 Writing group members. Br HIV Assoc. 2022;
- 91. Park TE, Mohamed A, Kalabalik J, Sharma R. Review of integrase strand transfer inhibitors for the treatment of human immunodeficiency virus infection. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2015;13(10):1195–212.
- 92. Lake JE, Trevillyan J. Impact of Integrase inhibitors and tenofovir alafenamide on weight gain in people with HIV. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2021;16(3):148–51.
- 93. Eckard AR, Mccomsey GA. Weight gain and integrase inhibitors. Curr Opin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2020;33(1):10–9. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qco.00000000000616
- 94. Bourgi K, Jenkins CA, Rebeiro PF, Shepherd BE, Palella F, Moore RD, et al. Weight gain among treatment-naïve persons with HIV starting integrase inhibitors compared to non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors or protease inhibitors in a large

observational cohort in the United States and Canada. J Int AIDS Soc [Internet]. 2020;23(4). Available from: http://10.0.3.234/jia2.25484

- 95. Kuo P-H, Sun H-Y, Chuang Y-C, Wu P-Y, Liu W-C, Hung C-C. Weight gain and dyslipidemia among virally suppressed HIV-positive patients switching to coformulated elvitegravir/cobicistat/emtricitabine/tenofovir alafenamide. Int J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2020;92:71–7. Available from: http://10.0.3.248/j.ijid.2019.12.029
- 96. Bansi-Matharu L, Phillips A, Oprea C, Grabmeier-Pfistershammer K, Günthard HF, De Wit S, et al. Contemporary antiretrovirals and body-mass index: a prospective study of the RESPOND cohort consortium. Lancet HIV [Internet]. 2021;8(11):e711–22. Available from: http://10.0.3.248/s2352-3018(21)00163-6
- 97. Venter WDF, Moorhouse M, Sokhela S, Fairlie L, Mashabane N, Masenya M, et al.
 Dolutegravir plus Two Different Prodrugs of Tenofovir to Treat HIV. N Engl J Med.
 2019;381(9):803–15.
- 98. McCann K, Shah S, Hindley L, Hill A, Qavi A, Simmons B, et al. Implications of weight gain with newer anti-retrovirals: 10-year predictions of cardiovascular disease and diabetes. Aids. 2021;35(10):1657–65.
- 99. Dolutegravir-Based or Low-Dose Efavirenz–Based Regimen for the Treatment of HIV1. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2019;381(9):816–26. Available from: http://10.0.4.32/nejmoa1904340
- 100. Norwood J, Turner M, Bofill C, Rebeiro P, Shepherd B, Bebawy S, et al. Brief Report: Weight Gain in Persons With HIV Switched From Efavirenz-Based to Integrase Strand Transfer Inhibitor–Based Regimens. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet].
 2017;76(5):527–31. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qai.00000000001525
- 101. Kanters S, Renaud F, Rangaraj A, Zhang K, Limbrick-Oldfield E, Hughes M, et al. Evidence synthesis evaluating body weight gain among people treating HIV with antiretroviral therapy - a systematic literature review and network meta-analysis. eClinicalMedicine. 2022;48:1–12.
- 102. Byonanebye DM, Polizzotto MN, Begovac J, Grabmeier-Pfistershammer K, Abela I, Castagna A, et al. Incidence of dyslipidemia in people with HIV who are treated with

integrase inhibitors versus other antiretroviral agents. Aids. 2021;35(6):869-82.

- 103. Raffi F, Rachlis A, Stellbrink H, Hardy WD, Torti C, Orkin C, et al. Once-daily dolutegravir versus raltegravir in antiretroviral-naive adults with HIV-1 infection : 48 week results from the randomised , double-blind , non-inferiority SPRING-2 study. Lancet [Internet]. 2013;381(9868):735–43. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61853-4
- 104. Lennox JL, Dejesus E, Berger DS, Lazzarin A, Pollard RB, Ramalho Madruga JV, et al. Raltegravir Versus Efavirenz Regimens in Treatment-Naive HIV-1–Infected Patients: 96-Week Efficacy, Durability, Subgroup, Safety, and Metabolic Analyses. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2010;55(1):39–48. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qai.0b013e3181da1287
- 105. Taramasso L, Bonfanti P, Ricci E, Orofino G, Squillace N, Menzaghi B, et al. Factors associated with weight gain in people treated with dolutegravir. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2020;7(6):1–8.
- 106. Bagella P, Squillace N, Ricci E, Gulminetti R, De Socio GV, Taramasso L, et al. Lipid profile improvement in virologically suppressed HIV-1-infected patients switched to dolutegravir/abacavir/lamivudine: data from the SCOLTA project. Infect Drug Resist [Internet]. 2019;Volume 12:1385–91. Available from: http://10.0.8.99/idr.s203813
- 107. Saumoy M, Sanchez-Quesada JL, Ordoñez-Llanos J, Podzamczer D. Do All Integrase Strand Transfer Inhibitors Have the Same Lipid Profile? Review of Randomised Controlled Trials in Naïve and Switch Scenarios in HIV-Infected Patients. J Clin Med [Internet]. 2021;10(16):3456. Available from: http://10.0.13.62/jcm10163456
- 108. Giacomelli A, Conti F, Pezzati L, Oreni L, Ridolfo AL, Morena V, et al. Impact of switching to TAF/FTC/RPV, TAF/FTC/EVG/cobi and ABC/3TC/DTG on cardiovascular risk and lipid profile in people living with HIV: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Infect Dis [Internet]. 2021;21(1). Available from: http://10.0.4.162/s12879-021-06304-3
- 109. Eron JJ, Young B, Cooper DA, Youle M, DeJesus E, Andrade-Villanueva J, et al. Switch

to a raltegravir-based regimen versus continuation of a lopinavir-ritonavir-based regimen in stable HIV-infected patients with suppressed viraemia (SWITCHMRK 1 and 2): two multicentre, double-blind, randomised controlled trials. Lancet [Internet]. 2010;375(9712):396–407. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)62041-9

- Martinez E, Larrousse M, Llibre JM, Gutierrez F, Saumoy M, Antela A, et al.
 Substitution of raltegravir for ritonavir-boosted protease inhibitors in HIV-infected patients: The SPIRAL study. AIDS. 2010;24(11):1697–707.
- Arribas JR, Pialoux G, Gathe J, Di Perri G, Reynes J, Tebas P, et al. Simplification to coformulated elvitegravir, cobicistat, emtricitabine, and tenofovir versus continuation of ritonavir-boosted protease inhibitor with emtricitabine and tenofovir in adults with virologically suppressed HIV (STRATEGY-PI): 48 week results o. Lancet Infect Dis [Internet]. 2014;14(7):581–9. Available from: http://10.0.3.248/s1473-3099(14)70782-0
- 112. Rebeiro PF, Jenkins CA, Bian A, Lake JE, Bourgi K, Moore RD, et al. Risk of Incident Diabetes Mellitus, Weight Gain, and Their Relationships With Integrase Inhibitor– Based Initial Antiretroviral Therapy Among Persons With Human Immunodeficiency Virus in the United States and Canada. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2021;73(7):e2234– 42. Available from: http://10.0.4.69/cid/ciaa1403
- 113. Ursenbach A, Max V, Maurel M, Bani-Sadr F, Gagneux-Brunon A, Garraffo R, et al. Incidence of diabetes in HIV-infected patients treated with first-line integrase strand transfer inhibitors: A French multicentre retrospective study. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2020;75(11):3344–8.
- Summers NA, Lahiri CD, Angert CD, Aldredge A, Mehta CC, Ofotokun I, et al.
 Metabolic Changes Associated With the Use of Integrase Strand Transfer Inhibitors
 Among Virally Controlled Women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2020;85(3):355–62.
- 115. Neesgaard B, Greenberg L, Miró JM, Grabmeier-Pfistershammer K, Wandeler G, Smith C, et al. Associations between integrase strand-transfer inhibitors and cardiovascular disease in people living with HIV: a multicentre prospective study from the RESPOND

cohort consortium. Lancet HIV. 2022;9(7):e474-85.

- 116. Triant VA, Perez J, Regan S, Massaro JM, Meigs JB, Grinspoon SK, et al. Cardiovascular Risk Prediction Functions Underestimate Risk in HIV Infection. Circulation [Internet].
 2018 May 22 [cited 2018 Aug 13];137(21):2203–14. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29444987
- 117. Friis-Møller N, Thiébaut R, Reiss P, Weber R, Monforte ADA, De Wit S, et al. Predicting the risk of cardiovascular disease in HIV-infected patients: The Data collection on Adverse Effects of Anti-HIV Drugs Study. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2010;17(5):491–501.
- van Zoest RA, Law M, Sabin CA, Vaartjes I, van der Valk M, Arends JE, et al. Predictive Performance of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Prediction Algorithms in People Living With HIV. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2019 Aug 15 [cited 2020 Dec 10];81(5):562–71. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/00126334-201908150-00012
- 119. Serrano-Villar S, Estrada V, Gómez-Garre D, Ávila M, Fuentes-Ferrer M, San RJ, et al. Diagnosis of subclinical atherosclerosis in HIV-infected patients: Higher accuracy of the D:A:D risk equation over Framingham and SCORE algorithms. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2014;21(6):739–48.
- 120. Soares C, Kwok M, Boucher K-A, Haji M, Echouffo-Tcheugui JB, Longenecker CT, et al. Performance of Cardiovascular Risk Prediction Models Among People Living With HIV: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Cardiol [Internet]. 2022 Dec 28; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2022.4873
- 121. Shaikh K, Bhondoekhan F, Haberlen S, Nakanishi R, Roy SK, Alla VM, et al. Coronary artery plaque progression and cardiovascular risk scores in men with and without HIV-infection. Aids. 2022;36(2):215–24.
- 122. Ryom L, De Miguel R, Cotter AG, Podlekareva D, Beguelin C, Waalewijn H, et al. Major revision version 11.0 of the European AIDS Clinical Society Guidelines 2021. HIV Med [Internet]. 2022;23(8):849–58. Available from: http://10.0.4.87/hiv.13268
- 123. Hurwitz BE, Klimas NG, Llabre MM, Maher KJ, Skyler JS, Bilsker MS, et al. HIV,

Metabolic Syndrome X, Inflammation, Oxidative Stress, and Coronary Heart Disease Risk : Role of Protease Inhibitor Exposure. Cardiovasc Toxicol [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2018 Aug 30];4(3):303–16. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1385/CT:4:3:303

- 124. Nolan D, Mallal S. Getting to the HAART of insulin resistance. Aids. 2001;15(15):2037–41.
- 125. Murata H, Hruz PW, Mueckler M. The Mechanism of Insulin Resistance Caused by HIV Protease Inhibitor Therapy. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2000;275(27):20251–4. Available from: http://10.0.4.50/jbc.c000228200
- 126. Hresko RC, Hruz PW. HIV Protease Inhibitors Act as Competitive Inhibitors of the Cytoplasmic Glucose Binding Site of GLUTs with Differing Affinities for GLUT1 and GLUT4. PLoS One [Internet]. 2011;6(9):e25237. Available from: http://10.0.5.91/journal.pone.0025237
- 127. Noor MA, Parker RA, O'Mara E, Grasela DM, Currie A, Hodder SL, et al. The effects of HIV protease inhibitors atazanavir and lopinavir/ritonavir on insulin sensitivity in HIV-seronegative healthy adults. Aids. 2004;18(16):2137–44.
- Hertel J, Struthers H, Horj CB, Hruz PW. A Structural Basis for the Acute Effects of HIV Protease Inhibitors on GLUT4 Intrinsic Activity. J Biol Chem [Internet].
 2004;279(53):55147–52. Available from: http://10.0.4.50/jbc.m410826200
- 129. Lv Z, Chu Y, Wang Y. HIV protease inhibitors: A review of molecular selectivity and toxicity. HIV/AIDS Res Palliat Care. 2015;7:95–104.
- Parker RA, Flint OP, Mulvey R, Elosua C, Wang F, Fenderson W, et al. Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Links Dyslipidemia to Inhibition of Proteasome Activity and Glucose Transport by HIV Protease Inhibitors. Mol Pharmacol [Internet]. 2005;67(6):1909–19. Available from: http://10.0.4.100/mol.104.010165
- 131. Caron M, Auclair M, Vigouroux C, Glorian M, Forest C, Capeau J. The HIV Protease Inhibitor Indinavir Impairs Sterol Regulatory Element-Binding Protein-1 Intranuclear Localization, Inhibits Preadipocyte Differentiation, and Induces Insulin Resistance. Diabetes [Internet]. 2001;50(6):1378–88. Available from:

http://10.0.9.33/diabetes.50.6.1378

- 132. Flint OP, Noor MA, Hruz PW, Hylemon PB, Yarasheski K, Kotler DP, et al. The Role of Protease Inhibitors in the Pathogenesis of HIV-Associated Lipodystrophy: Cellular Mechanisms and Clinical Implications. Toxicol Pathol [Internet]. 2009;37(1):65–77. Available from: http://10.0.4.153/0192623308327119
- 133. Kim RJ, Wilson CG, Wabitsch M, Lazar MA, Steppan CM. HIV protease inhibitor-specific alterations in human adipocyte differentiation and metabolism. Obesity [Internet]. 2006 Jun 1 [cited 2019 Jun 6];14(6):994–1002. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1038/oby.2006.114
- 134. Kovsan J, Osnis A, Maissel A, Mazor L, Tarnovscki T, Hollander L, et al. Depot-specific adipocyte cell lines reveal differential drug-induced responses of white adipocytes -Relevance for partial lipodystrophy. Vol. 296, American Journal of Physiology -Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2009.
- Ibrahim MM. Subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue: Structural and functional differences. Obes Rev. 2010;11(1):11–8.
- 136. Kajogoo VD, Gorret Atim M, Amare D, Geleta M, Muchie Y, Tesfahunei HA, et al. HIV Protease Inhibitors and Insulin Sensitivity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Front Pharmacol. 2021;12(November):1–9.
- 137. Akita S, Suzuki K, Yoshimoto H, Ohtsuru A, Hirano A, Yamashita S. Cellular Mechanism Underlying Highly-Active or Antiretroviral Therapy-Induced Lipodystrophy: Atazanavir, a Protease Inhibitor, Compromises Adipogenic Conversion of Adipose-Derived Stem/Progenitor Cells through Accelerating ER Stress-Mediated Cell Death in. Int J Mol Sci [Internet]. 2021;22(4):2114. Available from: http://10.0.13.62/ijms22042114
- 138. Kakuda TN. Pharmacology of nucleoside and nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitor-induced mitochondrial toxicity. Clin Ther. 2000;22(6):685–708.
- 139. Shikuma CM, Hu N, Milne C, Yost F, Waslien C, Shimizu S, et al. Mitochondrial DNA decrease in subcutaneous adipose tissue of HIV-infected individuals with peripheral lipoatrophy. Aids. 2001;15(14):1801–9.
- Suo Z, Johnson KA. Selective Inhibition of HIV-1 Reverse Transcriptase by an Antiviral Inhibitor, (R)-9-(2-Phosphonylmethoxypropyl)adenine. J Biol Chem [Internet].
 1998;273(42):27250–8. Available from: http://10.0.4.50/jbc.273.42.27250
- 141. Venhoff N, Setzer B, Melkaoui K, Walker UA. Mitochondrial Toxicity of Tenofovir, Emtricitabine and Abacavir Alone and in Combination with Additional Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors. Antivir Ther [Internet]. 2007;12(7):1075–86. Available from: http://10.0.4.153/135965350701200704
- Birkus G, Hitchcock MJM, Cihlar T. Assessment of Mitochondrial Toxicity in Human Cells Treated with Tenofovir: Comparison with Other Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors. Antimicrob Agents Chemother [Internet]. 2002;46(3):716– 23. Available from: http://10.0.4.104/aac.46.3.716-723.2002
- Price JC, Seaberg EC, Latanich R, Budoff MJ, Kingsley LA, Palella FJ, et al. Risk Factors for Fatty Liver in the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. Am J Gastroenterol [Internet].
 2014;109(5):695–704. Available from: http://10.0.4.14/ajg.2014.32
- McComsey GA, Daar ES, O'Riordan MA, Collier AC, Kosmiski L, Santana JL, et al.
 Changes in fat mitochondrial DNA and function in subjects randomized to abacavirlamivudine or tenofovir DF-emtricitabine with atazanavir-ritonavir or efavirenz: AIDS Clinical Trials Group study A5224s, substudy of A5202. J Infect Dis. 2013;207(4):604– 11.
- 145. Gorwood J, Bourgeois C, Pourcher V, Pourcher G, Charlotte F, Mantecon M, et al. The Integrase Inhibitors Dolutegravir and Raltegravir Exert Proadipogenic and Profibrotic Effects and Induce Insulin Resistance in Human/Simian Adipose Tissue and Human Adipocytes. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2020;71(10):e549–60. Available from: http://10.0.4.69/cid/ciaa259
- 146. Moure R, Domingo P, Gallego-Escuredo JM, Villarroya J, Gutierrez MDM, Mateo MG, et al. Impact of elvitegravir on human adipocytes: Alterations in differentiation, gene expression and release of adipokines and cytokines. Antiviral Res [Internet]. 2016;132:59–65. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2016.05.013
- 147. Ngono Ayissi K, Gorwood J, Le Pelletier L, Bourgeois C, Beaupère C, Auclair M, et al.

Inhibition of Adipose Tissue Beiging by HIV Integrase Inhibitors, Dolutegravir and Bictegravir, Is Associated with Adipocyte Hypertrophy, Hypoxia, Elevated Fibrosis, and Insulin Resistance in Simian Adipose Tissue and Human Adipocytes. Cells [Internet]. 2022;11(11):1841. Available from: http://10.0.13.62/cells11111841

- 148. Domingo P, Quesada-lópez T, Villarroya J, Gutierrez M, Mateo G, Mur I, et al.
 Differential effects of raltegravir , dolutegravir and bictegravir on human adipocytes.
 2022;308(May):4923533.
- 149. González-Cordón A, Assoumou L, Moyle G, Waters L, Johnson M, Domingo P, et al. Switching from boosted PIs to dolutegravir decreases soluble CD14 and adiponectin in high cardiovascular risk people living with HIV. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2021;76(9):2380–93.
- 150. Ziemke F, Mantzoros CS. Adiponectin in insulin resistance: Lessons from translational research. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;91(1):258–61.
- 151. Domingo P, Villarroya F, Giralt M, Domingo JC. Potential role of the melanocortin signaling system interference in the excess weight gain associated to some antiretroviral drugs in people living with HIV. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2020;44(9):1970–3. Available from: http://10.0.4.14/s41366-020-0551-5
- 152. Mcmahon C, Trevaskis JL, Carter C, Holsapple K, White K, Das M, et al. Lack of an association between clinical INSTI-related body weight gain and direct interference with MC4 receptor (MC4R), a key central regulator of body weight. PLoS One [Internet]. 2020;15(2):e0229617. Available from: http://10.0.5.91/journal.pone.0229617
- 153. Johnson JA, Albu JB, Engelson ES, Fried SK, Inada Y, Ionescu G, et al. Increased systemic and adipose tissue cytokines in patients with HIV-associated lipodystrophy. Am J Physiol - Endocrinol Metab. 2004;286(2 49-2):261–71.
- 154. Freitas P, Carvalho D, Santos AC, Madureira AJ, Martinez E, Pereira J, et al.
 Adipokines, hormones related to body composition, and insulin resistance in HIV fat redistribution syndrome. BMC Infect Dis [Internet]. 2014;14(1):347. Available from: http://10.0.4.162/1471-2334-14-347

- 155. Munier S, Borjabad A, Lemaire M, Mariot V, Hazan U. In vitro infection of human primary adipose cells with HIV-1: A reassessment. Aids. 2003;17(17):2537–9.
- 156. Couturier J, Lewis DE. HIV Persistence in Adipose Tissue Reservoirs. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep [Internet]. 2018;15(1):60–71. Available from: http://10.0.3.239/s11904-018-0378-z
- 157. Damouche A, Lazure T, Avettand-Fènoël V, Huot N, Dejucq-Rainsford N, Satie A-P, et al. Adipose Tissue Is a Neglected Viral Reservoir and an Inflammatory Site during Chronic HIV and SIV Infection. PLOS Pathog [Internet]. 2015;11(9):e1005153. Available from: http://10.0.5.91/journal.ppat.1005153
- 158. Agarwal N, Iyer D, Patel SG, Sekhar R V, Phillips TM, Schubert U, et al. HIV-1 Vpr Induces Adipose Dysfunction in Vivo Through Reciprocal Effects on PPAR/GR Co-Regulation. Sci Transl Med [Internet]. 2013;5(213):213ra164-213ra1. Available from: http://10.0.4.102/scitranslmed.3007148
- Giralt M, Domingo P, Guallar JP, Rodriguez de la Concepción ML, Alegre M, Domingo JC, et al. HIV-1 infection alters gene expression in adipose tissue, which contributes to HIV- 1/HAART-associated lipodystrophy. Antivir Ther. 2006;11(6):729–40.
- 160. Vidal F, Domingo P, Villarroya F, Giralt M, López-Dupla M, Gutiérrez M, et al. Adipogenic/lipid, inflammatory, and mitochondrial parameters in subcutaneous adipose tissue of untreated HIV-1-infected long-term nonprogressors: Significant alterations despite low viral burden. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2012;61(2):131–7.
- 161. Díaz-Delfín J, Domingo P, Wabitsch M, Giralt M, Villarroya F. HIV-1 Tat protein impairs adipogenesis and induces the expression and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines in human SGBS adipocytes. Antivir Ther. 2012;17(3):529–40.
- 162. Ahmadian M, Suh JM, Hah N, Liddle C, Atkins AR, Downes M, et al. Pparγ signaling and metabolism: The good, the bad and the future. Nat Med [Internet].
 2013;19(5):557–66. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nm.3159
- 163. Klöting N, Fasshauer M, Dietrich A, Kovacs P, Schön MR, Kern M, et al. Insulinsensitive obesity. Am J Physiol - Endocrinol Metab. 2010;299(3):506–15.

- 164. Agarwal N, Iyer D, Gabbi C, Saha P, Patel SG, Mo Q, et al. HIV-1 viral protein R (Vpr) induces fatty liver in mice via LXRα and PPARα dysregulation: implications for HIV-specific pathogenesis of NAFLD. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2017 Dec 17 [cited 2018 Oct 26];7(1):13362. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-017-13835-w
- 165. Gorwood J, Ejlalmanesh T, Bourgeois C, Mantecon M, Rose C, Atlan M, et al. SIV Infection and the HIV Proteins Tat and Nef Induce Senescence in Adipose Tissue and Human Adipose Stem Cells, Resulting in Adipocyte Dysfunction. Cells [Internet]. 2020;9(4):854. Available from: http://10.0.13.62/cells9040854
- 166. Gorwood J, Bourgeois C, Mantecon M, Atlan M, Pourcher V, Pourcher G, et al. Impact of HIV/simian immunodeficiency virus infection and viral proteins on adipose tissue fibrosis and adipogenesis. Aids. 2019;33(6):953–64.
- 167. Cheney L, Hou JC, Morrison S, Pessin J, Steigbigel RT. Nef inhibits glucose uptake in adipocytes and contributes to insulin resistance in human immunodeficiency virus type I infection. J Infect Dis. 2011;203(12):1824–31.
- 168. Garrabou G, López S, Morén C, Martínez E, Fontdevila J, Cardellach F, et al.
 Mitochondrial damage in adipose tissue of untreated HIV-infected patients. Aids.
 2011;25(2):165–70.
- 169. Jan V, Cervera P, Maachi M, Baudrimont M, Kim M, Vidal H, et al. Altered fat differentiation and adipocytokine expression are inter-related and linked to morphological changes and insulin resistance in HIV-1-infected lipodystrophic patients. Antivir Ther. 2004 Aug;9(4):555–64.
- Domingo P, Matias-Guiu X, Pujol RM, Francia E, Lagarda E, Sambeat MA, et al. Subcutaneous adipocyte apoptosis in HIV-1 protease inhibitor-associated lipodystrophy. AIDS. 1999 Nov;13(16):2261–7.
- 171. Domingo P, Giralt M, Gavaldà-Navarro A, Blasco-Roset A, Delgado-Anglés A, Gallego-Escuredo JM, et al. Adipose tissue aging partially accounts for fat alterations in HIV lipodystrophy. Adipocyte [Internet]. 2022;11(1):143–52. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/21623945.2022.2042962

- 172. James DE, Stöckli J, Birnbaum MJ. The aetiology and molecular landscape of insulin resistance. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol [Internet]. 2021;22(11):751–71. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41580-021-00390-6
- 173. Cherrington AD, Edgerton D, Sindelar DK. The direct and indirect effects of insulin on hepatic glucose production in vivo. Diabetologia. 1998;41(9):987–96.
- Smith GI, Shankaran M, Yoshino M, Schweitzer GG, Chondronikola M, Beals JW, et al.
 Insulin resistance drives hepatic de novo lipogenesis in nonalcoholic fatty liver
 disease. J Clin Invest. 2020;130(3):1453–60.
- 175. Lewis GF. Disordered Fat Storage and Mobilization in the Pathogenesis of Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes. Vol. 23, Endocrine Reviews. 2002. p. 201–29.
- Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Selective versus Total Insulin Resistance: A Pathogenic Paradox. Cell Metab. 2008;7(2):95–6.
- 177. Stenkula KG, Erlanson-Albertsson C. Adipose cell size: Importance in health and disease. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2018;315(2):R284–95.
- 178. Hammarstedt A, Gogg S, Hedjazifar S, Nerstedt A, Smith U. Impaired adipogenesis and dysfunctional adipose tissue in human hypertrophic obesity. Physiol Rev. 2018;98(4):1911–41.
- 179. Rinella M, Charlton M. The globalization of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease:
 Prevalence and impact on world health. Hepatology [Internet]. 2016;64(1):19–22.
 Available from: http://10.0.3.234/hep.28524
- Younossi ZM, Golabi P, de Avila L, Paik JM, Srishord M, Fukui N, et al. The global epidemiology of NAFLD and NASH in patients with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2019 Oct 1 [cited 2019 Oct 9];71(4):793–801. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168827819303939
- 181. Estes C, Razavi H, Loomba R, Younossi Z, Sanyal AJ. Modeling the epidemic of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease demonstrates an exponential increase in burden of disease. Hepatology. 2018;67(1):123–33.

- 182. Adams LA, Lymp JF, St. Sauver J, Sanderson SO, Lindor KD, Feldstein A, et al. The natural history of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: A population-based cohort study. Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2005 Jul 1 [cited 2019 Oct 9];129(1):113–21. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0016508505006943
- 183. White DL, Kanwal F, El-Serag HB. Association between nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and risk for hepatocellular cancer, based on systematic review. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2012 Dec [cited 2019 Oct 10];10(12):1342-1359.e2. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23041539
- 184. Kanwal F, Kramer JR, Mapakshi S, Natarajan Y, Chayanupatkul M, Richardson PA, et al. Risk of Hepatocellular Cancer in Patients With Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease.
 Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2018 Dec 1 [cited 2019 Oct 10];155(6):1828-1837.e2.
 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30144434
- 185. Donnelly KL, Smith CI, Schwarzenberg SJ, Jessurun J, Boldt MD, Parks EJ. Sources of fatty acids stored in liver and secreted via lipoproteins in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(5):1343–51.
- Jegatheesan P, De Bandt JP. Fructose and NAFLD: The multifaceted aspects of fructose metabolism. Nutrients. 2017;9(3):1–13.
- 187. Abnormalities C, Persons AN. From Five Racial / Ethnic Groups in the United States :2018;166(9):628–36.
- Eslam M, El-Serag HB, Francque S, Sarin SK, Wei L, Bugianesi E, et al. Metabolic (dysfunction)-associated fatty liver disease in individuals of normal weight. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2022;0123456789.
- 189. Ivanova EA, Myasoedova VA, Melnichenko AA, Grechko A V., Orekhov AN. Small Dense Low-Density Lipoprotein as Biomarker for Atherosclerotic Diseases. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2017;2017.
- 190. Palma R, Pronio A, Romeo M, Scognamiglio F, Ventriglia L, Ormando VM, et al. The Role of Insulin Resistance in Fueling NAFLD Pathogenesis: From Molecular Mechanisms to Clinical Implications. J Clin Med. 2022;11(13).

- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest. 2003;112(12):1796–808.
- 192. Liang W, Qi Y, Yi H, Mao C, Meng Q, Wang H, et al. The Roles of Adipose Tissue Macrophages in Human Disease. Front Immunol. 2022;13(June):1–11.
- 193. Henninger AMJ, Eliasson B, Jenndahl LE, Hammarstedt A. Adipocyte hypertrophy, inflammation and fibrosis characterize subcutaneous adipose tissue of healthy, nonobese subjects predisposed to type 2 diabetes. PLoS One. 2014;9(8).
- Meijboom WB, Meijs MFL, Schuijf JD, Cramer MJ, Mollet NR, van Mieghem CAG, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of 64-Slice Computed Tomography Coronary Angiography. A Prospective, Multicenter, Multivendor Study. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet].
 2008;52(25):2135–44. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2008.08.058
- 195. Hsiao EM, Rybicki FJ, Steigner M. CT coronary angiography: 256-slice and 320detector row scanners. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2010;12(1):68–75.
- 196. Castellano IA, Nicol ED, Bull RK, Roobottom CA, Williams MC, Harden SP. A prospective national survey of coronary CT angiography radiation doses in the United Kingdom. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 2017 Jul 1 [cited 2019 Jul 25];11(4):268–73. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1934592517301156
- 197. Kelion AD, Nicol ED. The rationale for the primacy of coronary CT angiography in the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline (CG95) for the investigation of chest pain of recent onset. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet].
 2018 Nov 1 [cited 2018 Nov 28];12(6):516–22. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1934592518302478
- 198. SCOT-HEART Investigators, Newby DE, Adamson PD, Berry C, Boon NA, Dweck MR, et al. Coronary CT Angiography and 5-Year Risk of Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2018 Sep 6 [cited 2019 Feb 6];379(10):924–33. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMoa1805971
- 199. SCOT-HEART Investigators, Newby DE, Adamson PD, Berry C, Boon NA, Dweck MR, et

al. Coronary CT Angiography and 5-Year Risk of Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2018 Sep 6 [cited 2019 Feb 6];379(10):924–33. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMoa1805971

- 200. Libby P, Bornfeldt KE, Tall AR. Atherosclerosis: Successes, Surprises, and Future Challenges. Circulation Research [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2019 Feb 10];118(4):531–4. Available from: http://circres.ahajournals.org
- 201. Demer LL, Watson KE, Boström K. Mechanism of calcification in atherosclerosis [Internet]. Vol. 4, Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine. 1994 [cited 2019 Jan 28]. p. 45– 9. Available from: https://ac.els-cdn.com/1050173894900256/1-s2.0-1050173894900256-main.pdf?_tid=ae679aab-13cd-41c0-a558d6d099fbab80&acdnat=1548693848_9e3c61ab1b70f705b95edff6b3fb28f5
- 202. Johnson RC, Leopold JA, Loscalzo J. Vascular Calcification. Circ Res [Internet]. 2006
 Nov 10 [cited 2019 Jan 28];99(10):1044–59. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/01.RES.0000249379.55535.21
- 203. Agatston AS, Janowitz WR, Hildner FJ, Zusmer NR, Viamonte M, Detrano R.
 Quantification of Coronary Artery Calcium Using Ultrafast Computed Tomography.
 JACC [Internet]. 1990;15(4):827–32. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0735-1097(90)90282-T
- 204. Detrano R, Guerci AD, Carr JJ, Bild DE, Burke G, Folsom AR, et al. Coronary Calcium as a Predictor of Coronary Events in Four Racial or Ethnic Groups. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2008 Mar 27 [cited 2020 Jun 5];358(13):1336–45. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMoa072100
- 205. Raggi P, Gongora MC, Gopal A, Callister TQ, Budoff M, Shaw LJ. Coronary Artery Calcium to Predict All-Cause Mortality in Elderly Men and Women. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2019 Jan 10];52(1):17–23. Available from: https://ac.elscdn.com/S0735109708012850/1-s2.0-S0735109708012850main.pdf?_tid=dd08dc71-d861-4b32-acb7-86a8fc37711c&acdnat=1547121595_fe8e3f9240276d8b207ae2f9c7861fd3
- 206. Budoff MJ, Shaw LJ, Liu ST, Weinstein SR, Mosler TP, Tseng PH, et al. Long-Term

Prognosis Associated With Coronary Calcification. Observations From a Registry of 25,253 Patients. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2019 Jan 10];49(18):1860–70. Available from: www.jaccjc.org

- 207. Hoffmann U, Massaro JM, D'Agostino RB, Kathiresan S, Fox CS, O'Donnell CJ, et al. Cardiovascular Event Prediction and Risk Reclassification by Coronary, Aortic, and Valvular Calcification in the Framingham Heart Study. J Am Heart Assoc [Internet].
 2016 Feb 22 [cited 2019 Jan 9];5(2). Available from: http://jaha.ahajournals.org/content/5/2/e003144/suppl/DC1
- 208. Paixao ARM, Ayers CR, El Sabbagh A, Sanghavi M, Berry JD, Rohatgi A, et al. Coronary Artery Calcium Improves Risk Classification in Younger Populations. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2015 Nov 1 [cited 2019 Jan 9];8(11):1285–93. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1936878X15006658?via%3Dihub
- 209. Yeboah J, Young R, McClelland RL, Delaney JC, Polonsky TS, Dawood FZ, et al. Utility of Nontraditional Risk Markers in Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Risk Assessment. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2016 Jan 19 [cited 2019 Jan 9];67(2):139–47. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26791059
- 210. Kavousi M, Elias-Smale S, Rutten JHW, Leening MJG, Vliegenthart R, Verwoert GC, et al. Evaluation of Newer Risk Markers for Coronary Heart Disease Risk Classification. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2012 Mar 20 [cited 2019 Jan 10];156(6):438. Available from: http://annals.org/article.aspx?doi=10.7326/0003-4819-156-6-201203200-00006
- 211. Polonsky TS, McClelland RL, Jorgensen NW, Bild DE, Burke GL, Guerci AD, et al. Coronary artery calcium score and risk classification for coronary heart disease prediction. JAMA - J Am Med Assoc. 2010;303(16):1610–6.
- 212. Khera A, Budoff MJ, O'Donnell CJ, Ayers CA, Locke J, de Lemos JA, et al. Astronaut Cardiovascular Health and Risk Modification (Astro-CHARM) Coronary Calcium Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Risk Calculator. Circulation [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2019 Jan 9];138(17):1819–27. Available from: www.AstroCHARM.org
- 213. Mcclelland RL, Jorgensen NW, Budoff M, Blaha MJ, Post WS, Kronmal RA, et al. Ten-

Year Coronary Heart Disease Risk Prediction Using Coronary Artery Calcium and Traditional Risk Factors: Derivation in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis with Validation in the Heinz Nixdorf Recall Study and the Dallas Heart Study HHS Public Access. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2019 Jan 10];66(15):1643–53. Available from:

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4603537/pdf/nihms717874.pdf

- 214. Blum CB, Eckel RH, Goldberg AC, Gordon D, Levy D, Lloyd-Jones DM, et al. 2013 ACC/AHA Guideline on the Treatment of Blood Cholesterol to Reduce Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Risk in Adults. Am Hear Assoc Task Force Pract Guidel Circ [Internet].
 2014 [cited 2019 Feb 13];129(2):1–45. Available from: http://circ.ahajournals.org/lookup/suppl/doi:10.1161/01.cir.0000437738.63853.7a/-/DC1.
- 215. Piepoli MF, Hoes AW, Agewall S, Albus C, Brotons C, Catapano AL, et al. 2016 European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. Eur Heart J [Internet]. 2016 Aug 1 [cited 2019 Feb 13];37(29):2315–81. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/eurheartj/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw106
- 216. Dhingra R, Vasan RS. Age as a risk factor. Med Clin North Am [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2019 Feb 6];96(1):87–91. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22391253
- 217. Perk J, De Backer G, Gohlke H, Graham I, Reiner Z, Verschuren M, et al. European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (version 2012): The Fifth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of nine societies and by invited experts) * Developed with the special contribution of the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention & amp; Rehabilitation (EACPR). Eur Heart J [Internet]. 2012 Jul 1 [cited 2019 Jan 10];33(13):1635–701. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/eurheartj/articlelookup/doi/10.1093/eurheartj/ehs092
- 218. Greenland P, Blaha MJ, Budoff MJ, Erbel R, Watson KE. Coronary Calcium Score and Cardiovascular Risk. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2018 Jul 24 [cited 2019 Feb

6];72(4):434–47. Available from:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0735109718349362

- 219. Mortensen MB, Caínzos-Achirica M, Steffensen FH, Bøtker HE, Jensen JM, Sand NPR, et al. Association of Coronary Plaque with Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Levels and Rates of Cardiovascular Disease Events among Symptomatic Adults. JAMA Netw Open. 2022;5(2):1–14.
- 220. Chow D, Young R, Valcour N, Kronmal RA, Lum CJ, Parikh NI, et al. HIV and coronary artery calcium score: comparison of the Hawaii Aging with HIV Cardiovascular Study and Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) cohorts HHS Public Access. HIV Clin Trials. 2015;16(4):130–8.
- 221. Budoff MJ, Mayrhofer T, Ferencik M, Bittner D, Lee KL, Lu MT, et al. Prognostic value of coronary artery calcium in the PROMISE study (Prospective Multicenter Imaging Study for Evaluation of Chest Pain). Circulation [Internet]. 2017 Nov 21 [cited 2019 Jan 7];136(21):1993–2005. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28847895
- 222. Sarwar A, Shaw LJ, Shapiro MD, Blankstein R, Hoffman U, Cury RC, et al. Diagnostic and Prognostic Value of Absence of Coronary Artery Calcification. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2019 Feb 6];2(6):675–88. Available from: https://ac.els-cdn.com/S1936878X09001727/1-s2.0-S1936878X09001727main.pdf?_tid=aff74598-eca9-4d48-838ea042748f6eca&acdnat=1549456320_3561dc266ce03291b1f3f7e5cd4c098e
- 223. Kirsch J, Buitrago I, Mohammed T-LH, Gao T, Asher CR, Novaro GM. Detection of coronary calcium during standard chest computed tomography correlates with multidetector computed tomography coronary artery calcium score. 2012;28(5):1249–56. Available from: http://10.0.3.239/s10554-011-9928-9
- 224. Xie X, Zhao Y, De Bock GH, De Jong PA, Mali WP, Oudkerk M, et al. Validation and Prognosis of Coronary Artery Calcium Scoring in Nontriggered Thoracic Computed Tomography. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2013;6(4):514–21. Available from: http://10.0.4.137/circimaging.113.000092

- 225. Williams MC, Abbas A, Tirr E, Alam S, Nicol E, Shambrook J, et al. Reporting incidental coronary, aortic valve and cardiac calcification on non-gated thoracic computed tomography, a consensus statement from the BSCI/ BSCCT and BSTI. Br J Radiol. 2021;94(1117).
- 226. Tonino PAL, De Bruyne B, Pijls NHJ, Siebert U, Ikeno F, Van `T Veer M, et al. Fractional Flow Reserve versus Angiography for Guiding Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2009;360(3):213–24. Available from: http://10.0.4.32/nejmoa0807611
- 227. Nørgaard BL, Hjort J, Gaur S, Hansson N, Bøtker HE, Leipsic J, et al. Clinical Use of Coronary CTA–Derived FFR for Decision-Making in Stable CAD. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2017 May [cited 2019 Jan 21];10(5):541–50. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1936878X16300407
- 228. Lu MT, Ferencik M, Roberts RS, Lee KL, Ivanov A, Adami E, et al. Noninvasive FFR Derived From Coronary CT Angiography: Management and Outcomes in the PROMISE Trial. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2019 Jan 21];10(11):1350–8. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5632098/pdf/nihms861098.pdf
- 229. Thompson AG, Raju R, Blanke P, Yang T hyun, Mancini GBJ, Budoff MJ, et al. Diagnostic accuracy and discrimination of ischemia by fractional flow reserve CT using a clinical use rule: Results from the Determination of Fractional Flow Reserve by Anatomic Computed Tomographic Angiography study. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2019 Jan 21];9(2):120–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcct.2015.01.008
- 230. Douglas PS, Pontone G, Hlatky MA, Patel MR, Norgaard BL, Byrne RA, et al. Clinical outcomes of fractional flow reserve by computed tomographic angiography-guided diagnostic strategies vs. usual care in patients with suspected coronary artery disease: the prospective longitudinal trial of FFR(CT): outcome and resource impacts study. Eur Heart J [Internet]. 2015 Dec 14 [cited 2019 Jan 22];36(47):3359–67. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26330417

- 231. Lima RSL, Watson DD, Goode AR, Siadaty MS, Ragosta M, Beller GA, et al. Incremental value of combined perfusion and function over perfusion alone by gated SPECT myocardial perfusion imaging for detection of severe three-vessel coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2003;42(1):64–70. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0735-1097(03)00562-X
- 232. Nørgaard BL, Leipsic J, Gaur S, Seneviratne S, Ko BS, Ito H, et al. Diagnostic Performance of Noninvasive Fractional Flow Reserve Derived From Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography in Suspected Coronary Artery Disease The NXT Trial (Analysis of Coronary Blood Flow Using CT Angiography: Next Steps). 2014 [cited 2019 Jan 21]; Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2013.11.043
- 233. Cook CM, Petraco R, Shun-Shin MJ, Ahmad Y, Nijjer S, Al-Lamee R, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of Computed Tomography–Derived Fractional Flow Reserve. JAMA Cardiol [Internet]. 2017 Jul 1 [cited 2019 Jan 22];2(7):803. Available from: http://cardiology.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamacardio.2017.1314
- 234. NICE. HeartFlow FFRCT for estimating fractional flow reserve from coronary CT angiography. Medical technologies guidance 32. [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2019 Jan 21]. Available from: nice.org.uk/guidance/mtg32
- 235. Kitabata H, Leipsic J, Patel MR, Nieman K, De Bruyne B, Rogers C, et al. Incidence and predictors of lesion-specific ischemia by FFR CT : Learnings from the international ADVANCE registry. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 2018 Mar [cited 2019 Jan 21];12(2):95–100. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1934592518300200
- 236. Curzen N, Rana O, Nicholas Z, Golledge P, Zaman A, Oldroyd K, et al. Does routine pressure wire assessment influence management strategy at coronary angiography for diagnosis of chest pain? the ripcord study. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2014;7(2):248– 55.
- 237. Patel MR, Nørgaard BL, Fairbairn TA, Nieman K, Akasaka T, Berman DS, et al. 1-Year Impact on Medical Practice and Clinical Outcomes of FFRCT: The ADVANCE Registry. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2019 Mar 17 [cited 2019 Jul 25]; Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1936878X1930227X

- 238. Motoyama S, Ito H, Sarai M, Kondo T, Kawai H, Nagahara Y, et al. Plaque characterization by coronary computed tomography angiography and the likelihood of acute coronary events in mid-term follow-up. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66(4):337–46.
- 239. Obaid DR, Calvert PA, Brown A, Gopalan D, West NEJ, Rudd JHF, et al. Coronary CT angiography features of ruptured and high-risk atherosclerotic plaques: Correlation with intra-vascular ultrasound. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 2017 Nov [cited 2019 Jul 25];11(6):455–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28918858
- 240. Nakazato R, Otake H, Konishi A, Iwasaki M, Koo B-K, Shinke T, et al. ASSESSMENT OF PLAQUE CHARACTERIZATION ON CORONARY CT ANGIOGRAPHY FOR IDENTIFICATION OF HIGH-RISK CORONARY ARTERY LESIONS: A DIRECT COMPARISON TO OPTICAL COHERENCE TOMOGRAPHY. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2014 Apr 1 [cited 2019 Jul 25];63(12):A1161. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S073510971461161X
- 241. Halon DA, Lavi I, Barnett-Griness O, Rubinshtein R, Zafrir B, Azencot M, et al. Plaque Morphology as Predictor of Late Plaque Events in Patients With Asymptomatic Type 2 Diabetes: A Long-Term Observational Study. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2018 May 16 [cited 2019 Jan 23]; Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1936878X18302997?via%3Dihub
- 242. Mitchell JD, Fergestrom N, Gage BF, Paisley R, Moon P, Novak E, et al. Impact of Statins on Cardiovascular Outcomes Following Coronary Artery Calcium Scoring. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2018 Dec 25 [cited 2019 Feb 6];72(25):3233–42. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30409567
- 243. Perna AF, Castaldo P, Ingrosso D, De Santo NG. Homocysteine, a new cardiovascular risk factor, is also a powerful uremic toxin [Internet]. Vol. 12, Journal of Nephrology. 1999 [cited 2019 Jan 24]. p. 230–40. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcct.2016.04.005

- 244. Al-Mallah MH, Qureshi W, Lin FY, Achenbach S, Berman DS, Budoff MJ, et al. Does coronary CT angiography improve risk stratification over coronary calcium scoring in symptomatic patients with suspected coronary artery disease? Results from the prospective multicenter international CONFIRM registry. Eur Hear J - Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2014 Mar 1 [cited 2019 Jan 24];15(3):267–74. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ehjcimaging/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/ehjci/jet148
- 245. Ayoub C, Erthal F, Abdelsalam MA, Murad MH, Wang Z, Erwin PJ, et al. Prognostic value of segment involvement score compared to other measures of coronary atherosclerosis by computed tomography: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 2017 Jul 1 [cited 2019 Jan 24];11(4):258–67. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1934592517301144

- 246. Min JK, Shaw LJ, Devereux RB, Okin PM, Weinsaft JW, Russo DJ, et al. Prognostic Value of Multidetector Coronary Computed Tomographic Angiography for Prediction of All-Cause Mortality. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2007 Sep 18 [cited 2018 Oct 8];50(12):1161–70. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0735109707020608
- 247. Ahmadi A, Kini A, Narula J. Discordance Between Ischemia and Stenosis, or PINSS and NIPSS: Are We Ready for New Vocabulary? JACC Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2015 Jan 1 [cited 2019 Feb 13];8(1):111–4. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1936878X14009589?via%3Dihub
- 248. Doris MK, Otaki Y, Arnson Y, Tamarappoo B, Goeller M, Gransar H, et al. Non-invasive fractional flow reserve in vessels without severe obstructive stenosis is associated with coronary plaque burden. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 2018;12(5):379–84. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcct.2018.05.003
- 249. Øvrehus KA, Gaur S, Leipsic J, Jensen JM, Dey D, Bøtker HE, et al. CT-based total vessel plaque analyses improves prediction of hemodynamic significance lesions as assessed by fractional flow reserve in patients with stable angina pectoris. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 2018 Jul 1 [cited 2018 Oct 5];12(4):344–9. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1934592518300820

- 250. Hell MM, Motwani M, Otaki Y, Cadet S, Gransar H, Miranda-Peats R, et al. Quantitative global plaque characteristics from coronary computed tomography angiography for the prediction of future cardiac mortality during long-term follow-up. Eur Hear J - Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2017 Dec 1 [cited 2018 Oct 5];18(12):1331–9. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ehjcimaging/article/18/12/1331/4056171
- 251. Yusuf S, Bosch J, Dagenais G, Zhu J, Xavier D, Liu L, et al. Cholesterol Lowering in Intermediate-Risk Persons without Cardiovascular Disease. N Engl J Med [Internet].
 2016;374(21):2021–31. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMoa1600176
- 252. Banach M, Serban C, Sahebkar A, Mikhailidis DP, Ursoniu S, Ray KK, et al. Impact of statin therapy on coronary plaque composition: a systematic review and meta-analysis of virtual histology intravascular ultrasound studies. BMC Med [Internet].
 2015 Sep 18 [cited 2019 Jan 24];13:229. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26385210
- 253. Hou J, Xing L, Jia H, Vergallo R, Soeda T, Minami Y, et al. Comparison of Intensive Versus Moderate Lipid-Lowering Therapy on Fibrous Cap and Atheroma Volume of Coronary Lipid-Rich Plaque Using Serial Optical Coherence Tomography and Intravascular Ultrasound Imaging. Am J Cardiol [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2019 Jan 24];117:800–6. Available from: www.ajconline.orghttp://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.11.062
- 254. Tamarappoo B, Otaki Y, Doris M, Arnson Y, Gransar H, Hayes S, et al. Improvement in LDL is associated with decrease in non-calcified plaque volume on coronary CTA as measured by automated quantitative software. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1 [cited 2018 Dec 12];12(5):385–90. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1934592518300947
- 255. Murray SW, Patel B, Stables RH, Perry RA, Palmer ND. Site-specific intravascular ultrasound analysis of remodelling index and calcified necrosis patterns reveals novel

blueprints for coronary plaque instability. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2014;4(4):287–98.

- 256. Murray SW, Stables RH, Garcia-Garcia HM, Grayson AD, Shaw MA, Perry RA, et al. Construction and validation of a plaque discrimination score from the anatomical and histological differences in coronary atherosclerosis: The Liverpool IVUS-V-HEART (Intra Vascular UltraSound-Virtual-Histology Evaluation of Atherosclerosis Requiring Trea. EuroIntervention. 2014;10(7):815–23.
- 257. Fuhr PhD P, Rooke PhD S. Is it time for a change in cybersecurity? InTech [Internet].
 2017 [cited 2019 Feb 10];64(6):10–5. Available from: http://www.acc.org/jacc-journals-cme
- 258. Talwani R, Falusi OM, Mendes De Leon CF, Nerad JL, Rich S, Proia LA, et al. Electron Beam Computed Tomography for Assessment of Coronary Artery Disease in HIV-Infected Men Receiving Antiretroviral Therapy. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2002;30(2):191–5. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/00042560-200206010-00008
- 259. Robinson FP, Hoff JA, Kondos GT. Coronary artery calcium in HIV-infected men treated with highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Cardiovasc Nurs [Internet]. [cited 2018 Aug 16];20(3):149–54. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15870584
- 260. Kingsley LA, Cuervo-Rojas J, Muñoz A, Palella FJ, Post W, Witt MD, et al. Subclinical coronary atherosclerosis, HIV infection and antiretroviral therapy: Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. AIDS. 2008;22(13):1589–99.
- 261. Guaraldi G, Zona S, Alexopoulos N, Orlando G, Carli F, Ligabue G, et al. Coronary Aging in HIV-Infected Patients.
- 262. Fitch K V, Lo J, Abbara S, Ghoshhajra B, Shturman L, Soni A, et al. Increased coronary artery calcium score and noncalcified plaque among HIV-infected men: relationship to metabolic syndrome and cardiac risk parameters. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2010 Dec [cited 2018 Aug 15];55(4):495–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20720497
- 263. Hulten E, Mitchell J, Scally J, Gibbs B, Villines TC. HIV positivity, protease inhibitor

exposure and subclinical atherosclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Heart [Internet]. 2009 Nov 15 [cited 2018 Aug 16];95(22):1826–35. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19632982

- 264. Raggi P, Zona S, Scaglioni R, Stentarelli C, Ligabue G, Besutti G, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue and coronary artery calcium predict incident myocardial infarction and death in HIV-infected patients. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet].
 2015;9(6):553–8. Available from: http://10.0.3.248/j.jcct.2015.08.002
- 265. Pereira B, Mazzitelli M, Milinkovic A, Moyle G, Ranasinghe S, Mandalia S, et al. Use of Coronary Artery Calcium Scoring to improve cardiovascular risk stratification and guide decisions to start statin therapy in People living with HIV. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2020;Publish Ah:1. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qai.00000000002400
- 266. Metkus TS, Brown T, Budoff M, Kingsley L, Palella FJ, Witt MD, et al. HIV infection is associated with an increased prevalence of coronary noncalcified plaque among participants with a coronary artery calcium score of zero: Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study (MACS). HIV Med [Internet]. 2015 Nov [cited 2018 Aug 15];16(10):635–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25968104
- 267. Grinspoon SK, Fitch K V., Overton ET, Fichtenbaum CJ, Zanni M V., Aberg JA, et al. Rationale and design of the Randomized Trial to Prevent Vascular Events in HIV (REPRIEVE). Am Heart J [Internet]. 2019;212:23–35. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2018.12.016
- 268. Nakazato R, Arsanjani R, Achenbach S, Gransar H, Cheng VY, Dunning A, et al. Agerelated risk of major adverse cardiac event risk and coronary artery disease extent and severity by coronary CT angiography: results from 15 187 patients from the International Multisite CONFIRM Study. Eur Hear J - Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2014;15(5):586–94. Available from: http://10.0.4.69/ehjci/jet132
- 269. Cho I, Al'Aref SJ, Berger A, Ó Hartaigh B, Gransar H, Valenti V, et al. Prognostic value of coronary computed tomographic angiography findings in asymptomatic

individuals: a 6-year follow-up from the prospective multicentre international CONFIRM study. Eur Heart J [Internet]. 2018;39(11):934–41. Available from: http://10.0.4.69/eurheartj/ehx774

- 270. D'Ascenzo F, Cerrato E, Calcagno A, Grossomarra W, Ballocca F, Omedè P, et al. High prevalence at computed coronary tomography of non-calcified plaques in asymptomatic HIV patients treated with HAART: A meta-analysis. Atherosclerosis [Internet]. 2015 May 1 [cited 2018 Aug 15];240(1):197–204. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0021915015001793
- 271. Senoner T, Barbieri F, Adukauskaite A, Sarcletti M, Plank F, Beyer C, et al. Coronary atherosclerosis characteristics in HIV-infected patients on long-term antiretroviral therapy. AIDS [Internet]. 2019;33(12):1853–62. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qad.0000000002297
- 272. Burdo TH, Lo J, Abbara S, Wei J, DeLelys ME, Preffer F, et al. Soluble CD163, a novel marker of activated macrophages, is elevated and associated with noncalcified coronary plaque in HIV-infected patients. J Infect Dis. 2011;
- 273. Pereyra F, Lo J, Triant VA, Wei J, Buzon MJ, Fitch K V., et al. Increased coronary atherosclerosis and immune activation in HIV-1 elite controllers. AIDS [Internet]. 2012
 Nov 28 [cited 2018 Aug 13];26(18):2409–12. Available from: www.hivcontrollers.org
- 274. Tarr PE, Ledergerber B, Calmy A, Doco-Lecompte T, Marzel A, Weber R, et al.
 Subclinical coronary artery disease in Swiss HIV-positive and HIV-negative persons.
 Eur Heart J. 2018;39(23):2147–54.
- 275. Post WS, Budoff M, Kingsley L, Palella FJ, Witt MD, Li X, et al. Associations between HIV infection and subclinical coronary atherosclerosis. Ann Intern Med. 2014;
- 276. Lai H, Moore R, Celentano DD, Gerstenblith G, Treisman G, Keruly JC, et al. HIV Infection Itself May Not Be Associated With Subclinical Coronary Artery Disease Among African Americans Without Cardiovascular Symptoms. J Am Heart Assoc [Internet]. 2016;5(3):e002529. Available from: http://jaha.ahajournals.org/lookup/doi/10.1161/JAHA.115.002529
- 277. Thomas GP, Li X, Post WS, Jacobson LP, Witt MD, Brown TT, et al. Associations

between antiretroviral use and subclinical coronary atherosclerosis. AIDS [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2018 Aug 15];30(16):2477–86. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27490639

- 278. Kovari H, Kovari H, Calmy A, Doco-Lecompte T, Nkoulou R, Marzel A, et al. Clinical Infectious Diseases Antiretroviral Drugs Associated With Subclinical Coronary Artery Disease in the Swiss Human Immunodeficiency Virus Cohort Study. 2019 [cited 2020 Feb 24]; Available from: https://academic.oup.com/cid/articleabstract/70/5/884/5432300
- 279. Wong ND, Budoff MJ, Ferdinand K, Graham IM, Michos ED, Reddy T, et al. Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk assessment: An American Society for Preventive Cardiology clinical practice statement. Am J Prev Cardiol. 2022 Jun;10:100335.
- 280. Silverman MG, Ference BA, Im K, Wiviott SD, Giugliano RP, Grundy SM, et al. Association between lowering LDL-C and cardiovascular risk reduction among different therapeutic interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA - J Am Med Assoc. 2016 Sep 27;316(12):1289–97.
- Baigent C, Keech A, Kearney PM, Blackwell L, Buck G, Pollicino C, et al. Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. Lancet (London, England). 2005 Oct;366(9493):1267–78.
- 282. Montecucco F, Burger F, Pelli G, Poku NK, Berlier C, Steffens S, et al. Statins inhibit Creactive protein-induced chemokine secretion, ICAM-1 upregulation and chemotaxis in adherent human monocytes. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2009 Mar;48(3):233–42.
- 283. Quist-Paulsen P. Statins and inflammation: an update. Curr Opin Cardiol. 2010 Jul;25(4):399–405.
- 284. Koushki K, Shahbaz SK, Mashayekhi K, Sadeghi M, Zayeri ZD, Taba MY, et al. Antiinflammatory Action of Statins in Cardiovascular Disease: the Role of Inflammasome and Toll-Like Receptor Pathways. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2021;60(2):175–99.
- 285. Whelton SP, Deal JA, Zikusoka M, Jacobson LP, Sarkar S, Palella FJJ, et al. Associations

between lipids and subclinical coronary atherosclerosis. AIDS. 2019 May;33(6):1053– 61.

- 286. Holmes M V., Asselbergs FW, Palmer TM, Drenos F, Lanktree MB, Nelson CP, et al. Mendelian randomization of blood lipids for coronary heart disease. Eur Heart J. 2015 Mar 1;36(9):539–50.
- Marotta T, Russo BF, Ferrara LA. Triglyceride-to-HDL-cholesterol Ratio and Metabolic Syndrome as Contributors to Cardiovascular Risk in Overweight Patients. Obesity [Internet]. 2010;18(8):1608–13. Available from: http://10.0.4.14/oby.2009.446
- 288. Lo J, Lu MT, Ihenachor EJ, Wei J, Looby SE, Fitch K V, et al. Effects of statin therapy on coronary artery plaque volume and high-risk plaque morphology in HIV-infected patients with subclinical atherosclerosis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. 2015;2(2):e52–63. Available from: http://10.0.3.248/s2352-3018(14)00032-0
- 289. Lo J, Lu MT, Kim EA, Nou E, Hallett TR, Park J, et al. Statin Effects to Reduce Hepatosteatosis as Measured by Computed Tomography in Patients With Human Immunodeficiency Virus. 2016;3(2):ofw062. Available from: http://10.0.4.69/ofid/ofw062
- 290. Foldyna B, Lo J, Mayrhofer T, Grinspoon SK, Hoffmann U, Lu MT. Individual coronary plaque changes on serial CT angiography: Within-patient heterogeneity, natural history, and statin effects in HIV. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 2020 Aug;14(2):144–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcct.2019.08.011
- 291. Lee S-E, Chang H-J, Sung JM, Park H-B, Heo R, Rizvi A, et al. Effects of Statins on Coronary Atherosclerotic Plaques. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet].
 2018;11(10):1475–84. Available from: http://10.0.3.248/j.jcmg.2018.04.015
- 292. Foldyna B, Fourman LT, Lu MT, Mueller ME, Szilveszter B, Neilan TG, et al. Sex
 Differences in Subclinical Coronary Atherosclerotic Plaque Among Individuals With
 HIV on Antiretroviral Therapy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2018 Aug 1
 [cited 2018 Aug 15];78(4):421–8. Available from:
 http://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=00126334-201808010-00009

- 293. Nasir K, Katz R, Takasu J, Shavelle DM, Detrano R, Lima JA, et al. Ethnic differences between extra-coronary measures on cardiac computed tomography: Multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis (MESA). Atherosclerosis [Internet]. 2008 May [cited 2020 Jul 28];198(1):104–14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17950742/
- 294. Tarr PE, Ledergerber B, Calmy A, Doco-Lecompte T, Schoepf IC, Marzel A, et al. Longitudinal progression of subclinical coronary atherosclerosis in swiss HIV-positive compared with hiv-negative persons undergoing coronary calcium score scan and CT angiography. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2020;7(10).
- 295. Post WS, Haberlen SA, Witt MD, Zhang L, Jacobson LP, Brown TT, et al. Suboptimal HIV suppression is associated with progression of coronary artery stenosis: The Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study (MACS) longitudinal coronary CT angiography study. Atherosclerosis [Internet]. 2022;353(April):33–40. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2022.04.019
- 296. Cervo A, Milic J, Mazzola G, Schepis F, Petta S, Krahn T, et al. Prevalence, Predictors, and Severity of Lean Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Patients Living With Human Immunodeficiency Virus. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2020; Available from: http://10.0.4.69/cid/ciaa430
- 297. Mohammed SS, Aghdassi E, Salit IE, Avand G, Sherman M, Guindi M, et al. HIVpositive patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease have a lower body mass index and are more physically active than HIV-negative patients. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2007;45(4):432–8.
- 298. Chang Y, Ryu S, Sung KC, Cho YK, Sung E, Kim HN, et al. Alcoholic and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and associations with coronary artery calcification: Evidence from the Kangbuk Samsung Health Study. Gut [Internet]. 2019 Sep 1 [cited 2020 Jun 26];68(9):1667–75. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30472683/
- 299. Targher G, Byrne CD, Lonardo A, Zoppini G, Barbui C. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and risk of incident cardiovascular disease: A meta-analysis. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2016 Sep 1 [cited 2019 Oct 10];65(3):589–600. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168827816301994

- 300. Sinn DH, Kang D, Chang Y, Ryu S, Gu S, Kim H, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and progression of coronary artery calcium score: a retrospective cohort study. Gut [Internet]. 2017 Feb 1 [cited 2019 Oct 10];66(2):323–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27599521
- 301. Oni ET, Agatston AS, Blaha MJ, Fialkow J, Cury R, Sposito A, et al. A systematic review: Burden and severity of subclinical cardiovascular disease among those with nonalcoholic fatty liver; Should we care? Atherosclerosis [Internet]. 2013 Oct [cited 2019 Oct 10];230(2):258–67. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0021915013004577
- 302. Wong VW-S, Wong GL-H, Yip GW-K, Lo AO-S, Limquiaco J, Chu WC-W, et al. Coronary artery disease and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Gut [Internet]. 2011 Dec 1 [cited 2019 Oct 10];60(12):1721–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21602530
- 303. Vanwagner LB, Ning H, Lewis CE, Shay CM, Wilkins J, Carr JJ, et al. Associations between Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and Subclinical Atherosclerosis in Middle-Aged Adults: The Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults Study. Atherosclerosis. 2014;235(2):599–605.
- 304. Kapuria D, Takyar VK, Etzion O, Surana P, O'keefe JH, Koh C. Association of Hepatic Steatosis With Subclinical Atherosclerosis: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.
 Hepatol Commun [Internet]. 2018 Aug [cited 2019 Jan 7];2(8):873–83. Available from: https://www.covidence.org/home
- 305. McKimmie RL, Daniel KR, Carr JJ, Bowden DW, Freedman BI, Register TC, et al.
 Hepatic steatosis and subclinical cardiovascular disease in a cohort enriched for type
 2 diabetes: The diabetes heart study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008 Dec;103(12):3029–35.
- 306. Vuille-Lessard É, Lebouché B, Lennox L, Routy J-P, Costiniuk CT, Pexos C, et al.
 Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease diagnosed by transient elastography with controlled attenuation parameter in unselected HIV monoinfected patients. AIDS [Internet].
 2016;30(17):2635–43. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qad.00000000001241
- 307. Maurice JB, Patel A, Scott AJ, Patel K, Thursz M, Lemoine M. Prevalence and risk

factors of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in HIV-monoinfection. AIDS [Internet]. 2017;31(11):1621–32. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qad.00000000001504

- 308. Gaggini M, Morelli M, Buzzigoli E, DeFronzo RA, Bugianesi E, Gastaldelli A. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and its connection with insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease. Nutrients [Internet]. 2013 May 10 [cited 2019 Aug 14];5(5):1544–60. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23666091
- 309. Krahn T, Martel M, Sapir-Pichhadze R, Kronfli N, Falutz J, Guaraldi G, et al. Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and the Development of Metabolic Comorbid Conditions in Patients With Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection. J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2020; Available from: http://10.0.4.69/infdis/jiaa170
- 310. Kaplan A, Simon TG, Henson JB, Wang T, Zheng H, Osganian SA, et al. Relationship between Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and Cardiovascular Disease in Persons with HIV. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2020;Publish Ah. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qai.00000000002359
- Joy T, Keogh HM, Hadigan C, Dolan SE, Fitch K, Liebau J, et al. Relation of Body Composition to Body Mass Index in HIV-Infected Patients With Metabolic Abnormalities. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2008;47(2):174–84. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qai.0b013e31815b0792
- Gabriel CL, Ye F, Fan R, Nair S, Terry JG, Carr JJ, et al. Hepatic Steatosis and Ectopic Fat Are Associated With Differences in Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Gene Expression in People With<scp>HIV</scp>. Hepatol Commun [Internet]. 2021;5(7):1224–37. Available from: http://10.0.3.234/hep4.1695
- 313. Kodama Y, Ng CS, Wu TT, Ayers GD, Curley SA, Abdalla EK, et al. Comparison of CT Methods for Determining the Fat Content of the Liver. Am J Roentgenol [Internet].
 2007;188(5):1307–12. Available from: http://10.0.8.166/ajr.06.0992
- Zeb I, Li D, Nasir K, Katz R, Larijani VN, Budoff MJ. Computed Tomography Scans in the Evaluation of Fatty Liver Disease in a Population Based Study. Acad Radiol [Internet].
 2012;19(7):811–8. Available from: http://10.0.3.248/j.acra.2012.02.022

- 315. Jacobs JE, Birnbaum BA, Shapiro MA, Langlotz CP, Slosman F, Rubesin SE, et al.
 Diagnostic criteria for fatty infiltration of the liver on contrast- enhanced helical CT.
 Am J Roentgenol [Internet]. 1998 [cited 2020 Jul 21];171(3):659–64. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9725292/
- 316. Lake JE, Overton T, Naggie S, Sulkowski M, Loomba R, Kleiner DE, et al. Expert Panel Review on Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Persons With Human Immunodeficiency Virus. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2022;20(2):256–68. Available from: http://10.0.3.248/j.cgh.2020.10.018
- 317. Mancio J, Azevedo D, Saraiva F, Azevedo AI, Pires-Morais G, Leite-Moreira A, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue volume assessed by computed tomography and coronary artery disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2018;19(5):490–7.
- 318. Goeller M, Achenbach S, Marwan M, Doris MK, Cadet S, Commandeur F, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue density and volume are related to subclinical atherosclerosis, inflammation and major adverse cardiac events in asymptomatic subjects. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 2018;12(1):67–73. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcct.2017.11.007
- 319. Ahmadi N, Nabavi V, Yang E, Hajsadeghi F, Lakis M, Flores F, et al. Increased Epicardial, Pericardial, and Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Is Associated with the Presence and Severity of Coronary Artery Calcium. Acad Radiol [Internet].
 2010;17(12):1518–24. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2010.08.017
- 320. Yuan M, Wu H, Li R, Yu L, Zhang J. Epicardial adipose tissue characteristics and CT high-risk plaque features: correlation with coronary thin-cap fibroatheroma determined by intravascular ultrasound. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging [Internet]. 2020;36(11):2281–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10554-020-01917-2
- 321. Oka T, Yamamoto H, Ohashi N, Kitagawa T, Kunita E, Utsunomiya H, et al. Association between epicardial adipose tissue volume and characteristics of non-calcified plaques assessed by coronary computed tomographic angiography. Int J Cardiol [Internet]. 2012;161(1):45–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2011.04.021

- 322. Milanese G, Silva M, Ledda RE, Goldoni M, Nayak S, Bruno L, et al. Validity of epicardial fat volume as biomarker of coronary artery disease in symptomatic individuals: Results from the ALTER-BIO registry. Int J Cardiol [Internet]. 2020;314:20–4. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2020.04.031
- 323. Ayton SL, Gulsin GS, McCann GP, Moss AJ. Epicardial adipose tissue in obesity-related cardiac dysfunction. Heart. 2022;108(5):339–44.
- 324. Commandeur F, Slomka PJ, Goeller M, Chen X, Cadet S, Razipour A, et al. Machine learning to predict the long-term risk of myocardial infarction and cardiac death based on clinical risk, coronary calcium, and epicardial adipose tissue: A prospective study. Cardiovasc Res. 2020;116(14):2216–25.
- 325. Greenstein AS, Khavandi K, Withers SB, Sonoyama K, Clancy O, Jeziorska M, et al. Local inflammation and hypoxia abolish the protective anticontractile properties of perivascular fat in obese patients. Circulation. 2009;119(12):1661–70.
- 326. Sacks HS, Fain JN. Human epicardial adipose tissue: A review. Am Heart J. 2007;153(6):907–17.
- 327. Talman AH, Psaltis PJ, Cameron JD, Meredith IT, Seneviratne SK, Wong DTL. Epicardial adipose tissue: far more than a fat depot. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther [Internet].
 2014;4(6):416–29. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25610800%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih
 .gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC4278038
- 328. Guaraldi G, Scaglioni R, Zona S, Orlando G, Carli F, Ligabue G, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue is an independent marker of cardiovascular risk in HIV-infected patients. AIDS [Internet]. 2011;25(9):1199–205. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qad.0b013e3283474b9f
- 329. Brener M, Ketlogetswe K, Budoff M, Jacobson LP, Li X, Rezaeian P, et al. Epicardial fat is associated with duration of antiretroviral therapy and coronary atherosclerosis. AIDS. 2014 Jul;28(11):1635–44.
- 330. Srinivasa S, Lu MT, Fitch K V, Hallett TR, O'Malley TK, Stone LA, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue volume and cardiovascular risk indices among asymptomatic women

with and without HIV. Antivir Ther. 2018;23(1):1–9.

- 331. Smith CJ, Ryom L, Weber R, Morlat P, Pradier C, Reiss P, et al. Trends in underlying causes of death in people with HIV from 1999 to 2011 (D:A:D): A multicohort collaboration. Lancet [Internet]. 2014 Jul 19 [cited 2020 Oct 16];384(9939):241–8. Available from: http://www.thelancet.com/article/S0140673614606048/fulltext
- 332. Hamaguchi M, Kojima T, Takeda N, Nagata C, Takeda J, Sarui H, et al. Nonalcolholic fatty liver disease is a novel predictor cardiovascular disease. World J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2019 Oct 10];13(10):1579–84. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4146902/
- 333. Zeb I, Li D, Nasir K, Katz R, Larijani VN, Budoff MJ. Computed Tomography Scans in the Evaluation of Fatty Liver Disease in a Population Based Study. The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Acad Radiol. 2012;19(7):811–8.
- 334. Piekarski J, Goldberg HI, Royal SA, Axel L, Moss AA. Difference between liver and spleen CT numbers in the normal adult: its usefulness in predicting the presence of diffuse liver disease. Radiology [Internet]. 1980 Dec [cited 2019 Oct 10];137(3):727–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6934563
- 335. Bydder GM, Chapman RW, Harry D, Bassan L, Sherlock S, Kreel L. Computed tomography attenuation values in fatty liver. J Comput Tomogr [Internet]. 1981 Mar [cited 2019 Oct 10];5(1):33–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7273824
- 336. Kim DY, Park SH, Lee SS, Kim HJ, Kim SY, Kim MY, et al. Contrast-enhanced computed tomography for the diagnosis of fatty liver: Prospective study with same-day biopsy used as the reference standard. Eur Radiol. 2010;20(2):359–66.
- 337. NICE guidelines. Chest pain of recent onset: assessment Chest pain of recent onset: assessment and diagnosis and diagnosis Clinical guideline. 2010;(November 2016).
- 338. Menze BH, Kelm M, Masuch R, Himmelreich U, Bachert P, Petrich W, et al. A comparison of random forest and its Gini importance with standard chemometric methods for the feature selection and classification of spectral data. 2009 [cited 2020 Dec 3]; Available from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2105/10/213

- 339. Crum-Cianflone N, Krause D, Wessman D, Medina S, Stepenosky J, Brandt C, et al. Fatty liver disease is associated with underlying cardiovascular disease in HIV-infected persons*. HIV Med [Internet]. 2011;12(8):463–71. Available from: http://10.0.4.87/j.1468-1293.2010.00904.x
- 340. Guaraldi G, Squillace N, Stentarelli C, Orlando G, D'Amico R, Ligabue G, et al.
 Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in HIV-Infected Patients Referred to a Metabolic
 Clinic: Prevalence, Characteristics, and Predictors. Clin Infect Dis [Internet].
 2008;47(2):250–7. Available from: http://10.0.4.62/589294
- 341. Gabriella O, Giovanni G, Stefano Z, Federica C, Pietro B, Marianna M, et al. Ectopic fat is linked to prior cardiovascular events in men with HIV. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2012;59(5):494–7.
- 342. Morse CG, McLaughlin M, Matthews L, Proschan M, Thomas F, Gharib AM, et al. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and hepatic fibrosis in HIV-1-monoinfected adults with elevated aminotransferase levels on antiretroviral therapy. In: Clinical Infectious Diseases [Internet]. Oxford University Press; 2015 [cited 2020 Oct 16]. p. 1569–78. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25681381/
- 343. Chen Y, Hu Z, Li M, Jia Y, He T, Liu Z, et al. Comparison of Nongated Chest CT and Dedicated Calcium Scoring CT for Coronary Calcium Quantification Using a 256-Dector Row CT Scanner. Acad Radiol [Internet]. 2019 Oct 1 [cited 2021 Mar 11];26(10):e267– 74. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30685312/
- 344. Eisenberg E, McElhinney PA, Commandeur F, Chen X, Cadet S, Goeller M, et al. Deep Learning-Based Quantification of Epicardial Adipose Tissue Volume and Attenuation Predicts Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events in Asymptomatic Subjects. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2020;(February):1–9.
- 345. Le Jemtel TH, Samson R, Ayinapudi K, Singh T, Oparil S. Epicardial Adipose Tissue and Cardiovascular Disease. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2019;21(5).
- 346. Marwan M, Koenig S, Schreiber K, Ammon F, Goeller M, Bittner D, et al. Quantification of epicardial adipose tissue by cardiac CT: Influence of acquisition parameters and contrast enhancement. Eur J Radiol. 2019 Dec 1;121:108732.

- Brener M, Ketlogetswe K, Budoff M, Jacobson LP, Li X, Rezaeian P, et al. Epicardial Fat is Associated with Duration of Antiretroviral Therapy and Coronary Atherosclerosis:
 The Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. AIDS July. 2014;17(2811):1635–44.
- 348. Mahabadi AA, Berg MH, Lehmann N, Kälsch H, Bauer M, Kara K, et al. Association of epicardial fat with cardiovascular risk factors and incident myocardial infarction in the general population: The Heinz Nixdorf recall study. Vol. 61, Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013. p. 1388–95.
- Baba S, Jacene HA, Engles JM, Honda H, Wahl RL. CT Hounsfield units of brown adipose tissue increase with activation: preclinical and clinical studies. J Nucl Med. 2010;51(2):246–50.
- 350. Konishi M, Sugiyama S, Sato Y, Oshima S, Sugamura K, Nozaki T, et al. Pericardial fat inflammation correlates with coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis [Internet].
 2010;213(2):649–55. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2010.10.007
- 351. Liu Z, Wang S, Wang Y, Zhou N, Shu J, Stamm C, et al. Association of epicardial adipose tissue attenuation with coronary atherosclerosis in patients with a high risk of coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis [Internet]. 2019;284(October 2018):230–6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2019.01.033
- 352. Mahabadi AA, Balcer B, Dykun I, Forsting M, Schlosser T, Heusch G, et al. Cardiac computed tomography-derived epicardial fat volume and attenuation independently distinguish patients with and without myocardial infarction. PLoS One. 2017;12(8):1–11.
- 353. Heseltine T, Murray S, Ortega-Martorell S, Olier I, Lip G, Khoo S. Associations of Hepatosteatosis with Cardiovascular Disease in HIV Positive and HIV Negative Patients: The Liverpool HIV-Heart Project. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2021 May 8;Publish Ah.
- 354. Nou E, Lo J, Hadigan C, Grinspoon SK. Pathophysiology and Management of Cardiovascular Disease in HIV-Infected Patients Eric. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017;4(7):598–610.

- 355. Srinivasa S, Fitch K V., Torriani M, Zanni M V., Defilippi C, Christenson R, et al. Relationship of visceral and subcutaneous adipose depots to markers of arterial injury and inflammation among individuals with HIV. Aids. 2019;33(2):229–36.
- 356. Sadouni M, Durand M, Boldeanu I, Danielli C, Bodson-Clermont P, Mansour S, et al. Association of Epicardial Fat with Non-Calcified Coronary Plaque Volume and With Low Attenuation Plaque in People Living with HIV. AIDS. 2021;Publish Ah.
- 357. Gabriella O, Giovanni G, Stefano Z, Federica C, Pietro B, Marianna M, et al. Ectopic fat is linked to prior cardiovascular events in men with HIV. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr.
 2012 Apr 15;59(5):494–7.
- 358. Crum-Cianflone NF, Kathiria N, Shauger S, Love K, Boswell G. The association of epicardial adipose tissue with coronary artery calcification among HIV-infected men.
 AIDS [Internet]. 2012;26(12):1573–6. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qad.0b013e328355cef8
- 359. Abazid RM, Smettei OA, Kattea MO, Sayed S, Saqqah H, Widyan AM, et al. Relation between Epicardial Fat and Subclinical Atherosclerosis in Asymptomatic Individuals. J Thorac Imaging. 2017;32(6):378–82.
- 360. Franssens BT, Nathoe HM, Visseren FLJ, van der Graaf Y, Leiner T, Algra A, et al. Relation of Epicardial Adipose Tissue Radiodensity to Coronary Artery Calcium on Cardiac Computed Tomography in Patients at High Risk for Cardiovascular Disease. Am J Cardiol. 2017;119(9):1359–65.
- 361. Boldeanu I, Sadouni M, Mansour S, Baril JG, Trottier B, Soulez G, et al. Prevalence and characterization of subclinical coronary atherosclerotic plaque with CT among individuals with HIV: Results from the canadian HIV and aging cohort study. Radiology. 2021;299(3):571–80.
- 362. Freiberg MS, Chang CCH, Kuller LH, Skanderson M, Lowy E, Kraemer KL, et al. HIV infection and the risk of acute myocardial infarction. JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173(8):614–22.
- 363. Godfrey C, Bremer A, Alba D, Apovian C, Koethe JR, Koliwad S, et al. Obesity and Fat Metabolism in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Individuals:

Immunopathogenic Mechanisms and Clinical Implications. J Infect Dis. 2019;220(3):420–31.

- 364. Crum-Cianflone N, Dilay A, Collins G, Asher D, Campin R, Medina S, et al. Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Among HIV-Infected Persons. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2009;50(5):464–73. Available from: http://10.0.4.73/qai.0b013e318198a88a
- 365. Erbel R, Mhlenkamp S, Moebus S, Schmermund A, Lehmann N, Stang A, et al. Coronary risk stratification, discrimination, and reclassification improvement based on quantification of Subclinical coronary atherosclerosis: The Heinz Nixdorf Recall study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010 Oct 19;56(17):1397–406.
- 366. Arnett DK, Blumenthal RS, Albert MA, Buroker AB, Goldberger ZD, Hahn EJ, et al. 2019 ACC/AHA Guideline on the Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Vol. 140, Circulation. 2019. 596–646 p.
- 367. Sauerbrei W, Royston P. Building multivariable prognostic and diagnostic models: Transformation of the predictors by using fractional polynomials. J R Stat Soc Ser A Stat Soc. 1999;162(1):71–94.
- Zhang Z. Multivariable fractional polynomial method for regression model. Ann Transl Med. 2016;4(9).
- Rowe AK, Kleinbaum DG, Koplan JP. Practical methods for public health practitioners.
 Am J Prev Med. 2004;26(3):252–3.
- 370. Van Zoest RA, Law M, Sabin CA, Vaartjes I, Van Der Valk M, Arends JE, et al. Predictive Performance of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Prediction Algorithms in People Living With HIV. In: Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2019. p. 562–71.
- Neeland IJ, Ross R, Després JP, Matsuzawa Y, Yamashita S, Shai I, et al. Visceral and ectopic fat, atherosclerosis, and cardiometabolic disease: a position statement. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2019;7(9):715–25.

- 372. Marcus JL, Leyden WA, Alexeeff SE, Anderson AN, Hechter RC, Hu H, et al. Comparison of Overall and Comorbidity-Free Life Expectancy Between Insured Adults With and Without HIV Infection, 2000-2016. JAMA Netw open. 2020;3(6):e207954.
- 373. Van Zoest RA, Law M, Sabin CA, Vaartjes I, Van Der Valk M, Arends JE, et al. Predictive Performance of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Prediction Algorithms in People Living With HIV. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2019;81(5):562–71.
- 374. Rofifah D. Three-year outcomes of the fixed-dose combination bictegravir, emtricitabine, and tenofovir alafenamide vs dolutegravir-containing regimens for initial treatment of HIV-1 infection: week 144 results from two randomised, doubleblind, multicentre, phase 3,. Pap Knowl Towar a Media Hist Doc. 2020;7:12–26.
- 375. Sax PE, Pozniak A, Montes ML, Koenig E, DeJesus E, Stellbrink HJ, et al. Coformulated bictegravir, emtricitabine, and tenofovir alafenamide versus dolutegravir with emtricitabine and tenofovir alafenamide, for initial treatment of HIV-1 infection (GS-US-380–1490): a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 3, non-inferiori. Lancet. 2017;390(10107):2073–82.
- 376. Daar ES, DeJesus E, Ruane P, Crofoot G, Oguchi G, Creticos C, et al. Efficacy and safety of switching to fixed-dose bictegravir, emtricitabine, and tenofovir alafenamide from boosted protease inhibitor-based regimens in virologically suppressed adults with HIV-1: 48 week results of a randomised, open-label, multicentre, ph. Lancet HIV. 2018;5(7):e347–56.
- 377. Stellbrink HJ, Arribas JR, Stephens JL, Albrecht H, Sax PE, Maggiolo F, et al. Coformulated bictegravir, emtricitabine, and tenofovir alafenamide versus dolutegravir with emtricitabine and tenofovir alafenamide for initial treatment of HIV-1 infection: week 96 results from a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 3, non-infer. Lancet HIV. 2019;6(6):e364–72.
- 378. Sax PE, Rockstroh JK, Luetkemeyer AF, Yazdanpanah Y, Ward D, Trottier B, et al. Switching to Bictegravir, Emtricitabine, and Tenofovir Alafenamide in Virologically Suppressed Adults With Human Immunodeficiency Virus. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;73:485–93.

- 379. Squillace N, Ricci E, Menzaghi B, De Socio GV, Passerini S, Martinelli C, et al. The effect of switching from tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (Tdf) to tenofovir alafenamide (taf) on liver enzymes, glucose, and lipid profile. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2020;14:5515–20.
- 380. Plum PE, Maes N, Sauvage AS, Frippiat F, Meuris C, Uurlings F, et al. Impact of switch from tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-based regimens to tenofovir alafenamide-based regimens on lipid profile, weight gain and cardiovascular risk score in people living with HIV. BMC Infect Dis [Internet]. 2021;21(1):4–11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-021-06479-9
- 381. Randell PA, Jackson AG, Zhong L, Yale K, Moyle GJ. The effect of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate on whole-body insulin sensitivity, lipids and adipokines in healthy volunteers. Antivir Ther. 2010;15(2):227–33.
- 382. Rolle C-P, Nguyen V, Patel K, Cruz D, DeJesus E, Hinestrosa F. Real-world efficacy and safety of switching to bictegravir/emtricitabine/tenofovir alafenamide in older people living with HIV. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100(38):e27330.
- 383. Freiberg MS, Chang C-CH, Kuller LH, Skanderson M, Lowy E, Kraemer KL, et al. HIV Infection and the Risk of Acute Myocardial Infarction. JAMA Intern Med [Internet].
 2013 Apr 22 [cited 2019 Mar 20];173(8):614–22. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23459863
- 384. Fontas E, van Leth F, Sabin CA, Friis-Møller N, Rickenbach M, d'Arminio Monforte A, et al. Lipid Profiles in HIV-Infected Patients Receiving Combination Antiretroviral Therapy: Are Different Antiretroviral Drugs Associated with Different Lipid Profiles? J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2004 Mar 15 [cited 2019 Jul 18];189(6):1056–74. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/jid/article-lookup/doi/10.1086/381783
- 385. Behrens G, Dejam A, Schmidt H, Balks H-J, Brabant G, Korner T, et al. Impaired glucose tolerance, beta cell function and lipid metabolism in HIV patients under treatment with protease inhibitors. Aids [Internet]. 1999;13(10):F63–70. Available from:

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/athens/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&

D=ovftd&AN=00002030-199907090-00001

- 386. Eckard AR, McComsey GA. Weight gain and integrase inhibitors. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2020;33(1):10–9.
- 387. Brunet L, Mallon P, Fusco JS, Wohlfeiler MB, Prajapati G, Beyer A, et al. Switch from Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate to Tenofovir Alafenamide in People Living with HIV: Lipid Changes and Statin Underutilization. Clin Drug Investig [Internet].
 2021;(0123456789). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40261-021-01081-y
- 388. Di Biagio A, Riccardi N, Taramasso L, Capetti A, Cenderello G, Signori A, et al. Switch from unboosted protease inhibitor to a single-tablet regimen containing rilpivirine improves cholesterol and triglycerides. Int J Antimicrob Agents [Internet].
 2016;48(5):551–4. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2016.07.009
- 389. Taramasso L, Ricci E, Cascio A, Valsecchi L, Menzaghi B, Squillace N, et al. Positioning of darunavir/cobicistat-containing antiretroviral regimens in real life: Results from a large multicentre observational prospective cohort (SCOLTA). AIDS Res Ther. 2019;16(1):1–8.
- 390. Saumoy M, Sanchez-Quesada JL, Ordoñez-Llanos J, Podzamczer D. Do all integrase strand transfer inhibitors have the same lipid profile? Review of randomised controlled trials in naïve and switch scenarios in HIV-infected patients. J Clin Med. 2021;10(16).
- 391. Kuo PH, Sun HY, Chuang YC, Wu PY, Liu WC, Hung CC. Weight gain and dyslipidemia among virally suppressed HIV-positive patients switching to co-formulated elvitegravir/cobicistat/emtricitabine/tenofovir alafenamide. Int J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2020;92:71–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2019.12.029
- 392. Venter WDF, Sokhela S, Simmons B, Moorhouse M, Fairlie L, Mashabane N, et al. Dolutegravir with emtricitabine and tenofovir alafenamide or tenofovir disoproxil fumarate versus efavirenz, emtricitabine, and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate for initial treatment of HIV-1 infection (ADVANCE): week 96 results from a randomised, phase 3, . lancet HIV. 2020 Oct;7(10):e666–76.

- 393. Thamrongwonglert P, Chetchotisakd P, Anunnatsiri S, Mootsikapun P. Improvement of lipid profiles when switching from efavirenz to rilpivirine in HIV-infected patients with dyslipidemia. HIV Clin Trials [Internet]. 2016;17(1):12–6. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15284336.2015.1112480
- 394. Nelson MR, Elion RA, Cohen CJ, Mills A, Hodder SL, Segal-Maurer S, et al. Rilpivirine versus efavirenz in hiv-1-infected subjects receiving emtricitabine/tenofovir df:
 Pooled 96-week data from ECHO and THRIVE studies. HIV Clin Trials. 2013;14(3):81–91.
- 395. Mills A, Cohen C, Dejesus E, Brinson C, Williams S, Yale K, et al. Efficacy and safety 48 weeks after switching from efavirenz to rilpivirine using emtricitabine/tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-based single-tablet regimens. HIV Clin Trials. 2013;14(5):216–23.
- 396. Bagella P, Squillace N, Ricci E, Gulminetti R, De Socio GV, Taramasso L, et al. Lipid profile improvement in virologically suppressed hiv-1-infected patients switched to dolutegravir/ abacavir/lamivudine: Data from the SCOLTA project. Infect Drug Resist. 2019;12:1385–91.
- 397. Quercia R, Roberts J, Martin-Carpenter L, Zala C. Comparative Changes of Lipid Levels in Treatment-Naive, HIV-1-Infected Adults Treated with Dolutegravir vs. Efavirenz, Raltegravir, and Ritonavir-Boosted Darunavir-Based Regimens Over 48 Weeks. Clin Drug Investig. 2015;35(3):211–9.
- 398. Carter J, Heseltine TD, Meah MN, Tzolos E, Kwiecinski J, Doris M, et al. Hepatosteatosis and Atherosclerotic Plaque at Coronary CT Angiography. Radiol Cardiothorac imaging. 2022 Apr;4(2):e210260.
- Antonopoulos AS, Sanna F, Sabharwal N, Thomas S, Oikonomou EK, Herdman L, et al. Detecting human coronary inflammation by imaging perivascular fat. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(398).
- 400. Oikonomou EK, Marwan M, Desai MY, Mancio J, Alashi A, Hutt Centeno E, et al. Noninvasive detection of coronary inflammation using computed tomography and prediction of residual cardiovascular risk (the CRISP CT study): a post-hoc analysis of prospective outcome data. Lancet [Internet]. 2018;392(10151):929–39. Available

from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31114-0

- 401. Murray SW, McKelvey S, Heseltine TD, Henderson G, Singh J, Unwin D, et al. The "discordant doppelganger dilemma": SGLT2i mimics therapeutic carbohydrate restriction - food choice first over pharma? J Hum Hypertens. 2021;
- 402. Zannad F, Ferreira JP, Pocock SJ, Anker SD, Butler J, Filippatos G, et al. SGLT2 inhibitors in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: a meta-analysis of the EMPEROR-Reduced and DAPA-HF trials. Lancet. 2020;396(10254):819–29.
- 403. Packer M. Differential Pathophysiological Mechanisms in Heart Failure With a Reduced or Preserved Ejection Fraction in Diabetes. JACC Hear Fail [Internet].
 2021;9(8):535–49. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchf.2021.05.019
- 404. Díaz-Rodríguez E, Agra RM, Fernández ÁL, Adrio B, García-Caballero T, González-Juanatey JR, et al. Effects of dapagliflozin on human epicardial adipose tissue: Modulation of insulin resistance, inflammatory chemokine production, and differentiation ability. Cardiovasc Res. 2018;114(2):336–46.
- 405. Sato T, Aizawa Y, Yuasa S, Kishi S, Fuse K, Fujita S, et al. The effect of dapagliflozin treatment on epicardial adipose tissue volume. Cardiovasc Diabetol [Internet].
 2018;17(1):1–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-017-0658-8
- 406. Requena-Ibáñez JA, Santos-Gallego CG, Rodriguez-Cordero A, Vargas-Delgado AP, Mancini D, Sartori S, et al. Mechanistic Insights of Empagliflozin in Nondiabetic Patients With HFrEF: From the EMPA-TROPISM Study. JACC Hear Fail. 2021 Aug 1;9(8):578–89.